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MESSAGE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Rubens V. Amaral Jr.Gonzalo Menéndez Duque

Dear Shareholders: 

In our message for 2014 we highlighted that Bladex’s 
performance in that year represented a new level of 
financial results for the Organization. We are pleased to 
report that the Bank has again achieved significant results 
in 2015, strengthening its franchise and consolidating the 
value proposition to its clients and shareholders. 

A year ago, we indicated that 2015 would be a challenging 
year with higher levels of uncertainty and because of that 
Bladex would focus on operational efficiency, and prudent 
risk management, identifying good business opportunities 
where we would be able to add value to our clients, and to 
generate sustainable results for our shareholders. 

As we look back on 2015’s business environment our view 
of a sluggish economic growth and reduced trade flows did 
indeed materialize in Latin America, as commodity prices 
didn’t rebound and oil prices dropped significantly 
impacting negatively several countries and corporations in 
our Region. 

It is important to underline as well that the year 2015 did 
confirm our notion of contrasting paths of economic growth 
in the Region, where the bigger economies posted small or 
negative growth, while the relatively smaller economies, 
mostly in Central America and parts of The Caribbean, 
continued to exhibit solid economic growth as a consequence 
of their close ties to the United States economy. 

The financial performance in 2015 demonstrates that we 
are on the right path, and not less importantly, it 
underscores the resilience of our business model in more 
difficult times, as was the case in 2015.  Profit for the year 
again surpassed $100 million, representing a Return on 
Average Equity of 11%, in confirmation of the stability of our 
earnings generation capacity.  

We continued the diversification of credit exposures by 
country, reinforcing the structure of our balance sheet as  
we have a more balanced portfolio. The exposure to Brazil, 
for instance, was reduced to 22.7%, while our exposure      
to Central America & Caribbean increased to 31%.
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The total credit disbursements for the year were strong, 
considering the fall of many commodity prices, and relevant, 
with over $12 billion in credits in 2015, which added to 
accumulated credit disbursements over the past 36 years of 
more than $231 billion. 

With that, Bladex met its goals of moderate portfolio growth, 
through greater portfolio diversification and capitalizing on 
the increasingly divergent growth trends in the economies 
in the Region. 

The prudent management of our portfolio resulted in 
reasonable growth in average loan portfolio balances while 
maintaining the credit quality, as we observed a significant 
reduction in risk-weighted assets, strengthening the 
capitalization levels to 16.1% (Tier I Basel III). As net 
revenues continued to grow, the Bank was able to not only 
increase credit allowances, but absorb credit losses as well. 

In terms of products and services, the Bank continued its 
focus on fee income generation by strengthening its 
traditional letters of credit and guarantees business, as well 
as consolidating our syndication and distribution activities. 

It is important to emphasize that fee income once again 
increased in 2015 to the total amount of $22.3 million, 
which demonstrates our ability to perform well in these 
lines of business, at a time when the relevant markets 
experienced a significant reduction in their activity.

As far as funding is concerned, we further strengthened 
and diversified our funding structure, which is completely 
aligned with the most recent, and increasingly conservative 
Basel guidelines – LCR (Liquidity Coverage Ratio) and NSFR 
(Net Stable Funding Ratio). Additionally, drawing on 
Bladex's favorable risk perception in regional and global 
debt markets, the Bank was able to increase the amount of 
deposits and private placements. 

The Bank also managed to extend the tenors of its funding 
through transactions in the syndicated loan markets, and 
placing a very successful a 5-year bond issuance in the 
international capital markets. 

As a result of our diversified efforts in the area of funding, 
the Bank was able to benefit from the ample liquidity 
available in Asian markets as well as in the United States, 
which helped to maintain a healthy funding structure 
without significantly increasing the average cost of funds.

As for Enterprise Risk Management, we continued to make 
progress towards continuous risk monitoring including, 
among other actions, the standardization of the process for 
measuring solvency under Basel III, the comprehensive 
stress testing in accordance to the international practices, 
the early adoption of new models for measuring reserves 
based on IFRS 9, and, last but not least, the strengthening 
of operational risk management by consolidating the 
process of risk self-assessment to improve risk awareness, 
and strengthen the internal controls structure.

The Bank also completed the transition from US-GAAP to the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The 
transition, following a mandate by Panama's local regulator, 
was achieved seamlessly and with the expected limited 
impacts on the Bank's financial statements.
 
The Bank continued improving its efficiency levels, with the 
efficiency ratio moving to 30%, while making further progress 
in the implementation of Lean management principles. 
Although the primary objective is to improve our client 
satisfaction levels, Lean also is producing a favorable impact 
on eliminating internal inefficiencies and reducing operating 
expenses.

All the above helped to enhance and reinforce the Bank’s 
strategy, which continues to be underpinned by the pillars 
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Gonzalo Menéndez Duque Rubens V. Amaral Jr.                                                                                                                                                                 

Chairman of the Board of Directors  Chief Executive Officer

that have supported our growth and performance                 
until now: a) deep knowledge of Latin America, b) our core 
competencies in trade finance, c) our support of cross-border 
investment and regional integration, and d) our effective 
risk measurement and management.

Bladex remains committed to sharing its positive results 
and performance on a permanent basis with its shareholders. 
The payment of the declared annual dividends for 2015, 
reaching $1.54 per share, compared to $1.435 per share in 
2014, underscores the importance assigned by the Board of 
Directors to a dividend payment that offers an attractive 
return to investors. 

As we look ahead to 2016, the outlook indicates that Latin 
America and The Caribbean will continue to face difficult 
times. The current projections point to shrinking GDP in 
Latin America and The Caribbean, albeit at a lower rate 
than in 2015. 

We will continue to observe a contrast in the path of growth 
in the economies in Latin America, as Brazil continues with 
negative growth, Mexico with growth below its potential, 
and the Central America region with growth equal or in 
some cases superior to their growth potential. 

This bodes well for Bladex, as the Bank is well positioned to 
pursue further diversification of its credit exposures, focusing 
on credit quality; its core competency of financing trade 
flows in Latin America; and selectively supporting the 
expansion and regional integration through our syndications 
platform. 

Our Corporate Values: Integrity, Commitment, Respect, 
Humility and Excellence are at the center of everything we 
do. That is why we are committed to the professional and 
personal development of our human capital, and to 
transparency and world class Corporate Governance.   

At the local community level, Bladex supports the education 
of children in the more vulnerable areas in our countries. In 
2015, our foundation “Fundación Crece Latinoamérica” 
developed an active social program benefiting more than 
2,500 children in the communities we are present. This 
important work was successful as we were able to count on 
the enthusiastic and valuable support of Bladex volunteer 
teams, which fills us with pride and satisfaction.  

We remain confident about the prospects for Bladex in 
2016 as the Bank capitalizes on its position as a relevant 
player in the Region with an important role in helping our 
clients diversify and solidify their market presence in a 
changing business environment, providing sustainable 
returns to our shareholders, and last but not least 
continuing to contribute to the development of the 
communities in the different countries in our Region.

On behalf of the Bladex team, 
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BRAND
FRANCHISE

FAVORITA
September 2015

AES DOMINICANA
December 2015

GRUPO FINANCIERO FICOHSA
August 2015

"We are very grateful to 
Bladex and Banco Popular 
Dominicano for underwriting 
and arranging this transaction 
that had the strong support of 
local and regional banks. The 
loan was oversubscribed and 
is clear evidence of the 
resilience of the AES 
Dominicana credit that is the 
leading energy company in 
the Dominican Republic.”

Nicolas van Tienhoven
AES Mexico,

Central America & Caribbean’s

Treasury Director

“We feel honored to have partnered 
up with Bladex and appreciate the 

confidence placed in us by AES 
Dominicana for this transaction. 

Banco Popular has been committed 
to finding innovative ways to 

support corporations that lead to 
sustainable growth and generate 

quality employment in the 
Dominican Republic.”

Edward Baldera
VP of Institutional
and Investment
Banking at Banco
Popular Dominicano

“This transaction further strengthens FMO’s 
strategic relationship with Banco Ficohsa 
as well as our valued partnership with 
Bladex. Through its investments in the 
renewable energy sector as well as in 
SMEs, Banco Ficohsa contributes to 
sustainable economic growth in Honduras, 
which we are proud to support. FMO is 
especially pleased with the progress the 
bank is making on managing 
environmental and social risks. We are 
committed to continue supporting these 
efforts at Banco Ficohsa and in the 
Honduran banking sector in general.”

Nanno Kleiterp
Chief Executive 

Officer of Nederlandse 
Financierings-

Maatschappij Voor 
Ontwikkelingslanden N.V.

“We are honored and thankful for 
the trust FMO and Bladex have 
placed in us and we are proud to 
have secured a credit facility to 
contribute to Honduras´ economic 
development. Banco Ficohsa seeks 
to enhance the commercial 
relationships between Honduras 
and recognized international 
financial institutions, in particular 
for renewable energy projects and 
the growth of small and medium 
enterprises.”

Camilo Atala
Chief Executive Officer

of Grupo Financiero
Ficohsa

"The success of this syndicated loan 
demonstrates the attractiveness of 

Favorita’s business model to a wide 
investor base and reinforces the 

confidence of our traditional financing 
partners which continue believing in our 

Company. This facility will allow us to 
improve our overall financing structure 
and provide a platform to achieve our 

business goals over the medium term.”

Rafael Wong
Favorita’s Chairman

“We are pleased to have chosen Bladex 
to arrange for us this important facility, 
which not only brings value to our 
company, but also to the thousands of 
families that are linked to Favorita. This 
facility allows us to further strengthen 
our diversified business model and to 
focus on increasing market share, by 
offering greater added value to our 
clients.”

Vicente Wong
Favorita’s CEO

For information visit: http://www.bladex.com/en/recent-news

http://www.bladex.com/en/recent-news
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2015 HIGHLIGHTS

INCREASED PROFITS IN A
CHALLENGING MACROECONOMIC

ENVIRONMENT

STRONG ASSET QUALITY

CONTINUED SUPPORT TO
 THE LATAM REGION, ACHIEVING

LOWER COUNTRY AND
INDUSTRY CONCENTRATIONS

SOLID FUNDING STRUCTURE
WITH CONTINUED DIVERSIFICATION

Higher Profit for the Year

of $104 million, +2% YoY

and 11.0% ROAE

(Annual Return on Average Equity)

Improved NII to $145 million

(Net Interest Income), +3% YoY

mainly on 

higher average portfolio balances

Increased Fees 

and Other Income, +2% YoY

with 7 Syndicated/club

deal transactions executed 

and higher fees from 

letters of credits 

and contingencies

Improved Efficiency 

Ratio to 30%

Solid capitalization

of 16.1% Tier 1 Basel III ratio

0.78%* in NPLs
(Non-Performing Loans) to

Gross Loan Portfolio, with an NPL credit 
reserve coverage of 1.8X

and total ratio of total reserves for expected credit losses 

to total Commercial Portfolio of 1.33%

Stable Commercial Portfolio ending 

balances at $7.2 billion
with credit disbursements exceeding 

$12 billion in 2015 and

$231 billion since inception (1979-2015)

Bond issuances in
debt capital markets

> $350 million – 144A/Reg S

> $1 billion – private placements under EMTN

Recurring Syndicated 

funding facilities in Asia 
Increased deposit base from LatAm 

central and commercial banks

*Pre-payments subsequent to close date reduced NPLs to 0.42% of loan portfolio



Source:  
World Economic Outlook Database, October 2015.
World Trade Organization (Short-term trade statistics/Monthly merchandise trade value). Information as of December 2015. 

MACRO-ECONOMIC OVERVIEW

The year 2015 was challenging for the global economy, which experienced heightened volatility resulting from 

expectations of an imminent increase in FED rates, from concerns about China economic growth and from 

persistently high oil production levels in the face of tepid demand.  World GDP growth suffered a deceleration 

compared to 2014, while growth performance differed greatly among individual economies.  The U.S. economy 

experienced moderate growth, as did the Eurozone and Japan.  However, larger economies in emerging markets, 

such as China, Brazil and Russia experienced lower growth, or even outright recession in 2015.

 

The moderation of growth in the Chinese economy continued in 2015, influencing other emerging economies, 

given the significance of Chinese demand in global commodity markets.  The slowdown and rebalancing of the 

Chinese economy, lower commodity prices, and strains in some large emerging market economies continued to 

weigh on global trade flows during 2015, with particular impact in the Region, as external aggregate demand 

for the principal products produced in Latin America and The Caribbean decreased.

The Region saw a contraction in its 2015 average GDP growth rate, mainly impacted by its largest economy, 

Brazil, which contracted by 3.8%.  The Region’s overall exports decreased year-on-year, for the second 

consecutive year, mainly in those economies with a greater dependence on commodities exports.  But there also 

were economies in the Region, such as México, Central America and parts of The Caribbean, and even in South 

America, which managed to grow in this environment, adding to a pattern of alternate growth paths.  

In this challenging macroeconomic environment, the Bank was able to deploy its profound knowledge and well 

diversified presence throughout the Region to achieve:

Moderate average growth of its Commercial Portfolio, 

alongside prudent risk management geared towards 

reducing risk weighted assets.

Diversification and strengthening of the Bank’s funding 

structure through issuances in the debt capital markets 

and loan syndications.

Increased generation of commission and fee income 

from the origination, distribution and syndication of 

high quality credits. 

Greater levels of efficiency and operational excellence.

Stronger capitalization levels.

9
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

In 2015, the Bank completed its transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the 

IASB, in adherence to a mandate for licensed Banks supervised by the Superintendency of Banks of Panama.  

The financial statement for the year ended December 31, 2015 is the first the Bank has prepared in accordance 

with IFRS and IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, and has been applied 

as well for the comparative period data as at and for the year ended December 31, 2014.  In preparing these 

financial statements, the Bank opening statement of financial position was prepared as at January 1, 2014, date 

of transition to IFRS.  In prior periods, the Bank prepared its financial statements in accordance with United 

States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US-GAAP).  For more information refer to Note 2 - Basis of 

preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 3 - Summary of significant accounting policies and 

Note 27 – First Time adoption of IFRS in the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The main changes affecting the Bank’s Financial Statements in the conversion to IFRS from US-GAAP were the 

following:

Basis of Consolidation:  IFRS defines, and focuses on control as the basis for consolidation 

regardless of the form of the investee, with the effect that Bladex’s former investment in the Bladex 

Asset Management Unit did not meet IFRS consolidation criteria. 

Allowance For Credit Losses & Impairment Of Investment Securities: Under IFRS, and with the 

early-adoption of the IFRS 9 standard, the determination of deterioration or improvement in the credit 

quality is based on forward-looking expected credit losses (over a 12-month period or life-time, 

depending on the stage of impairment).  The expected credit loss model is applied to a broader range 

of debt instruments, including bonds.

Hedging Derivatives: Under IFRS, the level of ineffectiveness is determined for each transaction, and 

recorded in the consolidated statement of income. 

Variable Compensation in Stock: Under IFRS, recognition follows an accelerated amortization 

pattern over the vesting period.

Foreign Exchange Gains or Losses and Cumulative Translation Differences: IFRS prescribes 

recognition in the consolidated statement of income.  Upon first-time adoption, IFRS 1 allows a reset 

of cumulative translation differences to zero as at the transition date.



INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS
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Profit for 2015 amounted to $104.0 million, an 

increase of $1.6 million or 2%, compared to $102.4 

million in 2014.  This increase was driven by the 

Bank’s core business activities, with growth in average 

Commercial Portfolio balances and resulting increase 

in net interest income, higher fees and commissions, 

and lower operating expenses, while maintaining 

robust asset quality, partially offset by higher  

impairment loss for expected credit losses on loans 

and investment securities.  These factors were 

complemented by a positive trend in non-core results 

from the Bank’s participation in investment funds 

which contributed $5.0 million for the year 2015 compared 

to $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.        

Net interest income rose by $4.1 million, or 3%, to 

$145.5 million in 2015 from $141.3 million in 2014.  

The year increase was driven by higher average 

balances of the Bank’s interest-earning assets (+5%) 

and higher average Libor rates, which was partially 

offset by higher average balances on the Bank’s 

interest-bearing liabilities (+4%).  Net interest margin 

stood at 1.84% for 2015 compared to 1.88% for 2014 

and funding costs remained at 1.08% compared to 

1.07% in 2014.  

Business Profit

Non-core Profit

Profit for the Year

Net Interest Income Net Interest Margin

2.7

102.4

99.7

5.0

104.0

99.0

Composition of Profit for the Year

Net Interest Income & Margins

2014 2015

141.3 145.5

1.84%1.88%

2014 2015

All information related to the years 2015 and 2014 included in this report, has been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB.  

Non-Core Profit includes includes the net results from the participations of 
the investment funds recorded in the “gain (loss) per financial instrument 
at fair value through profit or loss” line item.  The Feeder Fund is not 
consolidated in the Bank’s financial statements as a result of the 
evaluation of control as per IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” 
according to which the existing rights do not give the Bank ability to direct 
the relevant activities of the fund.  

(In $ million, except percentages)

11
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Fees and other income includes the fee income 

associated with letters of credit and other off-balance 

sheet assets, such as guarantees and credit 

commitments, as well as fee income derived from two 

business streams: loan structuring and syndication, 

and loan intermediation and distribution.  Fees and 

other income amounted to $22.3 million in 2015 

compared to $21.8 million in 2014.  The $0.5 million or 

2% increase resulted from higher fee income from 

letters of credit and contingencies business despite 

lower average portfolio balances, and higher fees from 

loan structuring and syndication activity (with 7 

transactions led and executed during the year), 

partially offset by lower gain on sale of loans at 

amortized cost as a result of lower activity in the loan 

distribution activities in the secondary market.    

The Bank’s operating expenses totaled $51.8 million 

for the year 2015, compared to $53.6 million for the 

year 2014.  The $1.8 million or 3% decrease in 

operating expenses over the year was primarily 

attributable to a reduction in the salaries and other 

employee expenses line item (-$1.1 million), lower  

professional services (-$0.6 million) and depreciation 

expenses mainly in technology applications and 

hardware. 

Letters of credit and contingencies

Loan structuring and distribution fees

Gain on sale of loans

Other Income, net

Fees and Other Income

6.0

2.5
1.8

21.8

11.5

6.9

1.5
1.6

22.3

12.3

2014 2015

$ 
m

ill
io

n

Salaries and other employee expenses
Depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements
Amortization of intangible assets
Professional services
Maintenance and repairs
Other operating expenses

Operating Expenses

1.5
0.9
5.2
1.5

12.8

53.6

31.6

1.4
0.6
4.6
1.6

13.1

51.8

30.4

2014 2015
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The Bank’s activities are operated and executed in two business segments, Commercial and Treasury.  The 

business segment results are determined based on the Bank’s managerial accounting process, which assigns 

consolidated balance sheets, revenue and expense items to each business segment on a systemic basis.  

The Commercial Business Segment encompasses 

the bank’s core business of financial intermediation 

and fee generation activities relating to the 

Commercial Portfolio’s activities. These activities 

include the origination of bilateral and syndicated 

credits, short- and medium-term loans, acceptances 

and contingent credits.  The majority of the Bank’s 

loans are extended in connection with specifically 

identified foreign trade transactions. Through its 

revenue diversification strategy, the bank’s commercial 

segment has introduced a broader range of products, 

services and solutions associated with foreign trade, 

including co-financing arrangements, underwriting of 

syndicated credit facilities, structured trade financing 

(in the form of Factoring and Vendor Financing), and 

financial leasing.  The Commercial Portfolio includes 

the book value of loans, customers’ liabilities under 

acceptances, and contingencies (including confirmed 

and Stand-by Letters of Credit, guarantees covering 

commercial risk, and credit commitments).

BUSINESS SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

Commercial Business Segment

Financial Institutions

Corporations

Middle-market Companies

Commercial Portfolio by Client Type

3,995

543

6,945

2,407

4,059

421

7,134

2,654

2014 2015

(*)  Net other income consist of net other income (expense) excluding impairment loss from expected credit losses.  In the Commercial Business Segment includes net fees and 
commissions, gain on sale of loans at amortized cost, and other income, net.  

(In $ million)    

 2015 2014 YoY ($mm) YoY (%)

Net interest income $127.2 $122.4 $4.7 4%

Net other income (*)  21.5  21.1  0.4 2%

Net operating revenues  148.7  143.5  5.2 4%

Operating expenses  (40.4)  (42.8)  2.3 -5%

Net operating income  108.2  100.7  7.5 7%

Impairment loss from expected credit losses on  

   loans and off-balance sheet financial instruments  (12.8)  (10.6)  (2.2) 21%

Profit for the Year $95.4 $90.1 $5.3 6%

(Average balances, $ million) 
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Trade
56%

Non-Trade
44%

As of December 31, 2015, the Commercial Portfolio 

stood at $7.2 billion, same level as the prior year, as 

the Banks continues to privilege lending margins over 

portfolio growth. Average Commercial Portfolio balances 

for 2015 amounted to $7.1 billion, resulting in a $0.2 

billion or 3% increase year-on-year, compared to an 

average Commercial Portfolio balance of $6.9 billion 

for the year 2014, mainly from higher business 

demand from the Bank’s client base of financial 

institutions (+10%), and corporations (+2%).  The 

Commercial Portfolio continued to be short-term and 

trade-related in nature, with $5.1 billion, or 72% of the 

Commercial Portfolio scheduled to mature within one 

year.  Trade financing operations represented 56% of 

the Commercial Portfolio, while the remaining balance 

consisted primarily of lending to financial institutions 

and corporations involved in foreign trade.

Performance:  The Commercial Business Segment’s Profit reached $95.4 million in 2015, a $5.3 million or 6% 

increase, compared to $90.1 million in 2014, as a result of:  i) $5.2 million or 4% increase in net operating 

revenue mostly from higher average loan portfolio balances (+4%) which resulted in a $4.7 million, or 4% 

increase in net interest income, a $0.4 million or 2% increase in net other income from higher commissions 

from letters of credit and contingencies business and higher fees from loan structuring and syndication 

activities, partially offset by lower gains on sale of loans as a result from decreased loan distribution activity in 

the secondary market, and ii) a $2.3 million, or 5% decrease in operating expenses, partially offset by iii) a $2.2 

million impairment loss from expected credit losses.  

  

The commercial business segment’s asset quality and portfolio risk profile increased temporarily to 0.78% 

(ratio of non-performing loans to total loan portfolio) resulting in reserve coverage of 1.33% (reserve for 

expected credit losses to Commercial Portfolio) as of December 31, 2015, compared to 0.06% and 1.22%, 

respectively as of December 31, 2014. Subsequent prepayments during early 2016 reduced the non-performing 

loans to loan portfolio ratio to 0.42% (0.39% of total Commercial Portfolio), and increased the non-performing 

loans coverage ratio to 3.4 times.   

Commercial Portfolio by 
Trade Indicator

As of Decembre 31, 2015
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The Treasury Business Segment is responsible for the Bank’s funding and liquidity management, along with 

the management of its activities in investment securities, as well as the management of the Bank’s interest rate, 

liquidity, price and currency risks.  The treasury portfolio includes cash and cash equivalents, and financial 

instruments (at fair value, at fair value through OCI, and securities at amortized cost).    

As of December 31, 2015, total treasury business assets amounted to $1.6 billion compared to $1.2 billion as of 

December 31, 2014, an increase of $372 million, or 30%, mainly in cash and cash equivalents.  The portfolio of 

securities at fair value through OCI totaled $142 million compared to $339 million as of December 31, 2014, as 

the Bank continued to reduce its holdings in that category.  The portfolio of securities at amortized cost stood at 

$108 million as of December 31, 2015, compared to $55 million as of December 31, 2014.  Both securities 

portfolio consisted of readily-quoted Latin American securities, 66% of which represented multilateral, sovereign 

or state-owned risk in nature.  Bladex’s participation in the investment funds, reported as securities at fair value, 

amounted to $53 million, representing a share of 47.7%, compared to $58 million and 49.6%, respectively as of 

the end of year 2014. 

Performance:  Treasury Business Segment reported Profit of $8.6 million in 2015, compared to Profit of $12.2 

million in 2014, a $3.7 million or 30% decrease mainly due to a $4.3 million increase in impairment loss from 

expected credit losses on investment securities.  Net operating revenues increased $1.1 million, or 4% to reach 

$25.2 million in 2015, as a result of a $1.7 million, or 32% increase in net other income mainly driven by 

improved performance from the Bank’s participation in investment funds, partially offset by a $0.6 million, or 3%, 

decrease in net interest income from lower average balances of investment securities, while average funding 

costs remained relatively stable at 1.08%.  

(*)  Net other income consist of net other income (expense) excluding impairment loss from for expected credit losses.  In the Treasury Business Segment includes net other income (loss) from derivative financial 
instruments and foreign currency exchange, gain (loss) per financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss, gain (loss) per financial instrument at fair value through Other comprehensive Income (“OCI”), 
and other income, net.   

Treasury Business Segment

(In $ million)    

 2015 2014 YoY ($mm) YoY (%)

Net interest income $18.3  $18.9  ($0.6) -3%

Net other income (*)  6.9   5.2   1.7  32%

Net operating revenues  25.2   24.1   1.1  4%

Operating expenses  (11.4)  (10.9)  (0.5) 5%

Net operating income   13.9   13.3   0.6  4%

Impairment (gain) loss from expected credit 

losses on investment securities  (5.3)  (1.0)  (4.3) 414%

Profit for the Year $8.6  $12.2  ($3.7) -30%
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U.S.A.
96%

The Bank’s total assets amounted to $8.3 billion as of 

December 31, 2015, a $264 million, or 3% increase, 

compared to $8.0 billion as of December 31, 2014. 

Loans at amortized cost, net of unearned income, 

deferred fees and allowance for loan losses stood at 

$6.6 billion representing 80% of total assets, with 

securities at amortized cost (1%), and other financial 

instruments at fair value through OCI (2%), bringing the 

total credit portfolio of the Bank to 89% of total assets as 

the end of 2015.  Remaining assets consisted of cash & 

cash equivalents (16%) and other assets (1%).   

The 2015 loan portfolio had an average remaining 

maturity term of 343 days, of which 70% was 

scheduled to mature within one year.  Trade financing 

operations represented 56% of total loan portfolio, and 

the remaining balance consisted primarily of lending to 

financial institutions and corporations engaged in 

foreign trade.  As of December 31, 2015 the loan 

portfolio represented 94% of the Commercial Portfolio, 

compared to 93% as of December 31, 2014. 

Liquid assets amounted to $1.3 billion as of end 2015 

compared to $0.7 billion as of December 31, 2014, in 

line with the Bank’s long-standing approach to prudent 

and proactive liquidity management, and the 

requirements based on the Basel III Liquidity Coverage 

Ratio (LCR).  Liquidity ensures the Bank’s ability to 

maintain adequate cash flows to fund operations and 

meet obligations and other commitments on a timely 

basis.  The Bank maintains its liquid assets mainly in 

demand deposits, overnight funds and time deposits 

with well-known international banks.  These liquid 

assets are adequate to cover 24-hour deposits from 

customers, which theoretically could be withdrawn on 

the same day.  $1.2 billion, or 96%, of liquid assets were 

deposited at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, 

with the remainder deposited with other highly rated 

financial institutions.  Liquid assets to total assets ratio 

amounted to 15% compared to 9% at the end of 2014, 

while the liquid assets to total deposits ratio was 45% 

and 30%, respectively.    

BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS – ASSETS

Multilateral
3%

Other OECD
1%

Liquidity Placements
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Acceptances and Contingencies

Loan Portfolio (principal amount)

6,686

7,187 7,155

501

6,692

463

Commercial Portfolio

2014 2015

(In $ million)
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BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS - LIABILITIES
The Bank’s principal sources of funds comprise deposits, bilateral and multilateral funding through the Bank´s 

correspondent banking network, and the placements of securities in global debt capital markets, both private 

and public. The Bank complements its core and stable deposit base provided by Latin American central banks 

with medium- and long-term transactions in global debt capital markets, syndications and bilateral facilities 

obtained from international banks.  Debt instruments consist of public and private notes issued under the Bank’s 

Euro Medium-Term Note Program (or “EMTN”), and public local currency bond issuances in Latin America.  The 

EMTN program serves the dual purpose of further enhancing the diversification of the Bank’s short-term funding 

base and providing a competitive source of medium-term funding.  The Bank maintains a well-diversified pool 

of funding sources by geography.  

The Bank obtains deposits principally from central and commercial banks and corporate clients, primarily located 

in the Region.  As of December 31, 2015, the Bank’s deposit balance reached $2.8 billion, an increase of 12% or 

$289 million, compared to $2.5 billion as of December 

31, 2014, mostly from increased deposits from state 

owned corporations (+$222 million), central banks or 

designees – Class A shareholders (+$155 million), and 

state-owned banks (+$33 million).  As of year-end, 

68% of these deposits were held by the central banks 

or designees – Class A shareholders, 14% of deposits 

represented private sector commercial banks and 

financial institutions, 10% from state-owned and private 

corporations, 6% from state-owned banks, and 2% from 

multilateral agencies.   

Total deposits represented 38% of total financial 

liabilities, compared to 35% as of December 31, 2014.

Short-term borrowings are made available to the Bank 

mainly for the financing of trade-related loans.   The 

Bank also utilizes parts of its investment securities 

portfolio as collateral to secure cost-effective funding 

through repurchase agreements (or Repos).  Repos 

are accounted as secured financings in the financial 

statements.  Short-term borrowings and debt, 

including Repos, decreased 15% or $449 million, to 

reach $2.5 billion as of December 31, 2015, compared 

to $2.9 billion as of December 31, 2014.  Medium and 

long-term funding increased $482 million or 34%, to 

$1.9 billion as of December 31, 2015 as the Bank 

increased its long-term funding through capital 

market issuances, loan syndications and bilateral 

finance transactions.  The Bank successfully placed a 

$350 million bond issuance in international markets, 

Funding Sources and Cost of Funds

20152014

2,795

114

1,855

576

802

1,080

7,222

1.08%

2,507

301

2,605

88
638
762

6,900

1.07%

Central Banks
or designees -
Class A
shareholders 
68%

State-owned Banks
6%

Private Banks
14%

Private
Corporations

2%

Multilateral
2%

State-owned Corporations
8%

Deposits by Type of Client
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Long Term Issuances
Long Term Borrowings
Short-term Issuances
Short-term Borrowings
Securites Sold Under Repurchase Agreements
Deposits
Average Cost of Funds ("All in")



Funding Sources by Geographic Market
As of Decembre 31, 2015

USA/Canada
23%

Multilateral
2%

Asia
20%

South America
22%

Central America &
The Caribbean

14%

Europe
15%

Mexico
4%

In 2015, the Bank maintained core business 

profitability and increased efficiency, by leveraging core 

competencies in portfolio risk management and 

mitigation, while maintaining prudent liquidity and 

capital management to bolster its financial strength.

Return on average equity (ROAE) reached 11.0% for 

2015, compared to 11.5% for the year 2014.  Business 

ROAE was 10.4% compared to 11.2% in 2014 on 

higher provision for expected credit losses. 

The 2015 efficiency ratio improved to 30% from 32% for 

the year 2014, while the business efficiency ratio stood 

at 31% for the year 2015 compared to 32% for the year 

2014, as operating revenues increased by 4% and operating expenses decreased by 3%.  The Bank’s operating 

expenses to average assets ratio improved to 66 bps in 2015 from 71 bps in 2014.

The Bank´s Basel III Tier 1 capitalization ratio strengthened to 16.1% as of December 31, 2015, compared to 

15.5% as of December 31, 2014.  The 2015 leverage ratio was 8.5x compared to 8.8x in 2014.  The Bank’ equity 

consists of issued and fully paid ordinary common stock and retained earnings.  

CAPITALIZATION, PROFITABILITY
AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Business Revenues

Business Expenses

Business Efficiency Ratio

Total Efficiency Ratio

(54)
165

(52)
169

Operating Expenses & Efficiency Ratio

2014 2015

(In $ million, except percentage)

32%

32%

30%

31%

Tier 1 (Basel III) Capital Ratio
Leverage (times)

8.8

15.5%

8.5

16.1%

Tier 1 and Leverage Ratio

2014 2015

ROAE
Business ROAE(1)

11.5%

11.2%

11.0%

10.4%

ROAE Evolution

2014 2015

marking the Bank’s second 144A/Reg S transaction 

after its debut in 2012, and extended and increased a 

three-year syndicated loan for a total amount of $175 

million in Asian markets.    

Weighted average funding costs for the year 2015 

stood at 1.08%, compared to 1.07% in 2014.  The Bank 

efficiently managed its overall funding mix by 

increasing tenors, diversifying its funding sources, 

while keeping costs stable.  

 

(1) Business ROAE = Business Profit / Average Stockholders' Equity
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MXLA Index SPX Index BLX US Equity RTY Index
INDU Index IPSA Index MEXBOL Index IBOV Index  

Bladex’s stock price fell 14% in 2015, outperforming 

most indices (e.g. MSCI Latam, IBOV), valued at $25.93 

compared to $30.10 at the end of 2014.  Despite this 

decrease, the liquidity of the stock increased, with the 

daily average number of shares traded reaching 171 

thousand, compared to an average of 138 thousand 

shares in 2014.   

At year-end 2015, the stock traded at 1.0x book value 

per share (P/BV) of $24.94 and 9.7x earnings (ttm) per 

share (P/E), compared to 1.3x book value of $23.49 

(P/BV) and 11.4x (P/E) for the year 2014.   

In 2015, the Bank paid dividends amounting to $1.54 

per share, or $0.385 per share per quarter, compared 

to $1.435 per share in 2014, underlining the Board of 

Directors’ commitment to continue its established 

dividend approach that reflects the Bank’s core 

business growth and development.  The dividend 

payments provided investors with an attractive 

dividend yield of 5.3% in 2015, compared to a 

dividend yield of 4.9% for the year 2014.      

STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE

DIVIDEND PAYMENT

20152014

1.0

9.7

1.3

11.4

Price / Earnings Ratio

Price / Book Value Ratio

Per Share Valuation

32.79

24.20 24.39

BLX Stock Price and Volume Evolution

BLX Performance Compared to Equity Indices
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32.18

23.15

25.93

24.68 24.94

31-Dec-14 31-Mar-15 30-Jun-15 30-Sep-15 31-Dec-15

23.49

30.10

Volume Close Price ($) Book Value ($)

31-Dec-14 31-Mar-15 30-Jun-15 30-Sep-15 31-Dec-15

Dividend per share (USD)
Dividend payout ratio (dividend per share / business earnings per share)

Dividends

1.435 1.54

5.3%
4.9%

56% 61%

2014 2015

Annualized dividend yield (dividend per share / average stock price)

Source:  Bloomberg Finance LP.

Source: New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).

SPX Index - S&P 500 Index
RTY Index - Ruseel 2000 Index
INDU Index - Dow Jones Industrial Average

IPSA Index - Santiago Stock Exchange Index
MEXBOL Index - Mexican Stock Exchange Mexican Bolsa IPC Index
IBOV Index - Ibovespa Brasil Sao Paulo Stock Exchange Index
MXLA Index - MSCI Emerging Markets Latin America Index 
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NOTES
(1) Fees and other income includes: (i) fees and commissions, net, (ii) gain on sale of loans, and (iii) other income, net.
(2) Business Profit refers to Profit for the Year deducting non-core items.
(3) Non-Core Items includes: net results from the participations in the investment funds recorded in the “gain (loss) per financial 
instrument at fair value through profit or loss” line item. The Feeder Fund is not consolidated in the Bank’s financial statements.
(4) Treasury portfolio includes financial instruments at fair value through OCI and at amortized cost.  Excludes the Bank's investments 
in the investment funds. 
(5) Commercial Portfolio includes gross loan portfolio, customers' liabilities under acceptances, and contingencies (including 
confirmed and stand-by letters of credit, guarantees covering commercial risk and credit commitments).

(6) Business ROAE: Annualized Business Profit divided by average stockholders' equity.
(7) Business ROAA: Annualized Business Profit divided by average total assets.
(8) Business Efficiency Ratio refers to consolidated operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues excluding non-core items.
(9) Tier 1 Capital is calculated according to Basel III capital adequacy guidelines, and is equivalent to stockholders' equity excluding certain effects such 
as the OCI effect of the financial instruments at fair value through OCI.  Tier 1 Capital ratio is calculated as a percentage of risk-weighted assets.  
Risk-weighted assets are estimated based on Basel III capital adequacy guidelines.  
(10) Leverage corresponds to assets divided by stockholders' equity.
(11) Liquid assets consist of cash and due from banks and interest-bearing deposits in banks, excluding margin calls and pledged regulatory deposits.   

Consolidated Financial Data - Summary    
Financial Information prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by IASB    

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2015 2014
(In US$ million, except percentages and per share amounts)    

Income Statement Data     
Net interest income    145.5   141.3 
Fees and other income (1)    19.2   17.5 
Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency exchange    (0.0)  0.2 
Gain per financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss    5.7   2.4 
Gain per financial instrument at fair value through OCI    0.4   1.9 
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost and off-balance sheet financial instruments    (12.8)  (10.6)
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on investment securities    (5.3)  (1.0)
Gain on sale of loans at amortized cost    1.5   2.5 
Other income, net    1.6   1.8 
Operating expenses    (51.8)  (53.6)
Profit for the Year    104.0   102.4 
    
Business Profit (2)    99.0   99.7 
Non-Core Profit (3)    5.0   2.7 
    
Selected Balance Sheet Data    
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss    53   58 
Financial instruments at fair value through OCI    142   339 
Securities at amortized cost    108   55 
Loans at amortized cost    6,692   6,686 
Treasury Portfolio (4)    250   394 
Commercial Portfolio (5)    7,155   7,187 
Total assets    8,286   8,022 
    
Deposits    2,795   2,507 
Securities sold under repurchase agreements    114   301 
Short-term borrowings and debt    2,430   2,693 
Long-term borrowings and debt    1,882   1,400 
Total liabilities    7,314   7,111 
Stockholders' equity    972   911 
    
Per Common Share Data    
Basic Earnings per Share ("EPS") (US$)    2.67   2.65 
Book value per common share -period end- (US$)    24.94   23.49 
Common shares outstanding: (in thousand)    
Period weighted average    38,924   38,693 
Period end    38,969   38,777 
    
Performance Ratios    
Return on average stockholders' equity ("ROAE")   11.0% 11.5%
Business ROAE (6)   10.4% 11.2%
Return on average assets ("ROAA")   1.32% 1.35%
Business ROAA (7)   1.25% 1.32%
Net interest margin ("NIM")   1.84% 1.88%
Net interest spread ("NIS")   1.68% 1.72%
Efficiency Ratio   30% 32%
Business Efficiency Ratio (8)   31% 32%
    
Capital, Liquidity & Credit Quality Ratios (In %)    
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets (9)   16.1% 15.5%
Leverage (times) (10)    8.5   8.8 
Liquid assets / Total assets (11)   15.3% 9.2%
Liquid assets / Total deposits (11)   45.3% 29.6%
Stockholders' equity / Total assets   11.7% 11.4%
Non-performing loans to gross loan portfolio   0.78% 0.06%
Write-offs to gross loan portfolio   0.09% 0.00%
Reserve for expected credit losses on loans to gross loan portfolio   1.34% 1.16%
Allowance for expected credit losses on off-balance sheet credit risk to total contingencies   1.17% 1.97%
Total reserve for expected credit losses to non-performing loans (x times)   1.8 21.7
    
Market Information (TICKER SYMBOL: BLX)    
Market capitalization (In US$ billion)    1,010   1,167 
Closing Price   25.93  30.10 
Price / Book Value (times)    1.0   1.3 
Price / EPS (times)    9.7   11.4 
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Bladex was originally established by the central banks of Latin American and The Caribbean countries (or “Latin 

America” or “the Region”), as a multinational organization to increase the US dollar foreign trade financing 

capacity of the Region.  

Since its creation in 1979, the Bank has been serving the Latin American market, meeting trade-related and 

working capital financing needs of banks, as well as medium and large-size corporations engaged in foreign 

trade. Bladex has contributed to the growth of the Region by disbursing accumulated credits totaling $231 billion 

in more than 36 years of operations.   

Bladex’s competitive advantages arise from the regional scale of its business in Latin America, its product and 

market expertise in the trade finance value chain and cross-border transactions within the Region, and its 

efficient and agile, single-point of contact service based on a client-oriented culture, client-specific solutions and 

long-term relationships.    

Latin America Trade Finance Service Provider
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WHO WE ARE

With our long-standing and committed presence in the Latin American 
countries, we have developed a strong platform and remain well 

positioned to capture growth opportunities in the Region



WHERE WE OPERATE

Latin America Regional Presence

The Bank operates in over 23 jurisdictions throughout the Region, providing credit 

facilities to its vast correspondent banking and corporate client network, leveraging its 

in-depth knowledge of local markets and its worldwide network of correspondent banks.    

 

The Bank´s footprint supports the expansion and servicing of its client base across the 

Region through its head office in Panama City (Panama), its agency in New York City 

(U.S.A.), its subsidiaries, and representative offices in Buenos Aires (Argentina), Mexico 

City and Monterrey (Mexico), Sao Paulo (Brazil), Lima (Peru) and Bogota (Colombia).  

The Bank’s clients benefit from a business structure that facilitates transactions within 

Latin America and between Latin America and the rest of the world - whether they are 

buying and/or selling goods and services, or investing in the Region, with a broad array 

of financial solutions customized to their needs.  

New York

Main Office

Representative Offices

Agency

Monterrey

Panama

Bogota

Lima

Sao Paulo

Buenos Aires

Mexico City
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To be recognized as a leading institution in 
supporting trade and regional integration

across Latin America.

INTEGRITY: It is the foundation of our Organization, and is 
based on ethical behavior that reflects honesty and 
transparency. 

COMMITMENT: It is the hallmark of how we work at Bladex, 
focused on meeting our client’s needs and creating value for 
our shareholders. 

EXCELLENCE: Remains our overriding goal. The pursuit of quality 
through creativity and innovation is present in everything we do. 

RESPECT: Guides us in our behavior toward our co-workers, 
clients, shareholders, and the community. 

HUMILITY: Is the bond that gives us strength, allowing us to 
appreciate the contribution of each member of the Organization 
toward the success and achievement of the Institution.

OUR VISION

OUR PURPOSE OUR MISSION

OUR VALUES

To foster growth throughout 
Latin America by focusing on the 
main elements of the trade value 

chain, and on the Region’s
economic integration

To provide financial 
solutions of excellence to financial 

institutions, companies and 
investors doing business in 

Latin America
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OUR BUSINESS VALUE PROPOSITION

We are uniquely positioned as a leading franchise in Latin America, which is truly pan-regional, and that has 

in-depth knowledge of Latin America’s local markets, jurisdictions and industry sectors with exceptional expertise 

in Trade Finance.  

We remain committed to meeting our clients’ needs and the expectations of our shareholders, while staying true 

to our core values, promoting the personal and professional growth of our workforce, and contributing to the 

development of the communities in which we do business.

• In-depth knowledge of 
Latin America's local 
markets, jurisdictions and 
industry sectors

• Investment grade profile 
with strong and unique 
shareholding structure 
involving 23 Latin 
American governments

• Vast correspondent 
banking network 
throughout Latin America 
and other regions of the 
world

• Regional integrator, 
within Latin America and 
with the world's largest 
markets

• Deep knowledge  of 
Trade Finance with more 
than 36 years of 
remarkable success

• Uniquely qualified staff 
with strong product 
expertise in: trade value 
chain, cross-border 
finance, supply-side & 
distribution, both 
intra-regional and 
inter-regional

• World-class standards in 
Corporate Governance, 
focused on Enterprise-Wide 
Risk Management

• Strategically positioned to 
capture growth 
opportunities, and trade 
flow dynamics in our 
support of investments 
and regional integration

• LEAN, client-focused 
efficient organizational 
structure

• Single point of contact

• Client specific solutions

• Long-term relationship

DEEP KNOWLEDGE
OF LATIN AMERICA

CORE COMPETENCY
IN TRADE FINANCE

EFFICIENT
MEASUREMENT

AND MANAGEMENT

SUPPORT OF
INVESTMENTS

AND REGIONAL
INTEGRATION

Bladex seeks to satisfy the needs of its customers and stakeholders 
offering a solid value proposition
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Growth drivers for superior and sustainable returns for our stakeholders:

OUR FINANCIAL BUSINESS MODEL

Our Financial Business Model is based on our proven origination capacity of well-diversified Latin American risk. 

With an adequate risk-return profile, together with solid operational efficiency and capitalization, the Bank aims 

to deliver a consistent return through its ROAE and to its shareholders from its core financial intermediation 

activities, commensurate with its cost of capital. The Bank’s efforts to enhance its asset distribution and trade 

finance services, aim to increase its return target well above the Bank’s cost of capital.   

15%+
ROAE

12%+
ROAE

3%+
ROAE

Investors Other

Prudent  Credit
Risk Management

Cost of Credit
~  1.2% – 1.5%

Continued Focus
on Efficiency

Efficiency Ratio
< 30%

Partners Trade Services

Improved
Financial Margins

NIM ~ 1.8% - 2.0%

Stable Fees from
Use of Capital

~ 15% – 20% of Core
Net Revenues

Financial
Institutions

Syndications &
Structuring

Sustainable 
Moderate Growth

~ 3% to 8%

Solid
Capitalization

A minimum of 13.5%
Tier 1 Basel III Ratio

Distribution:

Core Financial Intermediation
(On-book Portfolio)

Asset Distribution
& Services

Tap Additional
Income Sources

Target Consistent
Core PerformanceActive

Portfolio
Management

Bladex
Origination

Bladex Client
Base Growth

LatAm Trade
Flows Growth

Valued Products
& Services

LatAm GDP
Growth

Leverage Proven
Origination Capacity

Fee-based
Services:

• Sound trade finance origination, leveraging expert regional knowledge and robust risk management
• Vast experience and focus on strategic sectors for regional, intraregional and international trade
• Non-trade financing to support trade finance clients throughout the entire production cycle chain across a wide range of sectors, enhancing cross sell 

opportunities
• Especially dedicated to supporting existing and emerging Multilatina corporations to finance their business activities throughout the Region, in support 

of their business integration strategies boosted by free trade agreements
• Seizing business opportunities to boost fee income with the local, regional and international banks, particularly as a focal partner in conducting 

contingencies business across the Region
• Leveraging our recognized track record and enhance fee generation capacity by expanding our Syndicated & Structured loans platform to provide 

clients with continued access to medium and long term funding as debt capital markets become less competitive
• Expanding the Bank’s active credit portfolio management and asset distribution activities to optimize portfolio exposures and generate additional 

revenues 
• Continued emphasis on Lean principles to drive further efficiency gains
• Reinforcing stable funding and diversification while maintaining effective funding cost management
• Exploring, and bringing to market new products and services that leverage our core trade finance and regional expertise 



27

Financial Institutions

Among top 10 in their
respective markets

Significant corporate banking 
activity/client base

Corporations

US Dollar generation capacity
Growth oriented beyond domestic market

Among top 10 in respective industries
Track Record & Corporate 

Governance

Strategic focus on:

Oil & Gas
(upstream, integrated

and downstream)

Agribusiness

Food Processing

Manufacturing

Well diversified in
other sectors

OUR BUSINESS SEGMENTATION

OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES OFFER

The Bank follows a multi-pronged approach in its business structure by segmenting regions and countries based 

on risk/return profiles relative to the size of respective their economies, and by segmenting its client base by 

industry sectors, relative to their competitive strengths and strategic relevance to the Region. 

Bladex has unrivaled capabilities in delivering products and services across the foreign trade value chain 

throughout a wide range of sectors for its clients and investors operating in Latin America. These strengths stem 

from the Bank’s deep knowledge of the Region and its unique expertise in foreign trade for over 36 years. 

Bladex’s products and services are categorized into three main areas:  i) Financial Intermediation Business, ii) 

Structuring and Syndications Business and iii) Treasury.  

Mexico

Central America & The Caribbean

Brazil

South America:

 Southern Cone(1)

 Andean Region(2)

REGIONS INDUSTRY SECTORS CLIENT BASE

(1) Includes Argentina, Chile, 
 Paraguay and Uruguay
(2) Includes  Bolivia, Colombia, 

Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela

Financial Intermediation Business: 
Trade: Foreign trade products – short and medium term instruments that help drive the cross-border activity 

of corporations. 

Working Capital: Structured Credit and lending facilities for short and medium-term financing of supply 

chain, materials & equipment, and inventories, across a wide range of activity sectors.

Syndication and Structuring Business:
Financial solutions designed to meet clients' needs.  

Provides access to structured funding for a wide base of financial institutions and companies 

in Latin America.

Treasury:
Debt capital market and deposit products for investment and cash flow optimization.   

Treasury services.
For information regarding Bank’s product and services visit: 
http://www.bladex.com/en/trade

http://www.bladex.com/en/trade


The Commercial Division is structured to serve our 

clients along two major areas of activities: i) 

Financial Intermediation and ii) Loan Structuring 

and Distribution business.  This structure allows 

the Bank to position itself to meet the needs of our 

clients, to take advantage of business 

opportunities and to increase market share within 

each market comprising the Latin America Region. 

The Financial Intermediation Business is divided into four sub-regions which are structured geographically to 

comprise integrated clusters of economic markets with their respective dynamic growth characteristics. These 

sub-regions are Mexico, Central America & The Caribbean, Brazil and South America.  

Commercial Portfolio by Industry
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Financial Institutions
Grains and Oilseeds

Sugar
Oil and Gas (Downstream)

Food and Beverage
Metal Manufacturing

Oil and Gas (Integrated)
Airlines

Other Manufacturing Industries
Other Services
Electric Power

Oil and Gas (Upstream)
Coffee

Shipping
Petrochemical

Wholesalers
Mining

Retail Trade
Paper

Plastics and Packaging

39%
7%
7%

6%
5%
5%

4%
4%

3%
3%
3%

2%
2%
2%
2%
2%

1%
1%
1%
1%

OUR BUSINESS STRUCTURE

Commercial Portfolio
Evolution by Region

20152014

Other (3)

Central America & The Caribbean

Andean Region (2)

Southem Cone (1)

Mexico

Brazil

23%
12%
10%

21%

31%

4%

27%

13%
10%

24%

23%

3%

(1) Includes Argentina, Chile, Paraguay and Uruguay.
(2) Includes Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela
(3) Other corresponds to credit esposures in countries outside
 the Latin American Region extended to subsidiaries in
 Latin America with head-office guarantee. 

Non-Trade
44%

Trade
56%

Commercial Portfolio by
Trade Indicator

As of Decembre 31, 2015

Maturities > 1 year
28%

Maturities < 1 year
72%

Commercial Portfolio by
Remaining Term

As of Decembre 31, 2015

Financial Intermediation Business
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Car sales account for 22% of Mexican exports.

Mexico

Mexico represents 12% or $836 million of the total 

Commercial Portfolio compared to 13% or $933 million 

in 2014.  The decrease in Commercial Portfolio balances 

follows a strategic shift towards higher margin, and 

longer-term transactions in both financial institutions 

and corporations segments, maintaining the 

diversification across all industry sectors, and aiming 

to increase the portfolio´s profitability, as Mexico 

continues to attract a significant portion of Latin 

America capital flows.  

  

Mexico provides primarily working capital financing to 

all customer segments and has industry exposure to 

corporations associated with multi-manufacturing 

chain such as: steel and auto parts, complementing 

Bladex exposures in primary market segments in 

other sub-Regions. 

Through its subsidiary BLX Soluciones, S.A. de C.V., 

SOFOM, E.N.R., Bladex offers specialized direct 

financial leasing to its corporate client base.

2015 Highlights:

Non-Trade - Medium-Term
35%

Trade - Medium-Term
9%

Trade - Short-Term
21%

Non-Trade - Short-Term
35%

Type of Transaction
in Mexico

As of Decembre 31, 2015

Industry Exposure in Mexico
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Financial Institutions

Grains and Oilseeds
Sugar

Food and Beverage

Metal Manufacturing

Oil and Gas (Integrated)

Airlines

Other Manufacturing Industries

Other Services(*)

Electric Power

Coffee

Petrochemical

Retail Trade

23%

15%
13%

9%
7%
7%

5%
5%

4%
3%
3%
3%
3%

(*) Term refers to remaining term.
(**) Trade transactions refer to Pure and Trade-related activities.

(*) Includes support activities for construction and Oil and Gas Industry.
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Coffee accounts for 11% of Honduran exports.

Central America & The Caribbean

(*) Includes plastics and packaging, and petrochemical.

Industry Exposure in
Central America & The Caribbean

As of Decembre 31, 2015

Financial Institutions

Sugar

Telecommunications

Metal Manufacturing
Oil and Gas (Downstream)

Airlines

Retail Trade

59%

5%
5%

Wholesalers 4%
4%

Electric Power

Oil and Gas (Integrated) 8%
6%

Food and Beverage 4%

2%
1%
1%

Other(*) 1%

Non-Trade - Medium-Term
15%

Trade - Short-Term
53%

Non-Trade - Short-Term
32%

Type of Transaction in
Central America & The Caribbean

As of Decembre 31, 2015

(*) Term refers to remaining term.
(**) Trade transactions refer to Pure and Trade-related activities.

The Commercial Portfolio in Central America & The 

Caribbean Region increased 36% during the year, 

amounting to $2,200 million compared to $1,619 

million the year before, reflecting growth dynamics in 

countries such as Panama, Guatemala, Dominican 

Republic, Trinidad & Tobago, Honduras and Costa 

Rica which surpassed average growth rates in the 

entire Latin American Region.  The Commercial 

Portfolio in this Region represents 31% of the total 

Commercial Portfolio of the Bank, with 47% of total 

exposures coming from non-trade transactions 

primarily as a result of strong syndication activity.        

  

During 2015, the superior growth dynamics in this 

sub-region led to the successful execution of relevant 

syndicated transactions, which attracted the 

participation of numerous financial institutions from 

inside and outside the Region.  With the proceeds 

from these transactions, Bladex clients are well 

positioned to drive further growth and expansion of 

their business activities.        

2015 Highlights:

HONDURAS
August 2015

Joint Lead Arranger

US$ 60,000,000
A/B Term Loan Facility

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
December 2015

Joint Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

US$ 250,000,000
Bridge Loan Facility

PANAMA
December 2015

Sole Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

Up to US$ 50,000,000
Term Loan Facility

Administrative Agent
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Iron ore and concentrates account for 11.5% of Brazilian exports.

Brazil

Brazil’s Commercial Portfolio represents 23% or $1,623 

million of total Commercial Portfolio outstanding 

compared to 28% or $1,992 million in 2014.  The 

relative weight of this sub-region in the overall Bank 

portfolio mix has been declining for a number of years 

as the Bank continues to pursue greater diversification.  

The absolute reduction in Brazil portfolio balances 

experienced in 2015 was mainly attributable to 

cautious credit exposure management in the face of a 

deteriorating economic environment. Our focus 

continues to be on trade finance transactions involving 

companies with proven competitive advantages, as 

78% of total Commercial Portfolio balances represent 

trade finance exposures, with 46% being short term. 

Industry sector exposures reflect our bias towards 

export-oriented activities, either indirectly through 

financial institutions (28%) or via direct exposures to 

the corporate business segment (72%, diversified 

across industry sectors).    

In 2015, Bladex executed syndicated transaction 

providing access to cross-border funding in favor of a 

major exporter.  

2015 Highlights:

BRAZIL
October 2015

Joint Lead Arranger

US$ 85,000,000
Term Loan Facility

Administrative Agent

Financial Institutions
Grains and Oilseeds

Sugar

Food and Beverage
Metal Manufacturing

Wholesalers

Mining
Other Manufacturing Industries

Paper
Coffee

Petrochemical

28%

24%
14%

7%
7%

5%
5%

4%
3%

2%
1%

Industry Exposure in Brazil
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Non-Trade - Medium-Term
10%

Non-Trade - Short-Term
12%

Trade - Short-Term
46%

Trade - Medium-Term
32%

Type of Transaction in Brazil
As of Decembre 31, 2015

(*) Term refers to remaining term.
(**) Trade transactions refer to Pure and Trade-related activities.
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Argentina is the world's third largest producer of soybeans.

South America Southern Cone

Financial Institutions

Food and Beverage

Oil and Gas (Downstream)

Airlines
24%

18%
14%

5%
4%
4%

2%

Grains and Oilseeds

Oil and Gas (Integrated)
Other Manufacturing Industries

Oil and Gas (Upstream)

29%

Industry Exposure in Southern Cone
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Non-Trade - Medium-Term
17%

Trade - Medium-Term
4%

Non-Trade - Short-Term
47%

Trade - Short-Term
32%

Type of Transaction in Southern Cone
As of Decembre 31, 2015

(*) Term refers to remaining term.
(**) Trade transactions refer to Pure and Trade-related activities.

Commercial Portfolio balances for the South America 

Region amounted to $2.2 billion, representing 31% of 

the total Commercial Portfolio, a slight decrease versus 

the prior year as economic growth was fairly subdued 

in the majority of the countries comprising the Region.  

Activities across this Region are coordinated through 

teams focusing on the Southern Cone countries 

(Argentina, Chile, Paraguay and Uruguay) and the 

Andean Region (Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and 

Venezuela). The business mix saw increased 

diversification through growth in place like Bolivia 

and Chile, as the Southern Cone Region represented 

31% of the business, and the Andean Region the 

remaining 69%. 

The South America region is well diversified across 

industry sectors, with focus on agri-exporters, 

downstream oil & gas and financial institutions. 

Three relevant structured/syndicated transactions were 

executed in the South America Region during the year 

2015, expanding Bladex´s franchise. 

2015 Highlights:

US$ 40,000,000
Term Loan Facility

US$ 25,000,000
Term Loan Facility

US$ 102,000,000
Senior Secured

Amortizing Facility
Sole Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

Administrative
& Collateral Agent

Joint Lead Arranger
Administrative Agent

Joint Lead Arranger
Administrative 

& Collateral Agent

PERU
August 2015

PERU
July 2015

ECUADOR
September 2015
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Venezuela has the world’s largest proven oil reserves.

Financial Institutions

Grains and Oilseeds

Sugar

Oil and Gas (Downstream)

Food and Beverage

Metal Manufacturing

Oil and Gas (Integrated)
Airlines

Other Manufacturing Industries

Other Services

Telecommunications

Oil and Gas (Upstream)

Coffee

Shipping

Wholesalers

Paper

Plastics and Packaging

49%
9%

8%
5%
5%

4%
4%

3%
3%

2%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%
1%

Retail Trade 1%

Industry Exposure in Andean Region
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Andean Region

Trade - Short-Term
51%

Non-Trade - Medium-Term
23%

Non-Trade - Short-Term
20%

Trade - Medium-Term
6%

Type of Transaction in Andean Region
As of Decembre 31, 2015

(*) Term refers to remaining term.
(**) Trade transactions refer to Pure and Trade-related activities.
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Through its loan structuring and syndication 

capabilities, Bladex delivers tailor-made financing 

solutions to its base of corporate and bank clients, 

including pre-export finance facilities, acquisition 

financing, liability management, CAPEX financing, 

and general medium term loans, in support of the 

growth and regional expansion of its clients. Bladex 

enhances and helps bringing in new bank 

relationships to its clients, and it also presents new 

clients to several regional and international banks.

In the secondary market, Bladex participates selling 

assets via participations and/or assignments, and 

purchasing assets to optimize its portfolio mix.

Encompasses, the structuring and syndicating of loans in primary markets, and the participation in corporate 

debt transactions in the secondary market.

The structuring and syndicating business has developed significantly over the last three years, establishing the 

Bank as an increasingly relevant player in the Latin America syndicated loan market. Since 2013, Bladex has 

had a lead or co-lead role in 25 transactions with cumulated transaction volumes in excess of $2.2 billion. 

Panama holds a 20% share of worldwide vessel registration.

Loan Structuring And Distribution Business

Seven syndicated loans/club deals closed, with an 

aggregate total transaction amount of $612 million.

One additional syndicated loan launched in 2015 

(currently in execution).

Successful closing of the largest syndicated loan 

led/co-led by Bladex as yet: a $250 million, 2 year, 

Bridge Loan Facility for AES Dominicana.

More than $400 million in assets either purchased or 

sold in the secondary market.

2015 Highlights:
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Selected Syndicated Transactions (2011-2015)

5-year Senior Secured Acquisition Finance Facility

The successful syndicated transactions over the years have demonstrated Bladex’s origination 
and structuring capabilities in the Latin America syndicated loan market, and highlights 

Bladex’s knowledge of the Region and its commitment to support its clients with tailor-made 
and timely financing solutions, while offering participants the opportunity to invest in leading 
companies and partner up with highly reputable banks in transactions throughout the Region.   

PANAMA/COSTA RICA
May 2013

Sole Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

US$ 67,000,000
Term Loan Facility

Administrative Agent

The facility was structured to partially finance the acquisition of Cervecería Nacional and 
Refrescos Nacionales’s milk and juice business in Panama by Dos Pinos.

The transaction generated important interest from various banks in the region resulting in a 
1.8x oversubscription.

Seven banks participated in the transaction, including three Panamanian banks, and a bank 
from each of the following countries: Colombia, Canada, Venezuela, and Israel.

Dos Pinos is the largest dairy company in Costa Rica, The Caribbean and Central America.

5 and 7-year Dual-tranche Senior Unsecured Term Loan Facility

This transaction marked the second international syndicated loan for the Borrower Group.

Proceeds were used to repay an existing $130 million dual-currency syndicated facility, closed in 
December 2012 and also led by Bladex.

The transaction was successfully launched and disbursed within a month, and received strong
support from four large Colombian banks which led to a 2.1x oversubscription.

The Borrower Group, which represents the Andean-based cable and wire operations of Mexican 
conglomerate Xignux, S.A. de C.V. (“Xignux”), comprises a group of companies in Colombia, Peru, 
and Ecuador involved in the manufacturing and distribution of cable and wire for use in the 
power, telecommunications, manufacturing and construction industries.

5-year Senior Secured Acquisition Finance Facility

Proceeds were used to partially finance the acquisition of 56% of the capital stock of Banco 
de la Producción S.A., the third largest private bank in Ecuador in terms of assets and gross 
loans.

The facility includes a robust security package as well as other structural enhancements that 
solidify the transaction. The syndication comprised a two-stage strategy, with a Joint Lead 
Arranger and Bookrunner Syndication closed initially, followed by a general syndication 
process.

The transaction was 1.8x oversubscribed, attracting several financial institutions based in 
Panama and Brazil.

PFC is the holding company of Grupo Promerica, a group of nine banks with operations in 
Central America, Dominican Republic, Ecuador and Cayman Islands.

PANAMA
March 2014

Joint Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

US$ 105,000,000
Acquisition Finance

Facility

Administrative
& Collateral Agent

COLOMBIA/PERU/ECUADOR
September 2014

Sole Bookrunner
and Lead Arranger

US$ 90,000,000
Dual-tranche
Term Loan

Administrative Agent
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Since 2011, the Bank has executed a total amount of 25 syndicated transactions 
for a total amount of $2.2 billion

5-year Senior Unsecured Term Loan Facility

The transaction was successfully launched and disbursed within 45 days and marked BCR’s 
first international syndicated loan, successfully broadening the bank’s sources of funding 
across Latin America and the United States.

The facility received strong support from several financial institutions based in Panama, 
Colombia, United States, and Trinidad & Tobago, most of which are new relationships to Banco 
de Costa Rica. The transaction was 1.6x oversubscribed.

Proceeds were applied to increase the liquidity profile of the bank and support the growth of 
BCR’s medium-term US Dollar loan portfolio.

Established in 1887 and owned by the government of Costa Rica since 1948, BCR is the oldest 
bank in Costa Rica and, currently, the second largest bank in terms of assets, with a 20% 
market share.

4-Year Senior Secured Amortizing Term Loan

The transaction marks the largest syndicated loan for Favorita and successfully broadens the 
company’s pool of bank relationships.

The loan received strong support from several financial institutions based in Panama, Central 
America and The Caribbean, several of which are new relationships to the Borrower.

Proceeds of the loan were used to improve the company’s debt maturity profile.

The Favorita Group is a leading Ecuadorian agribusiness conglomerate with diversified 
business activities including bananas, dairy, and fertilizers.

2-year Senior Unsecured Bridge Loan

The proceeds from the Bridge Loan were used to perform a liability management exercise for 
AES Andres DR S.A. and Empresa Generadora de Electricidad Itabo, S.A., subsidiaries of AES 
Corporation.

The facility was over-subscribed and up-sized due to strong investor demand, with the 
participation of 13 financial institutions from the Dominican Republic, Central America and The 
Caribbean. Additionally, the facility was launched and closed in less than one month.

Bladex and Banco Popular Dominicano acted as Joint Lead Arrangers and Bookrunners.

AES Corporation is a Fortune 200 global power company (NYSE: AES) which provides 
affrodable, sustainable energy to 18 countries through a diverse portfolio of distribution 
businesses as well as thermal and renewable energy generation facilities.

COSTA RICA
December 2014

Sole Bookrunner and
Lead Arranger

US$ 125,000,000
Senir Unsecured

Term Loan

Administrative Agent

ECUADOR
September 2015

Sole Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

US$ 102,000,000
Senior Secured

Amortizing

Administrative &
Collateral Agent

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
December 2015

Joint Lead Arranger
and Bookrunner

US$ 250,000,000
Bridge Loan Facility



ENTERPRISE – WIDE RISK MANAGEMENT
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Ever-improving quality of risk management constitutes an important pillar for the culture 
and identity of Bladex and constitutes a driving force for sound business growth.

Bladex believes in prudent risk management supported by the use of advanced techniques that have 

demonstrated to be conducive to effective results and, ultimately, to creating shareholder value.

Considering the fact that the diverging economic environment over the recent months and quarters has 

presented certain challenges to the processes of identifying, evaluating, managing and controlling risks, we 

believe that Bladex´s approach to enterprise-wide risk management is having a fundamental role in mitigating 

the impact of these developments. The continued evolution of risk mitigation techniques is based on the 

principles of Bladex’s risk management model, to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements and best 

practices in the industry.

The risk management activity is governed by the following basic principles, which are aligned with Bladex’s 

business model and strategy and which take into account the recommendations from supervisory and 

regulatory authorities as well as best market practices.

CORPORATE PRINCIPLES FOR
MANAGING AND CONTROLLING RISKS

A comprehensive risk management culture throughout the organization.

Independence of the risk management function, covering all risks and providing an 

adequate separation between the units that generate the risks and those that are in 

charge of controlling them.

A comprehensive consideration of all risks as an objective for an adequate risk 

management and control. It is considered essential the capacity to elaborate a vision 

that encompasses all risks assumed, understanding how they are interrelated amongst 

them and facilitating their valuation as a whole.

A governance model that assigns people responsible for managing and controlling 

every risk, preserving the principle of independence and with clear and coherent 

reporting mechanisms.

Formulation and monitoring of the risk appetite, whereby Bladex determines the 

amount and typology of the risks that it considers reasonable to assume in the 

execution of its business strategy and the development of objectives limits, that can be 

contrasted and are coherent with the risk appetite for each relevant activity.
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Bladex has a risk identification, measurement and control system in place, called the Risk Management and 

Control Model, which is constantly strengthened and improved, and which is based on the framework of the 

three Lines of Defense.

The first Line of Defense consists of the Business Units and the Support Areas that, as part of their activity, 

originate the Bank’s risk exposures. These units are responsible for adequately reporting, monitoring and 

managing the risk they help generate, adhering to risk appetite established within the authorized risk limits. To 

do its job well, this first Line of Defense requires the tools for identifying, measuring, managing and reporting the 

risks assumed.

The second Line of Defense consists of the risk management units, to ensure that the risks are managed 

according to the risk appetite defined and in absolute compliance with current regulations in force.

The Internal Audit Area, as the third Line of Defense, and working as the last control layer, periodically 

evaluates if the policies, methods and procedures are adequate and checks their effective implementation.

RESPONSIBILITIES MODEL
IN RISK MANAGEMENT

FIRST LINE
OF DEFENSE 

Operating Mgmt 
 

Business and Support
Areas Function

SECOND LINE
OF DEFENSE 

Monitoring

Risk Mgmt
Function

THIRD LINE
OF DEFENSE 

Verification

Audit
Function

The three Lines of Defense do have a sufficient level of independence and segregation so 
that they do not compromise the scheme’s general effectiveness and act in coordination in 

order to maximize their efficiency and boost their effectiveness.



The risk management and control model ensures that the risk profile is kept within the levels of risk appetite. It also 

incorporates the adoption of the corrective and mitigation measures needed for keeping the risk levels in line with 

the defined objectives.

The identification and valuation of all risks is the cornerstone for controlling and managing them. The risk map 

covers the main risk categories of Bladex’s most significant current and/or potential exposures, facilitating such 

identification.

The work scheme is summarized in the following figure, which is part of the Enterprise Wide-Risk Management 

Framework.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL MODEL

Risk 
Management

Phase I -
Determining the 
Risk Categories

First Level

Credit

Market

Second Level

Default
Counterparty 
Country
Sector
Concentration

Price
Liquidity
Interest Rate
Exchange Rate

First Level

Operational

Legal
Compliance

Second Level

Internal Fraud
External Fraud
Labor Policies
Business Practices
Damage to Assets
System Failures
Process Failures

Legal
Compliance

First Level

Business

Second Level

Reputational
Strategic

Phase II -
Risk 
Management

Phase III -
Risk 
Measurement 
Precision

Phase IV -
Risk 
Quantification

Comprehensive
Stress Test

40



41

A comprehensive risk management implies the identification, valuation as well as adequate management and 

control of all risks with a comprehensive vision.

The Bank has been developing a plan to accelerate the implementation of its projects for improving the risk control 

and management capacity, in order to position and strengthen Bladex in the current financial scenario.

The main drivers on which we have been working are:

The risk management and control model ensures that the risk profile is kept within the levels defined by the risk 

appetite and the established limits.  It also incorporates the adoption of corrective and mitigation measures needed 

to keep the risk levels in line with the defined objectives. 

COMPREHENSIVE RISK MANAGEMENT

The identification and valuation of all risks is the cornerstone for controlling 
and managing them.

• Bladex, as part of its routine 
work, identifies and assesses the 
financial and non-financial risks 
to which it is exposed in the 
different geographical regions 
where it operates and that are 
inherent to its activity

• In a process of continous 
improvement, and in order to 
achieve a more global and 
consistent vision for this process, 
Bladex has developed tools for 
identifying and assessing risks 
and controls, as well as for 
compiling events and incidents. 
These tools aim at increasing the 
sturdiness and systematic 
consistency in identifying and 
valuating risks 

Limit Structure, 
Monitoring 
and Control

• The formulation of the risk appetite 
exercise includes a series of 
metrics as well as limits on those 
metrics that express, in 
quantitative and qualitative terms, 
the maximum risk exposure we are 
willing to assume

• Compliance with the risk appetite 
limits is subject to ongoing 
monitoring. The specialized control 
functions report, at least quarterly 
to the Board and to the Risk Policy 
and Assessment Committee (CPER), 
the adequacy of the risk profile

• Changes in the risk appetite are 
translated into changes in the 
limits and controls used in risk 
management. The risk and 
business areas are each 
responsible to verify that limits and 
controls used in their daily work 
are set to prevent any 
non-compliance event

Scenario Analysis

• Bladex undertakes an advanced 
risk management approach 
through an impact analysis of 
different scenarios, in the Bank’s 
opperating environment.  Those 
scenarios are expressed in 
macro-economic terms as well as 
considering other variables 
affecting its operations

• The scenario analysis is a useful 
tool to evaluate the Bank’s 
resilience to stress scenarios or 
environments.  It also prompts 
the deployment of a series of 
measures that mitigate the 
Bank’s risk profile under said 
scenarios. The final objective is to 
maximize the stability of 
earnings as well as the liquidity 
and equity levels

Risk Assessment
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Definition: Corresponds to the risk of the Bank incurring in losses and decreasing in the value of its assets, due 

to default on proper compliance or non-compliance of the terms agreed upon in the credit agreements, by its 

debtors.

The segment to which Bladex caters consists of corporations, financial institutions, sovereign entities and 

companies. This list is selected through a complete analysis of each entity (business, countries where it operates, 

types of products it offers, volume of the length of the relationship with the customer, among other).

Management of Risk: The credit risk management process has 6 phases consisting of identifying, analyzing, 

controlling and deciding the risks, if any, incurred by the Bank’s operation. This process involves the Business 

Areas and Senior Management, as well as the Risk 

Management Areas. The Board of Directors and the 

Risk Policy and Assessment Committee also 

participate in the process, establishing the risk 

management policies, the limits and delegation of 

powers as well as approving and supervising the 

performance framework of the risk management 

function.

The following graphs show the breakdown of the 

credit risk as a function of the management model: 

commercial portfolio by country and client type, and 

impared credits and reserve coverage. 

Credit Risk

RISK CATEGORIES

Brazil
Mexico

Colombia
Panama

Peru
Guatemala

Dominican Republic
Costa Rica

Ecuador
Uruguay

Trinidad & Tobago
Chile

Argentina
Honduras
Paraguay
Germany

El Salvador
Other (*)

23%
12%

10%
8%

7%
6%

5%
5%

4%
3%
3%
3%

2%
2%
2%

1%
1%

3%

Commercial Portfolio by Country
As of December 31, 2015

(*) Other include countries where the exposure does not exceed 1% of the current outstanding portfolio balance.

Commercial Portfolio by Client Type
As of December 31, 2015

Middle-Market
Companies

5%

Corporations
56%

Financial
Institutions

39%

Reserve Coverage

2014

Credits - Impaired ($ million)
Reserve Coverage (%)

1.22%

4

59

1.33%

2015
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Definition: Represents the risk of the Bank incurring in decreased value of its assets, liabilities and/or revenues 

by being adversely affected by changes in market conditions.  This risk is inherent in the financial instruments 

associated with many of the Bank’s operations and activities, including loans, deposits, investment and trading 

securities, short- and long-term borrowings and debt, derivatives and trading positions.  The components of this 

risk include the interest rate risk, inherent to the Bank’s balance sheet, the currency exchange risk and the pricing 

risk of its investment and trading portfolios. 

Management of Risk: The Bank manages its asset and liability positions in order to reduce the potential 

adverse effects on the net interest income that could be produced by interest rate changes. The Bank’s interest 

rate risk is the exposure of earnings (current and potential) and capital to adverse changes in interest rates and 

is managed by attempting to match the term and repricing characteristics of the Bank’s interest rate sensitive 

assets and liabilities.  The Bank’s interest rate risk typically arises from the Bank’s liability sensitive short-term 

position, which means that the Bank’s interest-bearing liabilities tend to reprice more quickly than the Bank’s 

interest-earning assets.  This is offset by the short-term nature of the Bank’s interest-earning assets, namely liquid 

assets and short-term loan portfolio, and the fact that most of the assets and liabilities pricing is based on 

short-term market rates (LIBOR-based) with contractual re-pricing schedules for longer term transactions.  As a 

result, the potential adverse impact on the Bank’s net interest income from interest rate increases is concentrated 

in the very short-term.  The Bank’s policy with respect to interest rate risk provides that the Bank establishes limits 

with regards to: (1) changes in net interest income due to a potential impact, given certain movements in interest 

The risk management cycle consists of six different phases: origination, risk analysis, risk assessment, credit 

committees, annual review and monitoring the credits.

Market Risk

Credit Cycle

Clients are targeted 
based on the 
organization’s strategic 
planning.

Both return and risk 
appetite are considered 
in the process.

In order to achieve 
greater efficiencies, Lean 
Six Sigma methodology 
has been implemented 
for the origination 
process, through 
different channels of 
treatment, considering 
complexity, risk rating, 
relationship.

ORIGINATION

Ratings assigned to 
customers are reviewed 
periodically, incorporat-
ing new financial 
information and 
expertise in the 
development of the 
banking relationship.

More frequent reviews 
are required for clients 
who trigger certain 
warnings and for those 
on special watch.

ANNUAL
REVISION

Board of Directors:
I. Limits 
II. Country
III. Term

Senior Credit 
Committee: 
I. >   $ 40 MM
II. <= $ 40 MM
III. <= $ 10 MM

CREDIT
COMMITTEE

The risk review is carried 
out at three levels:

• Country of exposure.

• Sector of exposure.

• Customer's ability to 
meet its contractual 
obligations to the 
Bank. Involves 
analyzing credit 
quality, credit structure, 
solvency and the 
projected return for the 
assumed risk.

RISK
ASSESSMENT

Provides an assessment 
of the overall quality of a 
loan portfolio, through 
credit file review that 
includes:

• Assesses individual 
loans. 

• Determines compliance 
with lending 
procedures and policies.

• Identifies lapses in 
documentation.

Monitors, in a quarterly 
basis, watch list and 
impaired loans.

LOAN REVIEW
& CREDIT

MONITORING

Client is required to 
submit information for  
a comprehensive 
evaluation of credit, 
according to policies 
and procedures.

RISK ANALYSIS



44

changes in net interest income due to a potential impact, given certain movements in interest rates and (2) 

changes in the amount of available equity funds of the Bank, given a one basis point movement in interest rates.  

Most of the Bank’s assets and most of its liabilities are denominated in US American Dollars and hence the Bank 

does not incur in a significant currency exchange risk. The currency exchange rate risk is mitigated by the use of 

hedging derivatives, which, although perfectly covered economically, may generate a certain accounting volatility.

Definition: Liquidity refers to the Bank’s ability to 

maintain adequate cash flows to fund operations, 

meet obligations and other commitments on a timely 

basis.  The Bank maintains its liquid assets mainly in 

demand deposits, overnight funds and time deposits 

with well-known international banks.  These liquid 

assets are adequate to cover 24-hour deposits from 

customers, which theoretically could be withdrawn on 

the same day. 

As established by the Bank’s liquidity policy, the Bank’s liquid assets are held in the form of interbank deposits 

with reputable international banks that have A1, P1, or F1 ratings from two of the major internationally – 

recognized rating agencies and are primarily located outside of the Region.  These banks must have a 

correspondent relationship with the Bank.  In addition, the Bank’s liquidity policy allows for investing in 

negotiable money market instruments, including Euro certificates of deposit, commercial paper, bankers’ 

acceptances and other liquid instruments with maturities of up to three years.  These instruments must be of 

investment grade quality A or better and must have a liquid secondary market.

Management of Risk: The Bank performs daily reviews, controls and periodic stress tests on its liquidity position, 

including the application of a series of limits to restrict its overall liquidity risk and to monitor the liquidity level 

according to the macroeconomic environment.  The Bank determines the level of liquid assets to be held on a 

daily basis, adopting the Liquidity Coverage Ratio‘s methodology, referencing the Basel Committee guidelines.  

Additionally, specific limits have been established to control (1) cumulative maturity “gaps” between assets and 

liabilities, for each maturity classification presented in the Bank’s internal liquidity reports, and (2) concentrations 

of deposits taken from any client or economic group maturing in one day and total maximum deposits maturing 

in one day.  

The Bank follows a Contingent Liquidity Plan.  The plan contemplates the regular monitoring of several 

quantified internal and external reference benchmarks (such as deposit level, quality of assets, Emerging 

Markets Bonds Index Plus, cost of funds, LIBOR-OIS spread and market interest rates), which in cases of high 

volatility would trigger implementation of a series of precautionary measures to reinforce the Bank’s liquidity 

position.  

Liquidity Coverage Ratio
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Definition: Operational risk is inherent to all products, activities, processes and systems and is generated in all 

business and support areas. For that reason, all employees are responsible for managing and controlling the 

operational risks generated in their work environment.  Operational risks include: i) internal fraud, ii) external fraud, 

iii) labor policies, iv) business practices, v) damages to fixed assets, vi) (information technology) system failures, vii) 

process failures, viii) legal, and ix) compliance.

Management of Risk: The Bank’s objective concerning operational risk management and control is focused on 

identification, measurement / assessment, monitoring, control, mitigation and communication of that risk. The 

Bank’s priority is thus to identify and mitigate risk sources, regardless of whether there was any loss or not. The 

measurement also contributes to the setting of priorities for managing operational risk.

The different stages of the operational risk management and control model include:

In order to carry out the identification, measurement and assessment of operational risk, a set of quantitative and 

qualitative techniques / tools has been developed which are combined to diagnose identified risks and to obtain 

an assessment through a measurement / evaluation by the Area / Unit.

Bladex has developed tools that make it possible to record the events and incidents, map the risks (identification 

and assessment of the inherent and residual risks), the selection of indicators, monitoring of the mitigation plans 

and the reporting systems.

Following hereunder are the different areas covered by the tools that have been developed internally:

Operational Risk

Identifying the operational risk inherent in all activities, products, processes and systems.

Encouraging the involvement of all employees in an operational risk management culture, by means of 
an adequate training throughout the whole Organization.

Measuring and assessing the operational risk objectively, constantly and coherently, according to the 
regulatory standards (Basel, Superintendency of Banks of Panama, others) and those of the industry.

Ongoing monitoring of the operational risk exposures, implementing control procedures, improving the 
internal knowledge thereof and mitigating losses.

Establishing mitigation measures for minimizing operational risk.

Value Chain Identification of processes, sub-processes and activities

Organizational Structure Identification of areas vs. the processes in which they participate

Events and Incidents Risk Map and Controls Risk Indicators

• Recorded by the users
• Inform the Board
• Workflow for capture and 

quality filters
• Association to processes

• Risk map and controls
• Assessment of inherent and  

residual risks
• Association of the risks to processes

• Definition of the indicators
• Recording and selecting the 

indicators by type of risk
• Capture sources
• Association to risks and processes

Action Plans

Reports 

Identification of action plans
Evaluation and monitoring of the action plans

Control panel
Static and dynamic reports
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Definition: Social Risk is the possibility that a person suffers damages caused by a social cause. This means that 

the social risk depends on the conditions of the environment surrounding the individual. Economic conditions, 

the lack of access to education, family problems, crime and environmental pollution are just a few of the 

circumstances that could generate a social risk. 

The environmental risk is related to the damages that could result from environmental factors, whether natural or 

provoked by humans.

Social / Environmental Risk

Definition: Banks and Trust Companies must take all 

measures needed for preventing that their operations 

and/or transactions are being carried out with funds 

or on funds coming from activities related to the 

crimes of money laundering, the financing of terrorism 

or the financing of the proliferation of weapons of 

mass destruction.

Management of Risk: The Bank’s Compliance Area 

establishes guidelines for strengthening the internal 

controls, comprehensive risk management and for the 

Prevention of Money Laundering, the Financing of 

Terrorism and the Financing of the Proliferation of 

Weapons of Mass Destruction, which are kept 

up-to-date in order to minimize the risk deriving from 

not complying with current legal dispositions in force 

that apply to our entity, and to ensure the integrity and 

transparency of the transactions carried out by the business. In virtue of new Anti-Money Laundering and 

Combating the Financing of Terrorism in the country, enacted by Law 23, dated  April 27, 2015, Rules 7-2015 and 

10-2015 from the Superintendency of Banks of Panama, the pertinent modifications were adopted in the 

Anti-Money Laundering and Know your Customer Manuals, that will make a correct check-up of the Customers 

and the Risk inherent to their profiles possible, as well as the corresponding monitoring, in order to ensure that 

the conditions of the operations carried out are acceptable.

Bladex contemplates, in the agreements signed with each customer, aspects for emphasizing the importance of 

complying with the regulations for the prevention of money laundering and crimes related to corruption, setting 

forth concepts that are binding for the parties and strengthening the Compliance work.

Money Laundering / Financing Of Terrorism, 
Financing Of The Proliferation Of Weapons Of Mass Destruction

Money Laundering: Is the process of hiding or 
covering up the existence, illegal source, 
movement, destination or illegal use of goods or 
funds produced by illegal activities, in order to 
give them an appearance of legitimacy. 

Financing of Terrorism: Is any form of 
economic activity, help or mediation that 
provides financial support to the activities of 
terrorist groups or elements.

Financing of the Proliferations of Weapons of 
Mass Destruction: Is any form of economic 
activity, help or mediation that provides 
financial support for buying weapons that are 
capable of eliminating a very high number of 
people indiscriminately and of causing great 
economic and environmental damages.



Management of Risk: The Bank extends credit directly to financial institutions, corporations and middle-market 

companies within the Region.  The distinction between corporations and middle-market companies is based on 

the particular client’s volumes of annual sales, as well as country risk, and certain other criteria.  The Bank 

finances import and export transactions for all types of goods and products, excepting restricted items such as 

weapons, ammunition, military equipment, and hallucinogenic drugs or narcotics not utilized for medical 

purposes.  Imports and exports financed by the Bank are destined for buyers/sellers in countries both inside and 

outside the Region.  The Bank analyzes credit requests from eligible borrowers applying its credit risk criteria, 

including economic and market conditions.  The Bank maintains a consistent lending policy and applies the 

same credit criteria to all types of potential borrowers in evaluating creditworthiness.

Due to the nature of trade finance, the Bank’s loans are generally unsecured.  However, in certain instances, 

based upon the Bank’s credit review of the borrower and the economic and political situation and trends in the 

borrower’s home country, the Bank may determine that the level of risk involved requires that a loan be secured 

by collateral.

   

The Commercial Division is responsible for ensuring that the Bank does not, under any circumstances, finance 

operations with the following characteristics, due to their negative impact on the environment:

Trade in wildlife or products derived there from, which are regulated under CITES (Convention 

on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora).

Sawmills or purchases of sawing equipment to be used in tropical rain forests.

Production or marketing of pesticides and herbicides subject to international restrictions or 

prohibitions.

Trading or producing substances that affect the ozone layer and that are subject to 

international restrictions.
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Human Capital is the most valuable asset of our Organization. It gives life to our brand through a set of 

organizational values: Humility, Respect, Excellence, Commitment, and Integrity. This set of ethical principles 

provides the framework for individual and collective behavior, and models our organizational culture.

The diversity of our workforce is a core strength 

that distinguishes our culture. Having offices in six 

Latin American countries, an U.S. Agency, a workforce 

of 200 employees and regional presence in all Latin 

America. Bladex values a diverse working 

environment as one of its core strengths. Diversity is 

incorporated into strategies and programs for the 

benefit of the entire Organization. One of the main 

activities that the Human Resources Department 

sponsors for this matter is Bladex Day.  This activity is 

performed at the beginning of the year, and provides 

a space for annual integration workshops designed to 

review the Bank’s prior year achievements and 

disclose information on annual plans, and corporate 

objectives for the year to come.  Every year, employees 

from the offices abroad gather in Panama at the head 

office and participate actively in the development of 

interaction programs and the settlement of corporate, 

departmental and individual level objectives and 

goals, determined by the Administration and the 

Bank’s Board of Directors.

Panama
56%

Brazil
8%

Other(*)

10%

Mexico
9%

Colombia
6%

Argentina
7%

Peru
4%

Nationalities represented in Bladex
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Distribution of Employees by Gender in Bladex
As of Decembre 31, 2015

Male
53%

Female
47%

For information regarding Bank Code of Ethics visit 
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/governance-documents

(*) Others:  Uruguay, Venezuela, Germany, Bolivia, Spain, United States, Chile, 
Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, France, Guyana, Holland and Honduras.
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The strategic impact of Human Resources relies on having competitive, motivated and committed employees 

to support the business. We continue to reinforce our culture of organizational development, performance 

evaluation and feedback, while constantly pursuing the attraction, development and retention of talent and skills 

needed to achieve the Bank’s business strategies.

The Human Resources Department maintains initiatives around the following four pillars of human resources 

management:

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT PILLARS

Bladex has a Compensation and Benefits
scheme that establishes guidelines to provide 
a competitive and adequate balance of wages and 
benefits to employees, and ensure sustainability, 
attraction and retention of the most talented asset.

In 2015, we reinforced the Rewards Program, designed to 
acknowledge extraordinary contribution of employees in 
day-to-day activities or special projects, highlighting the 
modeling of our organizational values. This program 
promotes a culture where all employees can nominate 
others for their commitment to the organization. During 
2015, 42 employees were rewarded with points that can be 
redeemed for prizes of their choice within the catalog 
offered by the Bank.

Talent Management comprises different  
programs focused on ensuring a «talent pipeline» 
for future business plans and developing employee 
potential for key positions within the organization.

During the past years the Trainee Rotation Program has 
given young professionals the opportunity of having a 
close view of our core business and becoming part of our 
organization in the areas where talent is always welcome. 
By the end of 2015, two trainees occupied vacancies in the 
Bank’s commercial and risk areas.

Compensation and Benefits

Learning is one of the key elements that
supports Bladex Culture.

During 2015 the Bank launched "BLX University" to 
combine all training needs in a global learning effort. The 
programs are developed on the following three pillars: i) 
Leadership and Interpersonal Skills, ii) Functional Skills and 
iii) Regulatory Aspects. All these pillars are aligned with the 
organization’s business and operational needs. This year 
we focused on the Leadership Program. 100% of our 
employees participated in Emotional Intelligence courses 
that are having a positive impact on Productivity, People 
and Stress Management.

Functional training and regulatory aspects are reviewed 
every year to close knowledge gaps in employee 
“know-how”. "Know Your Bladex" is available to provide 
employees with training instances where functional experts 
explain the main departments roles, responsibilities, and 
their impact in the core business. 

The following topics were delivered in 2015:

Learning and Development

Talent Management

Continuous Improvement
is an ongoing effort carried by the Administration 
to improve products, services, and processes.

Bladex seeks to adapt to market challenges and our 
clients needs, aiming to deliver growing results for our 
shareholders. To ensure competitiveness over time, the 
Bank works in three key pillars of operational excellence: 
i) people, ii) processes and iii) technology.

In the pillar of people and processes the Bank has 
implemented a continuous improvement program "BLX 
Lean" based on the Lean Six Sigma methodology. The 
culture that underpin this program focuses on behavioral 
attitudes and principles, geared toward keeping our clients 
satisfied, as well as proactive and committed employees 
through ongoing training on methodological tools to 
identify and address issue, ensuring the Bank’s processes 
enable delivery of products and services that generate 
value for our clients.

In the pillar of technology, the Bank is continuously 
reviewing and updating information systems and services, 
ensuring technology is the key element for improving 
internal and external customer service.

Continuous Improvement Program

Legal
Documentation

Q&A

Market
Risk

Risk
Management

Bladex
Treasury

Corporate
Development

The New York Agency’s Role in Bladex Business

Structuring and
Asset Distribution

TA
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The remodeling of Hogar Divina Gracia by the Foundation had 
a positive impact on the environment and personal 
development of young people living there.

Bladex’s CEO with honor students of CEMP’s 2015 graduated class.

The Foundation completed construction of the CEMP 
building for the high school science and tourism degree.

The work undertaken in 2015 by Fundación Crece 

Latinoamérica, the foundation carrying out Bladex's 

social work, reaffirms our ongoing commitment to the 

sustainable development and better quality of life for 

the people of Latin America.  Towards this goal, the 

Foundation continued implementing programs and 

projects primarily promoting quality education and 

values for children.

In Panama, where Bladex's headquarters are located, 

our efforts are focused on continuing to expand the 

physical facilities of the Marie Poussepin Educational 

Center (CEMP), making it the only school in the area 

to offer academic courses from preschool through 

twelfth grade, with two high school diploma options.  

Providing a solid education has contributed to 

reducing youth violence, gang activities, and dropout 

rates.  Additionally, at CEMP we continue to sponsor 

the School for Parents program, with 230 parents 

graduating this year from the program, as well as the 

Financial Education program delivered by Bank 

employees to eleventh and twelfth grade students 

majoring in Tourism.  

  

Fundación Crece Latinoamérica also strongly 

supported six other organizations focusing on 

education and children in Panama, including the 

Hogar Divina Gracia shelter, whose facilities were 

almost completely remodeled, allowing an average of 

30 youngsters to live in a more comfortable and 

welcoming environment.  It is worth noting that for the 

Bladex’s commitment is to promote education and 
youth assistance as the cornerstore of the 

development of our people
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We supported the learning process through the 
delivery of Braille machines to school centers, 
serving visually impaired students. (Brazil)

For the first time, 242 students from the 
Héroes de Cenepa School (Peru) participated in a 
program to develop their artistic skills while 
reinforcing basic knowledge.

Virgen de Guadalupe Missionary Center allows 
students from remote communities the opportunity
to graduate from high school.

first time this year, the Foundation sponsored a project that benefits young people in indigenous (Gnobe Buglé) 

and rural communities in El Bale, province of Veraguas, through contributions to the poultry farm project at the 

Vírgen de Guadalupe Missionary Center. 

As part of our strategy to expand our social work in the Region, the Foundation entered into partnerships in 

Brazil and Peru with recognized associations in these countries engaged in promoting the education and 

welfare of our children and youth.  In Brazil, we continue to sponsor the reading program at Sabiá II School 

through the Brascri Foundation, benefitting 1,200 students at the primary level.  For the first time, we 

incorporated Laramara Foundation through which we benefit 11 NGOs, providing them with 12 Braille 

machines and 80 canes to support the training of visually impaired children and young people.

In Peru, we sponsored the academic strengthening program and recreational activities carried out by Fundación 

Crea+ at the Héroes de la Cenepa School,  benefitting 242 students at the primary and secondary levels.
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Christmas party for children
in Brazil and Panama

COMMUNITY VOLUNTEER WORK

As a socially responsible company, the community work we carry out is enriched by the volunteer work of our 

employees, who support the work of Fundación Crece Latinoamérica in Panama, Brazil and Peru with 

educational, recreational and cultural activities.

The volunteers supported education by providing 140 

scholarships to needy students attending CEMP.  They 

also sponsored speech and language studies for 65 of 

the school's preschool students, and gave lectures on 

financial education to a group of parents at the 

Héroes de la Cenepa School in Lima, Peru, as well as 

at CEMP in Panama.

Both the Volunteer Committees from Panama and the 

Brazil Office supported recreational and cultural 

activities through Christmas parties for children and 

young people at three NGOs: the Marie Poussepin 

Educational Center and Hogar Divina Gracia in 

Panama, and children at Brascri in Sao Paulo, Brazil.   

Additionally, in Panama they delivered medications to 

the community clinic run by the Virgen de Guadalupe 

Center in El Bale, and took 25 boarding students at 

this NGO on a two day tour of different historical and 

recreational centers in Panama City.  

Hogar Divina Gracia - Panama

Centro Educativo
Marie Poussepin - Panama

For information visit: http://www.bladex.com/en/about-bladex/foundation

CEMP scholarship program - Panama

Donation for Virgen de Guadalupe Community Center in Veraguas - Panama

Brascri - Brazil

http://www.bladex.com/en/about-bladex/foundation
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FRAMEWORK

Corporate Governance refers to the relations of the Bank’s Management with its Board of Directors, shareholders 

and other economic groups that have an interest in the Bank.  The basic assumptions of corporate governance 

are transparency, corporate equality, and compliance by the Board of Directors, Senior Management, employees 

and stakeholders, with their responsibilities.  It emerges from the disposition set forth in the Articles of 

Incorporation, the By-Laws of the Corporation and the Charters of the various Board of Directors and the 

Management committees, adapting them to prevailing regulations and good organizational practices.

Our Corporate Governance stands on world-class standards and disclosure of relevant information:

TRANSPARENCY

The Bank undertakes all necessary efforts to disclose all important matters, including its financial results and 

Corporate Governance, in a precise and timely manner.

CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

The Bank has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that contains the necessary internal policies and 

guidelines for complying with the Institution's mission and at the same time strengthening compliance with the laws 

and regulations governing its business operations

COMPLYING WITH SUPERVISING AUTHORITIES AND REGULATORS

The Bank is supervised by the Superintendency of Banks of Panama, and must comply with the requirements of the following 

entities: FED, SEC, NYSDFS, Comisión Nacional Bancaria y de Valores, Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, among others.

ETHICS POINT

A confidential whistle-blowing system is in place for report actual or possible violations of the Bank's Code of 

Business Conduct and Ethics, as well as other work-related situations or irregular or suspicious 

transactions, accounting matters, internal audit or accounting controls.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The Bank has established a risk management process to ensure that all material risks and 

associated risk concentrations are identified, measured, limited, controlled, mitigated and 

reported on a timely and comprehensive basis.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Bladex reports, monthly, quarterly and anually, the financial information that 

is relevant.
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Share Ownership for Executive Officers and Directors

Compensation and Risk

REMUNERATION AND REWARD

The Bank reviews and monitors the extent to which the compensation made and programs for senior executives 

and employees whose activities, individual or group can create incentives for excessive risk-taking. 

Certain aspects of the Bank's program executive compensation as a combination of cash bonuses based 

on short-term performance and capital bonuses based on performance over the long term, reduce the 

likelihood of excessive risk taking and turn creates incentives for senior executives to work toward 

long-term growth of the Bank. 

Annually, in order to incentivize the alignment and collaboration of all organizational areas, the Bank pays to its 

Executive Officers variable compensation, based on the extent to which each officer meets certain individual and 

corporate objectives which are defined by the Board of Directors.  This variable compensation is paid in both 

cash and in stock options and/or restricted stock units. The Nomination and Compensation Committee is 

responsible for the approval of the Bank’s Executive Officers and Board of Directors Compensation and 

continues to work to ensure that the design of the Bank’s compensation program is focused on long-term 

shareholder value creation and emphasizes pay for performance.

The Board of Directors has adopted share ownership guidelines for directors and Executive Officers. This policy 

enables Bladex to meet its objective of aligning executive’ interest with those of shareholders. 

Board of Directors

Each director, within three years of joining the Board, is required to accumulate 9,000 shares (13,500 for the 

Chairman of the Board), and to maintain at least this ownership level while serving as a member of the Board. 

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is required to own Bladex common stock worth at least two and a half times his 

annual base salary.

Executive Officers

Executive officers are required to own stock equal to one time their annual base salary.  Executive officers have 

up to seven years to comply with this share ownership requirement, measured from the later of the date of 

adoption of these guidelines or the date that they became subject to the guidelines.
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Incentive Pool Funding and Individual Allocations for Employees
We believe that performance cannot always be assessed simply by formula and it is important that informed 

discretion is applied to achieve appropriate remuneration outcomes which reflect the underlying health of the 

Organization, a balanced assessment of all-round performance and the creation of shareholder value. The 

incentive pool is determined on the following structured framework:

Determination of group, organizational area  and function incentive pools by Board of Directors

Assessment of individual performance by managers

Recommendation of individual annual bonus awards based on drivers

Conduct of consistency checks

Review and approval of incentive pools and individual awards by Executive Officers

For information regarding Bladex’s Stock Ownership Policy for Directors and Executive 
Officers visit: http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/governance-documents

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

LEGAL STRUCTURE

Bladex, and headquartered in Panama City, Panama, was established pursuant to a May 1975 proposal 

presented to the Assembly of Governors of Central Banks in the Region as a recommendation to create a 

multinational organization to increase foreign trade capacity of the Region. The Bank’s shareholding structure 

combines, in a seamless manner, the interests and support of the Region’s governments with the business 

orientation of a private institution, subject to the discipline and transparency required of a company listed on 

the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).  It represents a pillar in the Bank’s role of supporting foreign trade and 

Latin American integration, while focusing on value creation for its stakeholders.

The Bank’s common stock is divided into four categories:

The Bank was organized under the laws of Panama and headquartered in Panama City, Panama in 1977, 

incorporated in 1978 as a corporation pursuant to the laws of the Republic of Panama, and officially began 

operations on January 2, 1979.  Panama was selected as the location of the Bank’s headquarters because of 

the country’s importance as a banking center in the Region, the benefits of a fully U.S. dollar-based economy, 

the absence of foreign exchange controls, its geographic location, and the quality of its communications 

facilities. Under a contract-law signed in 1978 between the Republic of Panama and Bladex, the Bank was 

granted certain privileges by the Republic of Panama, including an exemption from payment of income taxes 

in Panama. 

For information regarding Ownership Structure visit:
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/governance-documents and
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/ownership-composition

For information regarding Legal Structure visit: 
http://www.bladex.com/en/about-bladex/legal-structure

CLASS E (77.4%)

• Represented by 
institutional and retail 
investors through 
Bladex’s public listing 
on the NYSE 

• Bladex’s investor base 
has grown over the 
past few years, 
enhancing liquidity of 
the stock

CLASS F (0.0%)

• State entities and 
agencies of non-Latin 
American countries, 
including central banks 
and banks in which the 
state is the mayority 
shareholder of those 
countries, or multilateral 
financial institutions, be 
it international or 
regional institutions

CLASS A (16.3%)

• Central banks or designees 
from 23 Latin American 
countries 

• Super-majority rights: 75% 
approval rate required for 
pre-defined cases 

• Shares can only be transferred 
to qualified holders of Class A 
shares 

The explicit support from 
Class A shareholders represents 
a direct link between the Bank 
and Latin American 
governments – most of which 
have granted preferred creditor 
status to the Bank – and 
constitute the main source of 
deposits, a reliable and stable 
funding source

CLASS B (6.3%)

• Latin America and 
International Banks 
1:1 Class E 
convertibility 

• Represent the 
remainder of founding 
institutional 
shareholder base, 
which gained Class E 
convertibility with the 
Bank’ IPO

http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/governance-documents
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/ownership-composition
http://www.bladex.com/en/about-bladex/legal-structure
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

First line of defense: Operating management Second line of defense: Monitoring Third line of defense: Assurance

The organizational structure is structured into five areas in accordance to with the Three Lines of Defense Model, 

which allows for an efficient decision making process.

Chief Executive
Officer

Commercial
Division

Finance
Division

Corporate
Services

Internal
Audit

Risk
Management

Division

Daniel Otero
Executive Vice President 

Chief Risk Officer

Ulysses Marciano
Executive Vice President
Chief Commercial Officer

Christopher Schech
Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer

Rubens V. Amaral Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

Miguel Moreno
Executive Vice President
Chief Operating Officer

Gustavo Díaz
Executive Vice President

Chief Audit Officer

• Over 26 years of 
international financial 
experience. 

• Chief  Risk Officer of 
Centro Financiero 
BHD, Santo Domingo, 
DR (2006 - 2012).

• Since 1990, served in 
various capacities 
with PwC in Buenos 
Aires,  Santiago de 
Chile and London.

• Former EVP & Chief Commercial Officer, 
and alternate to the CEO since 2004.

• General Manager and Managing. 
Director for North America at Banco do 
Brasil, New York Branch.

• Director of the Board of Bladex from 
2000 to 2004.

• Served in various capacities with Banco 
do Brasil from 1975.

• Over 25 years of 
experience.

• Executive Director of 
Corporate Banking of  
BBVA Representative 
Office in Sao Paulo, 
Brazil (2011 - 2012).

• Previously served as 
Director of Corporate 
Banking & 
Governments at Bladex 
(2008 - 2011).

• Previously Executive 
Director of Corporate & 
Investment Wholesale 
Division in Banco 
Santander Brasil S/A 
(2000 - 2008).

• Senior Manager in 
Unibanco - Uniao de 
Bancos Brasileiros       
(1994 - 1999). 

• Over 25 years of 
financial services 
experience with 
assignments in 
LatAm, U.S., Europe, 
and Asia CFO, Region 
International Division 
at Volvo Financial 
Services (2008 - 
2009).

• Various capacities in 
General Electric 
Company          
(1996 - 2008), and 
Coopers & Lybrand 
Deutsche Revision 
(1990 - 1996).

• Over 30 years of 
experience.

• Bladex’s COO since 
2007, previously 
served as Senior Vice 
President and 
Controller (2001 - 
2007).

• Partner and IT 
Consulting Manager 
for PwC, Bogotá, 
Colombia          
(1988 - 2001).

• VP of IT & Operations 
for Banco de Crédito, 
Bogotá, Colombia 
(1987 - 1988).

• CEO of TM Ingeniería, 
Bogotá, Colombia          
(1983 - 1987).

• Over 25 years of 
International Audit 
experience in Latam 
and in U.S. 

• Chief Audit Executive 
for CABEI in 
Honduras (2000 - 
2009).

• Director of Internal 
Audit and Chief 
Compliance Officer for 
Corfivalle in Colombia          
(1994 - 2000).

• Since 1985 served in 
various capacities 
with KPMG Peat 
Marwick in Colombia 
and Chile (External 
Audit).        
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors has set up committees in which the Board has delegated powers and duties, subject to 

the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and the By-Laws. Each committee shall have three or more 

members of Board of Directors; subject to this minimum, and in addition is composed of Executive Officers of the 

Bank. Two committees, the Risk Policy and Assessment Committee and the Audit and Compliance Committee, 

have direct reporting from Chief Risk Officer and Chief Audit Officer, Executive Officers, respectively.

The Board of Directors is composed of ten members (i) three directors elected by the holders of class A common 

shares represented by Central banks or designees from 23 Latin American countries; (ii) five directors elected by 

the holders of the class E common shares represented by institutional and retail investors through Bladex’s 

public listing on the NYSE; and (iii) two directors elected by the holders of all common shares. Members of the 

Board serves a three-year term and are elected every year at annual meetings of shareholders of the Bank. 

Directors can be re-elected multiple times until serving a maximum age tenure of 70 at the day of the election. 

In the election of members of the Board representing a class of shares of the Bank’s common stock, the votes of 

the holders of such class of shares are counted separately as a class. Shareholders are provided with information 

on directors’ qualifications experience and other key directorship.

The Board of Directors is composed of ten members (i) three directors elected by the holders of class A common 

shares represented by Central banks or designees from 23 Latin American countries; (ii) five directors elected by 

the holders of the class E common shares represented by institutional and retail investors through Bladex’s 

public listing on the NYSE; and (iii) two directors elected by the holders of all common shares. Members of the 

Board serves a three-year term and are elected every year at annual meetings of shareholders of the Bank. 

Directors can be re-elected multiple times until serving a maximum age tenure of 70 at the day of the election. 

In the election of members of the Board representing a class of shares of the Bank’s common stock, the votes of 

the holders of such class of shares are counted separately as a class. Shareholders are provided with information 

on directors’ qualifications experience and other key directorship.

Nine out of ten Directors of the Board of Directors are independent, 
except for the Bank’s CEO. Seven nationalities are represented, reflecting

the importance given to diversity

Gonzalo Menéndez Duque, Chairman

Herminio Blanco

Miguel Heras

William D. Hayes

Roland Holst

João Carlos de Nóbrega Pecego

Facundo Martínez Maino

Mario Covo

Maria da Graça França

Rubens V. Amaral Jr., CEO Bladex

Members:

Board of Directors

Risk Policy and
Assessment
Committee

Finance 
& Business
Committee

Nomination and 
Compensation

Committee

Audit and 
Compliance
Committee

Composition of the Board

Information on the Charter’s of each Board Committee can be found on 
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/committeess-board

For detailed biographies of our Board members visit 
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/board-of-directors

http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/committeess-board
http://www.bladex.com/en/investors/board-of-directors
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Role of the Board

The Board may grant general or special powers of attorney, authorizing Directors, Officers, and Employees of the 

Corporation or other third parties to transact such business and affairs within the competence of the Board, as 

the Board may deem convenient to entrust each them. The Board recognizes that one of its key responsibilities 

is to evaluate and determine its optimal leadership structure so as to provide an independent oversight of 

management. Our current leadership structure promotes a balance between the authority of those who oversee 

our business and those who manage it on a day-to-day basis.

Independence of the Members of the Board

A Director is considered independent only when the Board of Directors has affirmatively determined that said 

Director has no material relationship with the Bank that may affect his or her independent judgment, considering 

the following applicable guidelines, rules and regulations: i) The Regulations enacted by the U.S. Security and 

Exchange Commission (SEC) under the 2002 Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX), ii) the criteria for rating independence, 

as defined in Section 303A of the Manual for Companies listed on the NYSE; and iii) the criteria for defining 

independence included in Rules No. 05-2011 and No. 05-2014, issued by the Superintendency of Banks of the 

Republic of Panama.

Transactions with Related Persons

Bladex must abide by regulations that establish limits on transactions between natural persons and corporations, 

considered Related Party as established in the different legislations in the various jurisdictions that apply to 

Bladex. Any transaction with a Related Party must be evaluated first by the Bank’s Legal Risk Department and the 

Compliance Department to determine if the transactions does not violate any law or regulation enacted by the 

Government of the Republic of Panama, the SEC, or any other existing legal disposition. 

Certain directors of the Bank are also directors and executive officers of banks and/or other companies located 

in Latin America, and The Caribbean and elsewhere.  Some of these banks and/or other companies own shares 

of the Bank’s common stock and have entered into loan transactions with the Bank in the ordinary course of 

business. The terms and conditions of the loan transactions, including interest rates and collateral requirements, 

are substantially the same as the terms and conditions of comparable loan transactions entered into with other 

persons under similar market conditions.  As a matter of policy, directors of the Bank do not participate in the 

approval process for credit facilities extended to institutions in which they are executive officers or directors, nor 

do they participate with respect to decisions regarding country exposure limits in countries in which the 

institutions are domiciled.

Meetings of the Board

Meetings of directors are held at least four times a year in the Republic of Panama or in any other country, as 

determined by the Board of Directors. The presence of at least six directors is necessary for a meeting of the Board 

of Directors to be duly held.  However, to obtain a quorum in Board of Directors meetings, the majority of the 

Directors present may not involved in the Bank’s day-to-day management. The Resolutions of the Board of 

Directors are adopted by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Directors present at the meeting.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S.A. and Subsidiaries 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio 
Exterior, S.A. and its subsidiaries (the "Bank"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position 
as of December 31, 2015, December 31, 2014 and January 1, 2014, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, 
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in 
equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 
2015, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Bank's preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Bank´s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S.A. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015, December 
31, 2014 and January 1, 2014, and their financial performance and cash flows for each of the two years in the 
period ended December 31, 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  
 
Other Matter 
 
As disclosed in Note 2, these consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 are the 
first the Bank has prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. Our opinion is not 
modified by this matter. 

 
 
March 11, 2016 
Panama, Rep. of Panama                                                                               

Deloitte, Inc. 
Contadores Públicos Autorizados 
RUC 16292-152-155203 D.V.65 
Torre Banco Panamá, piso 12 
Avenida Boulevard y la Rotonda 
Costa del Este, Panamá 
Apartado 0816-01558 
Panamá, Rep. de Panamá 
 
 
Teléfono: (507) 303-4100 
Facsimile: (507) 269-2386 
infopanama@deloitte.com 
www.deloitte.com/pa 
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Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of financial position
Years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and January 1, 2014
(In US$ thousand, except per share amounts)

 December 31  December 31   January 1 
2015 2014 2014

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,17 1,299,966             780,515                     839,718                
Financial Instruments: 5,17
  At fair value through profit or loss 5.2 53,411                  57,574                       68,762                  
  At fair value through OCI 5.3,17 141,803                338,973                     334,368                
  Securities at amortized cost, net 5.4,17 108,215                54,738                       33,570                  
  Loans at amortized cost 5.6 6,691,749             6,686,244                  6,148,298             

  Allowance for expected credit losses 5.6 89,974                  77,687                       70,876                  
  Unearned interest & deferred fees 9,304                    8,509                         6,668                    

  Loans at amortized cost, net 6,592,471             6,600,048                  6,070,754             

5.8,5.9,17
7,400                    12,324                       15,217                  

Property and equipment, net 6 6,173                    6,961                         8,432                    
Intangibles, net 7 427                       1,024                         1,890                    

Other assets:
Customers' liabilities under acceptances 17 15,100                  114,018                     1,128                    
Accrued interest receivable 17 45,456                  48,177                       40,778                  
Other assets 8 15,794                  8,056                         3,491                    

Total of other assets 76,350                  170,251                     45,397                  -                       
Total assets 8,286,216             8,022,408                  7,418,108             

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Deposits: 9,17

Noninterest-bearing - Demand 639                       394                            663                       
Interest-bearing - Demand 243,200                83,781                       62,384                  
Time 2,551,630             2,422,519                  2,298,289             

Total deposits 2,795,469             2,506,694                  2,361,336             

5.8,5.9,17 29,889                  40,287                       8,572                    

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 5.1,5.9,17 89                         52                              72                         
Securities sold under repurchase agreement 4,5.3,5.9,10,17 114,084                300,519                     286,162                
Short-term borrowings and debt 11,17 2,430,357             2,692,537                  2,705,365             
Long-term borrowings and debt, net 11,17 1,881,813             1,399,656                  1,148,684             

Other liabilities:
Acceptances outstanding 17 15,100                  114,018                     1,128                    
Accrued interest payable 17 17,716                  14,855                       13,786                  
Allowance for expected credit losses on off-balance sheet credit risk 5.7 5,424                    9,873                         6,054                    
Other liabilities 12 24,344                  32,878                       27,947                  
Total other liabilities 62,584                  171,624                     48,915                  
Total liabilities 7,314,285             7,111,369                  6,559,106             

Commintments and contingencies 5,7,17,24,25 -                        

Stockholders' equity: 13,14,15,18
Common stock 279,980                279,980                     279,980                
Treasury stock (73,397)                 (77,627)                      (82,008)                 

120,177                119,644                     120,624                
Capital reserves 95,210                  95,210                       95,210                  
Retained earnings 560,642                501,669                     454,896                
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 5.3,5.8,18 (10,681)                 (7,837)                        (9,700)                   
Total stockholders' equity 971,931                911,039                     859,002                
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 8,286,216             8,022,408                  7,418,108             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

At fair value -   Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 
receivable

At fair value – Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – payable

Additional paid-in capital in excess of assigned value of common stock

3
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Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of profit or loss
Years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(In US$ thousand, except per share amounts)

2015 2014

Interest income from financial instruments 5.8
Deposits 2,050                    1,545                    
At fair value through OCI 6,033                    8,115                    
At amortized cost 212,229                203,238                

Total interest income 220,312                212,898                
Interest expense: 5.8

Deposits 11,788                  11,245                  
Short-term borrowings and debt 23,005                  23,893                  
Long-term borrowings and debt 40,040                  36,424                  

Total interest expense 74,833                  71,562                  

Net interest income 145,479                141,336                

Other income
Fees and commissions, net 19,200                  17,502                  
Derivate financial instruments and foreign currency exchange 5.8 (23)                        208                       
Gain per financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss 21 5,731                    2,361                    
Gain  per financial instrument at fair value through OCI 363                       1,871                    
Gain on sale of loans at amortized cost 1,505                    2,546                    
Other income, net 1,603                    1,786                    
Net other income 28,379                  26,274                  

Total income 173,858                167,610                

Expenses
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost 5.6 17,248                  6,782                    
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on investment securities 5.3,5.4 5,290                    1,030                    
Impairment (gain) loss from expected credit losses on off-balance sheet financial 
instruments 5.7 (4,448)                   3,819                    
Salaries and other employee expenses 22 30,435                  31,566                  
Depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements 1,371                    1,545                    
Amortization of intangible assets 596                       942                       
Professional services 4,621                    5,177                    
Maintenance and repairs 1,635                    1,544                    
Other expenses 23 13,126                  12,839                  

Profit for the year 103,984                102,366                

Earnings per share:

Basic 13 2.67                      2.65                      

Diluted 13 2.66                      2.63                      
Weighted average basic shares 13 38,925                  38,693                  
Weighted average diluted shares 13 39,113                  38,882                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

4
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Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(In US$ thousand)

2015 2014

Profit for the year 103,984                       102,366                       

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Net change in unrealized losses on financial instruments at fair value through OCI 18 (2,114)                         2,212                           

Net change in unrealized losses  on derivative financial instruments 18 (730)                            (349)                            

Other comprehensive income (loss) 18 (2,844)                         1,863                           

Total comprehensive income for the year 101,140                       104,229                       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

5
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Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and subsidiaries

Consolidated statements of changes in equity
Years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and January 1, 2014
(In US$ thousand, except per share amounts)

Common stock Treasury stock

Additional paid-
in capital in 

excess of 
assigned value 

of common stock Capital reserves
Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprenhensive 
income (loss) Total 

Balances at January 1, 2014               279,980               (82,008)               120,624                 95,210               454,896                    (9,700)               859,002 
Profit for the year -                     -                     -                     -                                   102,366 -                                      102,366 
Other comprehensive income -                     -                     -                     -                     -                                          1,863                  1,863 
Issuance of restricted shares -                                         629                    (629) -                     -                     -                                               -   
Compensation cost - stock options and stock 
units plans -                                            -                    2,573 -                     -                     -                                         2,573 
Exercised options and stock units vested -                                      4,392                 (2,924) -                     -                     -                                         1,468 
Repurchase of "Class B" and "Class E" common 
stock -                                        (640)                        -   -                     -                     -                                           (640)
Dividends declared -                    -                    -                    (55,593)             -                                     (55,593)

Balances at December 31, 2014               279,980               (77,627)               119,644                 95,210               501,669                    (7,837)               911,039 
Profit for the year                        -                          -                          -                          -                 103,984                           -                 103,984 
Other comprehensive income                        -                          -                          -                          -                          -                      (2,844)                 (2,844)
Compensation cost - stock options and stock 
units plans                        -                          -                    3,296                        -                             -                    3,296 
Issuance of restricted shares                        -                    1,259                 (1,259)                        -                          -                             -                          -   
Exercised options and stock units vested                        -                    2,971                 (1,504)                        -                          -                             -                    1,467 
Dividends declared                        -                          -                          -                          -                 (45,011)                           -                 (45,011)

Balances at December 31, 2015               279,980               (73,397)               120,177                 95,210               560,642                  (10,681)               971,931 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6
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Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. y Subsidiarias

Consolidated statements of cash flows
For the years ended on December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars)

2015 2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year $ 103,984                   $ 102,366                   
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash provided by 
operating activities:
Activities of derivative financial instruments and hedging (2,279)                      33,338                     
Depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements 1,371                       1,545                       
Amortization of intangible assets 596                          942                          
Impairment loss from expected credit losses 18,090                     11,638                     
Net gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through OCI                          (363)                       (1,871)
Compensation cost - share-based payment 3,296                       2,573                       
Interest income (220,312)                  (212,898)                  
Interest expense 74,833                     71,562                     
Net decrease (increase) in operating assets:
Net decrease (increase) in pledged deposits 6,546                       (30,178)                    
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2,545                       11,738                     
Net increase in loans at amortized cost (7,410)                      (536,075)                  
Other assets (7,738)                      (5,191)                      
Net increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Net increase due to depositors 288,775                   145,358                   
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 37                            (20)                           
Other liabilities 6,398                       3,646                       
Cash provided by operating activities

Interest received 223,033                   205,519                   
Interest paid (71,972)                    (70,530)                    

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities                     419,430                   (266,538)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of equipment and leasehold improvements                          (615) (87)                           
Acquisition of intangible assets                                - (83)                           
Proceeds from disposal of equipment and leasehold improvements                              32 13                            
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets                                1 7                              
Proceeds from the redemption of of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                     151,131 62,535                     
Proceeds from the sale of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                     118,210 223,219                   
Proceeds from maturities of financial instruments at amortized cost                       44,923 19,883                     
Purchases of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                     (86,629) (287,770)                  
Purchases of financial instruments at fair value at amortized cost                     (96,920) (40,305)                    
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities                     130,133                     (22,588)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings and debt

and securities sold under repurchase agreements (448,615)                  1,529                       
Proceeds from long-term borrowings and debt 946,084                   641,138                   
Repayments of long-term borrowings and debt (462,559)                  (389,490)                  
Dividends paid (59,943)                    (54,262)                    
Exercised stock options 1,467                       1,469                       
Repurchase of common stock                                -                          (640)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities                     (23,566)                     199,744 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents                                - 1                              

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                     525,997                     (89,381)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year                     741,305                     830,686 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $                  1,267,302 $                     741,305 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. y Subsidiarias

Consolidated statements of cash flows
For the years ended on December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Expressed in thousands of US dollars)

2015 2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year $ 103,984                   $ 102,366                   
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash provided by 
operating activities:
Activities of derivative financial instruments and hedging (2,279)                      33,338                     
Depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements 1,371                       1,545                       
Amortization of intangible assets 596                          942                          
Impairment loss from expected credit losses 18,090                     11,638                     
Net gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through OCI                          (363)                       (1,871)
Compensation cost - share-based payment 3,296                       2,573                       
Interest income (220,312)                  (212,898)                  
Interest expense 74,833                     71,562                     
Net decrease (increase) in operating assets:
Net decrease (increase) in pledged deposits 6,546                       (30,178)                    
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2,545                       11,738                     
Net increase in loans at amortized cost (7,410)                      (536,075)                  
Other assets (7,738)                      (5,191)                      
Net increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Net increase due to depositors 288,775                   145,358                   
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 37                            (20)                           
Other liabilities 6,398                       3,646                       
Cash provided by operating activities

Interest received 223,033                   205,519                   
Interest paid (71,972)                    (70,530)                    

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities                     419,430                   (266,538)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of equipment and leasehold improvements                          (615) (87)                           
Acquisition of intangible assets                                - (83)                           
Proceeds from disposal of equipment and leasehold improvements                              32 13                            
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets                                1 7                              
Proceeds from the redemption of of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                     151,131 62,535                     
Proceeds from the sale of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                     118,210 223,219                   
Proceeds from maturities of financial instruments at amortized cost                       44,923 19,883                     
Purchases of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                     (86,629) (287,770)                  
Purchases of financial instruments at fair value at amortized cost                     (96,920) (40,305)                    
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities                     130,133                     (22,588)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings and debt

and securities sold under repurchase agreements (448,615)                  1,529                       
Proceeds from long-term borrowings and debt 946,084                   641,138                   
Repayments of long-term borrowings and debt (462,559)                  (389,490)                  
Dividends paid (59,943)                    (54,262)                    
Exercised stock options 1,467                       1,469                       
Repurchase of common stock                                -                          (640)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities                     (23,566)                     199,744 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents                                - 1                              

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                     525,997                     (89,381)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year                     741,305                     830,686 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $                  1,267,302 $                     741,305 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

7



71

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

8

1. Corporate information 

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. (“Bladex Head Office” and together with its subsidiaries 
“Bladex” or the “Bank”), headquartered in Panama City, Republic of Panama, is a specialized multinational bank 
established to support the financing of trade and economic integration in Latin America and the Caribbean (the 
“Region”).  The Bank was established pursuant to a May 1975 proposal presented to the Assembly of Governors of 
Central Banks in the Region, which recommended the creation of a multinational organization to increase the 
foreign trade financing capacity of the Region.  The Bank was organized in 1977, incorporated in 1978 as a 
corporation pursuant to the laws of the Republic of Panama, and officially initiated operations on January 2, 1979.  
Under a contract law signed in 1978 between the Republic of Panama and Bladex, the Bank was granted certain 
privileges by the Republic of Panama, including an exemption from payment of income taxes in Panama. 

The Bank operates under a general banking license issued by the National Banking Commission of Panama, 
predecessor of the Superintendency of Banks of Panama (the “SBP”). 

In the Republic of Panama, banks are regulated by the SBP through Executive Decree No. 52 of April 30, 2008, 
which adopts the unique text of the Law Decree No. 9 of February 26, 1998, modified by the Law Decree No. 2 of 
February 22, 2008.  Banks are also regulated by resolutions and agreements issued by this entity.  The main aspects 
of this law and its regulations include: the authorization of banking licenses, minimum capital and liquidity 
requirements, consolidated supervision, procedures for management of credit and market risks, measures to prevent 
money laundering, the financing of terrorism and related illicit activities, and procedures for banking intervention 
and liquidation, among others.  

Bladex Head Office’s subsidiaries are the following: 

- Bladex Holdings Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary, incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, United 
States of America (USA), on May 30, 2000. Bladex Holdings Inc. has ownership in two subsidiaries: Bladex 
Representacao Ltda. and Bladex Investimentos Ltda. 

- Bladex Representaçao Ltda., incorporated under the laws of Brazil on January 7, 2000, acts as the Bank’s 
representative office in Brazil.  Bladex Representacao Ltda. is 99.999% owned by Bladex Head Office and the 
remaining 0.001% owned by Bladex Holdings Inc. 

- Bladex Investimentos Ltda. was incorporated under the laws of Brazil on May 3, 2011.  Bladex Head Office 
owns 99% of Bladex Investimentos Ltda., and Bladex Holdings Inc. owns the remaining 1%.  This company 
has invested substantially all of its assets in an investment fund incorporated in Brazil (“the Brazilian Fund”), 
registered with the Brazilian Securities Commission (“CVM”, for its acronym in Portuguese). The Brazilian 
Fund is a non-consolidated variable interest entity. 

- Bladex Development Corp. was incorporated under the laws of Panama on June 5, 2014.  Bladex Development 
Corp. is 100% owned by Bladex Head Office. 

  
- BLX Soluciones, S.A. de C.V., SOFOM, E.N.R. was incorporated under the laws of Mexico on June 13, 2014.  

BLX Soluciones is 99.9% owned by Bladex Head Office, and Bladex Development Corp. owns the remaining 
0.1%.  The company specializes in offering financial leasing and other financial products such as loans and 
factoring. 
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1. Corporate information (continued) 

Bladex Head Office has an agency in New York City, USA (the “New York Agency”), which began operations on 
March 27, 1989.  The New York Agency is principally engaged in financing transactions related to international 
trade, mostly the confirmation and financing of letters of credit for customers in the Region.  The New York 
Agency also has authorization to book transactions through an International Banking Facility (“IBF”). 

The Bank has representative offices in Buenos Aires, Argentina; in Mexico City, and Monterrey, Mexico; in Lima, 
Peru; and in Bogota, Colombia. 

The consolidated financial statements have been authorized for issue by resolution of the Board of Directors dated 
February 16, 2016. 

2. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of  Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and its subsidiaries 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). 

2.2 Basis of valuation and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 are the first the Bank has prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, and IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
has been applied.  In prior years, the Bank prepared its financial statements in accordance with United States 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US-GAAP).  Refer to Note 27 for information on how the Bank 
adopted IFRS.   

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of fair value for financial assets and liabilities 
through profit or loss, derivative financial instruments, investments and other financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. The carrying values of recognized assets and liabilities that are designated as hedged 
items in fair value hedges, that would otherwise be carried at amortized cost are adjusted to record changes in the 
fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged in effective hedge relationships.  Other financial assets and 
liabilities and other non-financial assets and liabilities are presented at amortized cost or on a historical cost basis. 

All amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements and notes are expressed in United States of America 
dollars (“$”), which is the functional currency of the Bank. 

  
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount are reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or 
interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank. 

2.3 Reclassification 

Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s 
presentation.  These reclassifications had no effect on the previously reported changes in net assets or equity.
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2. Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

2.4 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Bladex and its subsidiaries. Bladex 
consolidates its subsidiaries from the date on which control is transferred to the Bank. All intercompany balances 
and transactions have been eliminated for consolidation purposes. Control is achieved when the Bank is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee.  Specifically, the Bank controls an investee if, and only if, the Bank has: 

- Power over the investee.  Existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee. 

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee. 
- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its return. 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control.  To support this presumption and 
when the Bank has less than the majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Bank considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

- The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 
- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
- The Bank’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 

The Bank re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control.  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Bank loses control of the subsidiary.  Assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date the Bank gains control until the date the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of the 
parent of the Bank and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Bank’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Bank are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets, liabilities, non-controlling 
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value. 

In the event of a loss of control of a controlled subsidiary, the Bank applies the following procedures to remove the 
subsidiary from consolidation: 

- Derecognition of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 
- Derecognition of the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 
- Derecognition of the cumulative translation differences, recorded in statement of changes in equity 
- Recognition of the fair value of the consideration received 
- Recognition of the fair value of any investment retained 
- Recognition of any surplus or deficit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
- Reclassification of the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income 

to the consolidated statement of profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies  

The following are the significant accounting policies applied consistently by the Bank to all years presented in these 
consolidated financial statements and in the preparation of opening balances under IFRS consolidated statement of 
financial position as of January 1, 2014, for purposes of the transition to IFRS. 

3.1 Currency and foreign currency transactions 

3.1.1 Foreign currency transactions 

For each entity, the Bank determines the functional currency, and items included in the consolidated financial 
statements of each entity are measured using the functional currency.   

3.1.2 Transactions and balances 

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, whose local currency is considered their functional currency, are 
translated into the reporting currency, US dollars, using year-end spot foreign exchange rates.  The Bank uses 
monthly-averaged exchange rates to translate revenues and expenses from local functional currency into US dollars.  
The effects of those translations adjustments are reported as a component of the accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Transactions whose terms are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency, including transactions 
denominated in local currency of the foreign entity with the US dollar as their functional currency, are recorded at 
the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.  Assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated 
into US dollar using year-end spot foreign exchange rates.  The effects of translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities into US dollar are included in current year’s earnings in the gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange line 
item. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Bank’s net 
investment in a foreign operation. These are recognized in consolidated statements of other comprehensive income 
until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is classified to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are 
also recorded in consolidated statements of other comprehensive income, if applicable. 

3.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents include demand deposits in banks and interest-bearing deposits in banks with original maturities of 
three months or less, excluding pledged deposits.  

3.3 Financial instruments 

3.3.1 Date of recognition 

All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date, the date that the Bank becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets 
that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market 
place. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Financial instruments (continued) 

3.3.2 Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The Bank classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of the Bank’s business model for managing 
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of these financial assets.  The Bank classifies all 
financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized costs, except for those liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss as a result of hedge accounting, as well as liabilities measured at fair value in the case of 
undesignated derivatives.   

3.3.3 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include bonds acquired for trading purposes, and 
receivables (unrealized gains) and payables (unrealized losses) related to derivative financial instruments which 
are not designated as hedges or which do not qualify for hedge accounting.   

Unrealized and realized gains and losses on assets and liabilities at FVTPL are recorded in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as net gain (loss) from financial instruments at FVTPL. 

3.3.4 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

These securities consist of debt instruments not classified as either securities at FVTPL or securities at amortized 
cost, and are subject to the same approval criteria as the rest of the credit portfolio.  These securities are carried at 
fair value if both of the following conditions are met: 

- The financial asset is held according to a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and, 

- The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Unrealized gains and losses are reported as net increases or decreases to accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) (“OCI”) in consolidated statement of changes in equity until they are realized. Realized gains and 
losses from the sale of securities which are included in net gain on sale of securities are determined using the 
specific identification method. 

3.3.5 Financial assets at amortized cost  

Securities classified at amortized cost represent securities whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows over the life of the instrument.  These securities are measured at amortized cost if both of 
the following conditions are met: 

- The financial asset is held according to a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets in 
order to collect the contractual  cash flows, and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.   
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Financial instruments (continued) 

3.3.6 Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. 
- The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either has transferred 

substantially all risk and rewards of the asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

- The Bank retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement.  

- When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass–
through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Bank’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Bank also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has 
retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank could be 
required to repay. 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is extinguished, when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a an 
extinguishment of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.  

The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss. 
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3.       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

            3.3      Financial instruments (continued)

3.3.6 Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets - securities 

The Bank conducts periodic reviews for all of its securities.  The Bank recognizes a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and at amortized cost.  
If at the reporting date, the credit risk of these financial instruments has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Bank will measure the loss allowance for those financial instruments at an amount equal to 12-
month expected credit losses.  However, if the Bank determines that the credit risk of those financial instruments 
has increased significantly since initial recognition, then it measures a loss allowance at an amount equal  to the 
lifetime expected credit losses   If the Bank has measured a loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses in the previous reporting year because of a significant increase in credit 
risk, but determines at the current reporting date that this presumption is no longer met; then it will measure the 
loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses at the current reporting date. The Bank 
recognizes in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected 
credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance to the amount that is required to be 
recognized at the reporting date.  

For financial instruments measured at fair value through OCI, the expected credit losses do not reduce the 
carrying amount in the consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair value.  Instead, an 
amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the asset was measured at amortized cost is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income as the accumulated impairment amount. Impairment gains 
or losses are accounted for as an adjustment of the revaluation reserve in the accumulated other comprehensive 
income, with a corresponding charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Impairment on securities is evaluated considering numerous factors, and their relative significance varies case by 
case.  Factors considered in determining whether a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of a 
financial asset has occurred include, but are not limited to: significant financial difficulty of the issuer; high 
probability of bankruptcy; granting a concession to the issuer; disappearance of an active market because of 
financial difficulties; breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal; and, observable 
data indicating there is a measureable decrease in the estimated future cash flows since initial recognition.  
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3.       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

            3.3      Financial instruments (continued)

                       3.3.6 Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

            Impairment of financial assets – securities (continued) 

The fact that the security is no longer publicly traded or the downgrade of an entity‘s credit rating is not, by itself, 
evidence of impairment, but should be considered for impairment together with other information. A decline in 
the fair value of a debt instrument below its amortized cost is not necessarily evidence of impairment, as it may be 
due to an increase in market interest rates. Whether a decline in fair value below cost is considered significant or 
prolonged, must be assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis and should be based on both qualitative and 
quantitative factors.  However, the assessment of prolonged decline should not be compared to the entire period 
that the investment has been or is expected to be held. 

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.  For other non-financial assets, an 
assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment losses may no longer exists or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Bank makes an 
estimate of the recoverable amount. In that case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. This increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
  

3.4 Loans - at amortized cost  

Loans are reported at their amortized cost considering the principal outstanding amounts net of unearned interest, 
and deferred fees and allowance for expected credit losses.  Interest income is recognized using the effective interest 
rate method.  This shall be calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the loan, 
except for: a) purchased or originated credit-impaired loans.  For these financial assets, the Bank applies the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset from initial recognition; and b) loans that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired financial assets.  For these loans, the Bank shall apply the effective 
interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting years.  

The amortization of net unearned interest and deferred fees are recognized as an adjustment to the related loan yield 
using the effective interest rate method. 

Purchased loans are recorded at acquisition cost.  The difference between the principal and the acquisition cost of 
loans, the premiums and discounts, is amortized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to the yield. All other 
costs related to acquisition of loans are expensed when incurred. 

The Bank identifies loans as delinquent when no debt service and/or interest payment has been received for 30 days 
after such payments were due. The outstanding balance of a loan is considered past due when the total principal 
balance with one single balloon payment has not been received within 30 days after such payment was due, or when 
no agreed-upon periodical payment has been received for a period of 90 days after the agreed-upon date.   

The above presumptions regarding past due loans may be rebuttable if the Bank has reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or effort, that demonstrate that the credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition even though the contractual payments are more than 30 or 90 days past due. 

A modified or renegotiated loan is a loan whose borrower is experiencing financial difficulties and the renegotiation 
constitutes a concession to the borrower.   A concession may include modification of terms such as an extension of 
maturity date, reduction in the stated interest rate, rescheduling of future cash flows, and reduction in the face 
amount of the loan or reduction of accrued interest, among others.   

In the renegotiation or modification of the contractual cash flows of the loan, the Bank shall: 
- Continue with its current accounting treatment for the existing loan that has been modified. 
- Record a modification gain or loss by recalculating the gross carrying amount of the financial asset as the 

present value of the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows, discounted at the loan’s original 
effective interest rate. 

- Assess whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the financial instrument, by 
comparing the risk of a default occurring at the reporting date (based on the modified contractual terms) 
and the risk of a default occurring at initial recognition (based on the original, unmodified contractual 
terms). The loan that is modified is not automatically considered to have a lower credit risk.  The 
assessment should consider credit risk over the expected life of the asset based on the historical and 
forward-looking information, including information about the circumstances that led to the modification.  
Evidence that the criteria for the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses are subsequently no longer 
met may include a history of up-to-date and timely payment in subsequent periods.  A minimum period of 
observation will be necessary before a financial asset may qualify to return to a 12-month expected credit 
loss measurement. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.4    Loans - at amortized cost (continued) 

- Make the appropriate quantitative and qualitative disclosures required for renegotiated or modified 
assets to reflect the nature and effect of such modifications (including the effect on the measurement of 
expected credit losses) and how the Bank monitors these loans that have been modified. 

The Bank recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on a loan that is measured at amortized cost 
at each reporting date at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that loan has 
increased significantly since initial recognition.  If at the reporting date, the credit risk of that loan has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, an entity shall measure the loss allowance for that loan at an amount equal to 
12-month expected credit losses. 

The Bank maintains a system of internal credit quality indicators.  These indicators are assigned depending on 
several factors which include: profitability, quality of assets, liquidity and cash flows, capitalization and 
indebtedness, economic environment and positioning, regulatory framework and/or industry, sensitivity scenarios 
and the quality of borrower’s management and shareholders, among others. 

A description of these indicators is as follows: 

Rating Description 
1 to 4  Clients with payment ability to satisfy their financial commitments. 

5 to 6 Clients with payment ability to satisfy their financial commitments, but with more frequent 
reviews. 

7  Clients exposed to systemic risks specific to the country or the industry in which they are located, 
facing adverse situations in their operation or financial condition. At this level, access to new 
funding is uncertain. 

8  Clients whose primary source of payment (operating cash flow) is inadequate, and who show 
evidence of deterioration in their working capital that does not allow them to satisfy payments on 
the agreed terms, endangering recovery of unpaid balances. 

9  Clients whose operating cash flow continuously shows insufficiency to service the debt on the 
originally agreed terms.  Due to the fact that the borrower presents an impaired financial and 
economic situation, the likelihood of recovery is low. 

10  Clients with operating cash flow that does not cover their costs, are in suspension of payments, 
presumably will also have difficulties fulfilling possible restructuring agreements, are in a state of 
insolvency, or have filed for bankruptcy, among others.  

In order to maintain periodical monitoring of the quality of the portfolio, clients are reviewed within a frequency of 
time between 3 and 12 months, depending on the risk rating. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.4   Loans - at amortized cost (continued) 

The Bank's lending portfolio is comprised of the following segments: corporations, sovereign, middle-market 
companies and banking and financial institutions.  The distinction between corporations and middle-market 
companies depends on the client’s level of annual sales in relation to the country risk, among other criteria. Except for 
the sovereign segment, segments are broken down into state-owned and private. 

The Bank's lending policy is applicable to all types of loans. 

3.5   Allowance for expected credit losses 

The allowance for expected credit losses is provided for losses derived from the credit extension process, inherent in 
the loan portfolio and off-balance sheet financial instruments, using the reserve methodology to determine expected 
credit losses.  Additions to the allowance for expected credit losses are made by debiting earnings.  Credit losses are 
deducted from the allowance, and subsequent recoveries are added.  The allowance is also decreased by reversals of 
the allowance back to earnings.  The allowance attributable to loans is reported as a deduction of loans and the 
allowance for off-balance sheet credit risk, such as, letters of credit and guarantees, is reported as a liability. 

The Bank measures expected credit losses (ECLs) in a way that reflects:  a) an unbiased and probability-weighted 
amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; b) the time value of money; and c) reasonable 
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, 
current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. 

The expected credit loss model reflects the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of 
financial instruments. The amount of ECLs recognized as a loss allowance or provision depends on the extent of 
credit deterioration since initial recognition. There are two measurement bases: 

- 12-month ECLs (Stage 1), which applies to all loans (from initial recognition) as long as there is no 
significant deterioration in credit quality, 

- Lifetime ECLs (Stages 2 and 3), which applies when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred on 
an individual or collective basis. In Stages 2 and 3 interest revenue is recognized.  Under Stage 2 (as 
under Stage 1), there is a full decoupling between interest recognition and impairment and interest 
revenue  is calculated on the gross carrying amount. Under Stage 3, when a loan subsequently becomes 
credit impaired (when a credit event has occurred), interest revenue is calculated on the amortized cost, 
net of impairment, i.e. the gross carrying amount after deducting the impairment allowance.  In 
subsequent reporting years, if the credit quality of the financial asset improves so that the financial asset is 
no longer credit-impaired and the improvement can be related objectively to the occurrence of an event 
(such as an improvement in the borrower’s credit rating), then the entity will once again calculate the 
interest revenue. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.5 Allowance for expected credit losses (continued)

The allowance for expected credit losses includes an asset-specific component and a formula-based component.  The 
asset-specific component, or specific allowance, relates to the provision for losses on credits considered impaired and 
measured individually case-by-case.  A specific allowance is established when the discounted cash flows (or 
observable fair value of collateral) of the credit is lower than the carrying value of that credit.  The formula-based 
component (collective assessment basis), covers the Bank’s performing credit portfolio and is established based in a 
process that estimates the probable loss inherent in the portfolio, based on statistical analysis and management’s 
qualitative judgment. This analysis considers comprehensive information that incorporates not only past-due data, but 
other relevant credit information, such as forward looking macro-economic information.  

The statistical calculation is a product of internal risk classifications, probabilities of default and loss given default.  
The probability of default is supported by Bladex’s historical portfolio performance, complemented by probabilities 
of default provided by external sources, in view of the greater robustness of this external data for some cases.  The 
loss given default is based on Bladex’s historical losses experience and best practices.   

When assessing whether the credit risk on a loan has increased significantly, the Bank considers the change in the risk 
of default occurring since initial recognition.  For a loan to be considered in “default”, management considers criteria 
used in the internal credit risk model and qualitative factors, such as financial covenants, when appropriate.   

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses significant increases in credit risk based on the change in the risk of a 
default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument.  In order to make the assessment of whether there 
has been significant credit deterioration, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost or effort and comparing: 

- The risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the  reporting date, and 
- The risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. 

For loan commitments, the Bank considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the ‘potential’ loan to which a 
loan commitment relates, and for financial guarantee contracts, changes in the risk that the specified debtor will 
default are taken into consideration. 

In order to determine whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the financial instrument, the 
assessment is based on quantitative information and qualitative information.  The Bank considers the following 
factors though not exhaustive, when measuring significant increase in credit risk:  

a) Significant changes in internal price indicators of credit risk as a result of a change in credit risk since inception; b) 
Significant changes in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument or similar financial 
instruments with the same expected life; c) An actual or expected significant change in the financial instrument’s 
external credit rating; d) Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions; e) An 
actual or expected significant change in the operating results of the borrower; f)  An actual or expected significant 
adverse change in the regulatory environment; g) economic, or technological environment of the borrower; h) 
Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation; i) Significant changes, such as reductions, 
in financial support from a parent entity or other affiliate or an actual or expected significant change in the quality of 
credit enhancements, among other factors incorporated in the Bank’s ECLs model. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.5 Allowance for expected credit losses (continued)

The reserve balances, for both on and off-balance sheet credit exposures, are calculated applying the following 
formula: 

Reserves = ∑(E x PD x LGD); where:

- Exposure (E) = the total accounting balance (on and off-balance sheet) at the end of the period under 
review. 

- Probabilities of Default (PD) = one-year probability of default applied to the portfolio to account for 12-
month expected credit losses and lifetime probability of default to account for more than 12-month.  
Default rates are based on Bladex’s historical portfolio performance per rating category, complemented 
by International Rating Agency’s probabilities of default for categories 6, 7 and 8, in view of the greater 
robustness of data for such cases. 

- Loss Given Default (LGD) = a factor is utilized, based on historical information, same as based on best 
practices in the banking industry. Management applies judgment and historical loss experience. 
Management also apply complementary judgment to capture elements of prospective nature or loss 
expectations based on risks identified in the environment that are not necessarily reflected in the historical 
data.  The allowance policy is applicable to all classes of loans and off-balance sheet financial instruments 
of the Bank. 

When the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering the loan, then the gross carrying amount of the loan is 
directly reduced in its entirety; thus, constituting a derecognition event.  If the amount of loss on write-off is greater 
than the accumulated loss allowance, the differences will be recognized as an additional impairment loss. 

3.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Bank uses derivative financial instruments for its management of interest rate and foreign exchange risks.  
Interest rate swap contracts, cross-currency swap contracts and foreign exchange forward contracts have been used 
to manage interest rate and foreign exchange risks associated with debt securities and borrowings with fixed and 
floating rates, and loans and borrowings in foreign currency.   

These derivatives contracts can be classified as fair value and cash flow hedges.  In addition, foreign exchange 
forward contracts are used to hedge exposures to changes in foreign currency in subsidiary companies with 
functional currencies other than the US dollar.  These contracts are classified as net investment hedges. 

The accounting for changes in value of a derivative depends on whether the contract is for trading purposes or has 
been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

Derivatives held for trading purposes include interest rate swap, cross-currency swap, foreign exchange forward and 
future contracts used for risk management purposes that do not qualify for hedge accounting. These derivatives are 
reported as asset or liabilities, as applicable. Changes in realized and unrealized gains and losses and interest from 
these financial instruments are included in gain per financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Derivatives for hedging purposes primarily include foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap 
contracts in US dollar and cross-currency swaps. Derivative contracts designated and qualifying for hedge 
accounting are reported in the consolidated statement of financial position as derivative financial instruments used 
for hedging - receivable and payable, as applicable, and hedge accounting is applied.  In order to qualify for hedge 
accounting, a derivative must be considered highly effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure being 
hedged.  Each derivative must be designated as a hedge, with documentation of the risk management objective and 
strategy, including identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item and the risk exposure, as well as how 
effectiveness will be assessed prospectively.  The extent to which a hedging instrument is effective at achieving 
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows must be assessed at least quarterly.  Any ineffectiveness must be 
reported in current-year earnings.   

Economic relationship 

As the Bank enters into a hedging relationship, the first requirement is that the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item must be expected to move in the opposite direction as a result of the change in the hedged risk.  This should be 
based on an economic rational, as could be the case if the relationship is based only on a statistical correlation.  This 
requirement is fulfilled for many of the hedging relationships carried by the Bank as the underlying of the hedging 
instrument matches, or is closely aligned with the hedged risk.  Even when there are differences between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, the economic relationship will often be capable of being demonstrated using a 
qualitative assessment.  The assessment considers, whether qualitative or quantitative, the following:  a) maturity; b) 
nominal amount; c) cash flow dates; d) interest rate basis; and e) credit risk, including the effect of collateral, among 
others. 

Hedge ratio 

The hedge ratio is the ratio between the amount of hedged item and the amount of the hedging instrument.  For most 
of the hedging relationships, the hedge ratio is 1:1 as the underlying of the hedging instrument perfectly matches the 
designated hedged risk.  For a hedging relationship with a correlation between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument that is not 1:1 relationship, the Treasury front office will generally set the hedge ratio so as to adjust for 
the type of relation in order to improve effectiveness.   

Discontinuation of hedge accounting 

The Bank discontinues hedge accounting prospectively in the following situations: 

1. It is determined that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows 
of a hedged item. 

2. The derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. 
3. The Bank otherwise determines that designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer 

appropriate. 

The Bank carries all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value.  

  



85

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

22

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

Fair value hedges 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the change in fair value of a recognized 
asset or liability or a firm commitment that could affect profit or loss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss together with changes in the fair value of the hedge item 
that are attributable to the hedged risk.  If the hedge relationship is terminated, then the fair value adjustment to the 
hedged item continues to be reported as part of the basis of the item and it is amortized to earnings as a yield 
adjustment.  

Cash flow hedges 

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of variability in cash flows attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in OCI and presented in the hedging reserve within equity 
and recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the hedged cash flows affect earnings.  The 
ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as activities of derivative financial 
instruments and hedging.  If the cash flow hedge relationship is terminated, related amounts in OCI are reclassified 
into earnings when hedged cash flows occur. 

Net investment hedges 

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a 
hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instrument is recognized in OCI and presented in the translation reserve within equity.  Any ineffective portion of 
the changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  The 
amount recognized in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment on disposal of the foreign 
operation. 

3.7 Repurchase agreements  

Repurchase agreements are transactions in which the Bank sells a security and simultaneously agrees to repurchase 
it (or an asset that is substantially the same) at a fixed price on a future date. The Bank continues to recognize the 
securities in their entirety in the statement of financial position because it retains substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership. The cash consideration received is recognized as a financial asset and a financial liability is 
recognized for the obligation to pay the repurchase price. Because the Bank sells the contractual rights to the cash 
flows of the securities, it does not have the ability to use the transferred assets during the term of the arrangement. 

3.8 Borrowings and debt 

Short and long-term borrowings and debt are accounted for at amortized cost. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.9 Recognition of income and expenses 

 Fee and commission income 

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. 

Income is recognized to the extent that is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and it is reliably 
measured, regardless of when the payment is made. This income is measured at fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment an excluding taxes or duty.  

Fee income can be divided into the following two categories: 

- Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time.   
- Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees 

include commission income and other management and advisory fees. 

 Fee income from providing transaction services 

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, are recognized on 
completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are 
recognized after fulfilling the corresponding criteria. 

 Net trading income 

Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related interest 
income or expense and dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading.  

 Fees and commissions on loans at amortized cost 

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together 
with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. When it is 
unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognized over the commitment period on 
an effective interest rate basis.  These fees are regarded as compensation for an ongoing involvement with the 
acquisition of a financial instrument.  If the commitment expires without the Bank making the loan, the fee is 
recognized as revenue on expiration. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.9  Recognition of income and expenses (continued) 

 Fees and commissions on loans at amortized cost (continued) 

Loan origination fees, net of direct loan origination costs, are deferred, and the net amount is recognized as revenue 
over the contractual term of the loans as an adjustment to the yield.  When there are concerns about the realization 
of loan principal or interest, these net fees are recognized as revenue at the credit-adjusted effective interest rate for 
credit-impaired financial assets.  Underwriting fees are recognized as revenue when the Bank has rendered all 
services to the issuer and is entitled to collect the fee from the issuer, when there are no contingencies related to the 
fee. Underwriting fees are recognized net of syndicate expenses.  In addition, the Bank recognizes credit 
arrangement and syndication fees as revenue after satisfying certain retention, timing and yield criteria.   

Fees received in connection with a modification of terms of a loan at amortized cost are applied as a reduction of the 
recorded investment in the loan.  Fees earned on letters of credit, guarantees and other commitments are amortized 
using the straight-line method over the life of such instruments. 

3.10 Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is stated at cost excluding the costs of day–to–day servicing, less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment in value. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing the 
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight–line method to write down the cost of property and equipment to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Useful life in Years 

 Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years 
 Leasehold improvements 3 to 15 years or up to the lease term 

Improvements to leased properties, under operating leases are amortized on a straight line calculated without 
exceeding the length of the respective lease contracts. 

Property and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognized in other income in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss in the year that the asset is derecognized.

3.11 Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is recognized only when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the Bank. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.11 Intangible assets (continued) 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite useful 
life are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of assets which are reviewed 
annually by the Bank. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as 
appropriate, and they are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets 
with finite lives is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Bank’s intangible assets include the value of computer software. Amortization is calculated using the straight–line 
method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives of 5 
years.  Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is determined by the Bank as the 
difference between proceeds from the sale or disposal and the net carrying amount of the intangible asset and 
recognizing them in the results for the year in which the transaction occurs. 

3.12 Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is 
generally not the case with master netting agreements; therefore, the related assets and liabilities are presented gross 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

3.13 Leasing at amortized cost 

The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the 
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 
specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

Banks as a lessee  
Leases where the lessor do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of 
the leased items are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rental payable is 
recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Bank as a sub-lessor 
Leases where the Bank does not transfer substantially all of the risk and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents 
are recognized as revenue in the year in which they are earned. In the event that the contract is cancelable, they are 
recognized as income over the term of the lease. 

3.14 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, net of any reimbursement. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.15 Capital reserves 

Capital reserves are established as an appropriation of retained earnings and are, as such, a form of retained 
earnings.  Reductions of capital reserves require the approval of the Bank’s Board of Directors and the SBP. 

3.16 Share–based payment transactions 

The Bank applies IFRS 2 for share–based payment transactions to account for compensation costs on restricted 
stock, restricted stock units and stock option plans.  Compensation cost is based on the grant date fair value of both 
stock and options and is recognized over the requisite service period of the employee, using the accelerated method.  
The fair value of each option is estimated at the grant date using a binomial option-pricing model.  When options 
and stock are exercised, the Bank’s policy is to reissue shares from treasury stock. 

3.17 Income taxes 

Current income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

- Bladex Head Office is exempted from payment of income taxes in Panama in accordance with the contract 
law signed between the Republic of Panama and Bladex. 

- The Feeder and the Master are not subject to income taxes in accordance with the laws of the Cayman 
Islands.  These companies received an undertaking exempting them from taxation of all future profits until 
March 7, 2026. 

- Bladex Representacao Ltda. and Bladex Investimentos Ltda., are subject to income taxes in Brazil.  
- Bladex Development Corp. is subject to income taxes in Panama. 
- BLX Soluciones, S.A. de C.V., SOFOM, is subject to income taxes in Mexico. 
- The New York Agency and Bladex’s subsidiaries incorporated in USA are subject to federal and local 

taxation in USA based on the portion of income that is effectively connected with its operations in that 
country.   

The amount of current income taxes has been immaterial to-date. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is calculated based on the liability method, on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities reported for financial purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of 
deferred tax is based on the embodiment of assets and liabilities using the rate of income tax in effect on the date of 
the consolidated statement of financial position. 

The amount of deferred income taxes has been immaterial to-date. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.18 Earnings per share   

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year (the numerator) by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding (the denominator) during the year.  Diluted earnings per share measure 
performance incorporating the effect that potential common shares, such as stock options and restricted stock units 
outstanding during the same period, would have on net earnings per share.  The computation of diluted earnings per 
share is similar to the computation of basic earnings per share, except for the denominator, which is increased to 
include the number of additional common shares that would have been issued if the beneficiaries of stock purchase 
options and other stock plans could exercise their options.  The number of potential common shares that would be 
issued is determined using the treasury stock method. 

3.19 Treasury shares and contracts on own shares 

The own equity instruments of the Bank which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries (treasury shares) are 
deducted from equity and accounted for at weighted average cost. Consideration paid or received on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of the Bank’s own equity instruments is recognized directly in equity. 

No gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of own equity instruments. 

3.20 Segment reporting 

The Bank’s segment reporting is based on the following business segments: Commercial, which incorporates the 
Bank’s core business of financial intermediation and fee generation activities relating to the Bank’s Commercial 
Portfolio; and Treasury, which is responsible for the Bank’s funding and liquidity management, along with the 
management of its activities in investment securities, as well as the management of the Bank’s interest rate, 
liquidity, price, and currency risks. 

3.21 Judgments, estimates and significant accounting assumptions 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and use 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the 
date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. 
Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changes relate to the determination of the 
allowances for expected credit losses, impairment of securities, and the fair value of financial instruments.  Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. Management believes these estimates are adequate.   

 Judgments 

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 

 Reserve for expected credit losses 

When determining the reserve for expected credit losses, management’s judgment is required for evaluating the 
amount and timing of future cash flows in order to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, considering the characteristics of the loans and the default patterns in the past for comparable 
financial instruments.  Changes in the risk of a default occurring over the next 12 months may be a reasonable 
approximation of the changes in the lifetime risk of a default occurring.  The Bank uses changes in the risk of a 
default occurring over the next 12 months to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, unless circumstances indicate that a lifetime assessment is necessary.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.21 Judgments, estimates and significant accounting assumptions (continued) 

Fair value measurement 

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated statement of financial 
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that 
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where 
possible, but if this is not available, judgment is required to establish fair values. The judgments include 
considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for longer–dated derivatives and discount rates, 
prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset-backed securities. The valuation of financial instruments is 
described in more detail in Note 17.

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimating uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below.  The Bank based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available 
when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.  Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments; however, may change due to market changes or circumstances beyond the control of the Bank.  Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Going concern  

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that it 
has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.  

Impairment losses on loans and advances at amortized cost 

The Bank reviews its individually significant loans and advances at amortized cost at each statement-of-financial-
position date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. In particular, management’s judgment is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash 
flows when determining the impairment loss. These estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors 
and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.  Loans and advances at amortized cost 
that have been assessed individually (and found not to be impaired) are assessed together with all individually 
insignificant loans and advances in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics. This is to determine whether 
provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence, but the effects of which 
are not yet evident.  

The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as levels of arrears, credit utilization, 
loan-to-collateral ratios, etc.), and judgments on the effect of concentrations of risks and economic data (including 
levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups).  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.21 Judgments, estimates and significant accounting assumptions (continued) 

Impairment of investments measured at fair value through OCI 

The Bank reviews its debt securities classified as investments at fair value through OCI at each reporting date to 
assess whether they are impaired. This requires similar judgment as applied to the individual assessment of loans 
and advances. The Bank records impairment charges when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the 
fair value below their cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. In making 
this judgment, the Bank evaluates, among other factors, historical price movements and duration and extent to 
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.  

Early adoption of accounting policies 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together the three 
aspects of accounting financial instruments project: Classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 
accounting.  IFRS 9 is effective for annual years beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application 
permitted.   

These financial statements reflect the Bank’s decision to early-adopt IFRS 9. The Bank conducted an impact 
assessment of the three aspects of IFRS 9.  Overall, the Bank has not determined any significant impact on its 
consolidated statement of financial position as a result of early adoption of IFRS 9.  

(a) Classification and measurement 

The Bank did not observed any significant impact on its consolidated statement of financial position or consolidated 
statement of changes in equity in the application of the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. The 
Bank continues with the measurement of all financial assets at fair value. Investments in securities held both for 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets continue to be measured at fair value through OCI.  For 
investments in foreign exchange, the effect of the foreign exchange is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. 

Loans and trade receivables generate contractual cash flows expected to represent only payments of principal and 
interest. Therefore, these instruments are recorded at amortized cost under IFRS 9.  The Bank analyzed the 
characteristics of contractual cash flow of these instruments in detail before concluding whether all these instruments 
meet the criteria for measurement at amortized cost under IFRS 9.  

(b) Impairment  

IFRS 9 requires the Bank’s expected credit losses to be recorded in all of its financial instruments, either on the 
basis of 12 months or for the life of the asset.  The Bank applied the three-stage model of ECLs on all financial 
instruments. The Bank assessed the impact of its current model and the model required by IFRS 9, and determined 
no significant impact, mainly due to the nature of its business, which focuses on predominantly short-term credit 
exposures. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

3.21 Judgments, estimates and significant accounting assumptions (continued) 

Early adoption of accounting policies (continued) 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(c) Hedge accounting 

All existing hedging relationships that are currently designated in effective hedging relationships qualify for hedge 
accounting under IFRS 9. Bank did not determine any significant impact as a result of the application of IFRS 9. 

3.22 Future changes in applicable accounting policies 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Bank 
financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they 
become effective. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. 

The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full 
retrospective application or a modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018, when the IASB finalizes their amendments to defer the effective date of IFRS 15 by one year. Early 
adoption is permitted. The Bank plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date using the full 
retrospective method. During 2015, the Bank performed a preliminary assessment of IFRS 15, which is subject to 
changes arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis. Furthermore, the Bank is considering the clarifications 
issued by the IASB in an exposure draft in July 2015 and will monitor any further developments. 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases. The objective is to ensure that lessees and lessors provide relevant information in a manner that 
faithfully represents those transactions. IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of 
low value. 

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for 
entities that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial application of 
IFRS 16.  IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 – Leases. The Bank is evaluating the potential impact of this new 
standard.in its consolidated financial statements.  
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4. Cash and cash equivalents 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 

Cash and due from banks 2,601 4,985 2,161
Interest-bearing deposits in banks 1,297,365 775,530 837,557
Total 1,299,966 780,515 839,718

Less:  
Pledged deposits 32,664 39,210 9,032
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,267,302 741,305  830,686

Interest-bearing deposits in banks 

Demand deposits  

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, cash in banks balances correspond to bank deposits, 
bearing interest based on the daily rates determined by banks for between 0.01% and 0.27%; 0.05% to 0.25% and 
0.09% to 0.25%, respectively. 
  
Time deposits 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, cash equivalents balances correspond to demand deposits 
(overnight), bearing an average interest rate of 0.20% to 0.35%; 0.13% to 0.20% and 0.08% to 0.20%, respectively. 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014 and January 1, 2014 the New York Agency had a pledged deposit with a carrying 
value of $3.3 million, $3.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively, with the New York State Banking Department, as 
required by law since March 1994. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and January 1, 2014, the Bank had pledged 
deposits with a carrying value of $29.3 million, $36.2 million and $6.0 million, respectively, to secure derivative 
financial instruments transactions and repurchase agreements. 

5. Financial instruments 

5.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

The fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL is as follows: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
      Interest rate swaps                                                                                                   15 52 65
      Forward foreign exchange 74 -  -
      Cross currency swaps - -  7
      Total 89 52  72
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued) 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 2014, information on the nominal amounts of derivative financial 
instruments at FVTPL is as follows: 

 December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014  January 1, 2014 

Nominal 
Amount 

 Fair Value  Nominal 
Amount 

 Fair Value  Nominal 
Amount 

 Fair Value 
  Asset  Liability  Asset  Liability   Asset  Liability 
Interest 
rate swaps 14,000  -  15 14,000  -  52  14,000  -  65 

Forward 
foreign 
exchange 1,675  -  74  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Cross 
currency 
swaps -  -  -  -  -  -  600  -  7 

Total   15,675  
           

-            89    14,000  
          

-            52  14,600  -  72 

5.2 Investment Funds at FVTPL 

The Bank maintains an investment in the Alpha4X Feeder Fund (the “Feeder”) which is organized under a “Feeder-
Master” structure. Under this structure, the Feeder invests all of its assets in the Master which in turn invests in 
various assets on behalf of its investor.  The investment funds consist of the net asset value (NAV) of Bladex’s 
investment in the Feeder and in the Brazilian Fund. 

Since January 2014, the changes of the Bank´s investment in the Feeder is recorded in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss of that fund in the “Gain (loss) per financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss” line item.  
The Feeder is not consolidated in the Bank’s financial statements as a result of the evaluation of control as per IFRS 
10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” according to which the existing rights on the fund do not give the Bank the 
ability to direct the relevant activities of the fund nor the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its return. 
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 the Bank has a participation in that fund of 47.71%, 49.61% 
and 55.87%, respectively. 

Bladex also reports the changes in the NAV of the Brazilian Fund in the “Gain (loss) per financial instruments at fair 
value through profit and loss" line item, which the Bank does not consolidate, because the existing rights on this fund 
do not give the Bank the ability to direct its relevant activities nor the ability to use its power over the investee to 
affect its return. This investment is adjusted to recognize the Bank's participation in the profits and losses of the fund 
in the line “gain (loss) per financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” of the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.2 Investment Funds at FVTPL (continued) 

The following table summarizes the balances of investments in investment funds: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Alpha4X Feeder Fund 49,585 52,472 63,170
Alpha4X Latam Fundo de Investimento  Multimercado 3,826 5,102 5,592

53,411 57,574  68,762

On February, May and November 2015, the Bank redeemed a total of $8.0 million of its investment in the Fund. The 
Bank has a commitment to remain as an investor in these funds, with possibility of contractual redemptions, until 
March 31, 2016. 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income 

The amortized cost, related unrealized gross gain (loss) and fair value of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income by country risk and type of debt are as follows: 

  December 31, 2015 
    Unrealized   

Amortized 
Cost  Gain  Loss  Fair Value 

Corporate debt: 
  Brazil 31,831 - 3,000 28,831 
  Chile 8,205 - 209 7,996 
  Colombia 17,815 - 7,110 10,705 
  Honduras 7,195 - 61 7,134 
  Panama 4,648 - 73 4,575 
  Peru 7,339 - 64 7,275 
  Venezuela 18,392 - 93 18,299 

95,425 - 10,610 84,815

Sovereign debt: 
  Brazil 11,625 - 1,285 10,340 
  Chile 10,536 - 323 10,213 
  Colombia 12,046 - 670 11,376 
  Mexico 17,272 - 681 16,591 
  Trinidad and Tobago 9,705 - 1,237 8,468 

61,184 - 4,196 56,988
156,609 - 14,806 141,803
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

  December 31, 2014 

    Unrealized   
Amortized 

Cost  Gain  Loss  Fair Value 
Corporate debt: 
  Brazil 36,575 - 848 35,727 
  Colombia 24,139 - 1,828 22,311 
  Chile 12,215 - 201 12,014 
  Honduras 7,325 - 33 7,292 
  Panama 4,701 - 56 4,645 
  Peru 16,911 - 129 16,782 
  Venezuela 20,299 34 9 20,324 

122,165 34 3,104 119,095

Sovereign debt: 
  Brazil 21,899 94 444 21,549
  Colombia 55,415 1 1,239 54,177
  Chile 11,669 - 398 11,271
  Mexico  98,430 4 1,587 96,847
  Panama  17,692 10 306 17,396
  Peru  9,052 2 14 9,040
  Trinidad and Tobago  10,113 - 515 9,598

224,270 111 4,503 219,878
346,435 145 7,607 338,973
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

  January 1, 2014 

    Unrealized   
Amortized 

Cost  Gain  Loss  Fair Value 
Corporate debt: 
  Brazil 41,439 11 778 40,672
  Colombia 44,536 65 1,351 43,250 
  Chile 21,807 15 751 21,071 
  Honduras 9,400 - 136 9,264 
  Panama 7,159 - 78 7,081 
  Peru 29,439 42 674 28,807 
  Venezuela 29,871 - 1,848 28,023 

183,651 133 5,616 178,168

Sovereign debt: 
  Brazil 32,751 936 645 33,042
  Colombia 42,776 - 1,125 41,651
  Chile 20,772 12 610 20,174
  Mexico  35,730 - 2,445 33,285
  Panama  12,485 71 553 12,003
  Peru  11,589 - 65 11,524
  Trinidad and Tobago  4,665 - 144 4,521

160,768 1,019 5,587 156,200
344,419 1,152 11,203 334,368

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 securities at fair value through OCI with a carrying value of 
$87.6 million, $307.5 million and $296.8 million, respectively, were pledged to secure repurchase transactions 
accounted for as secured financings.  

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 securities at fair value through OCI with a carrying value of $56.0 million and 
$18.0 million, respectively, were reclassified into securities at amortized cost as part of the overall investment 
portfolio management strategy. The securities transferred maintained the same business model and cash flow 
characteristics that meet the SPPI (sole purpose of principal and interest collection) criterion, so they can be 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

The following table discloses those securities that have had unrealized losses for a period less than 12 months and for 
12 months or longer: 

December 31, 2015 
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer  Total 

  Fair  
Value 

Unrealized 
Gross Losses 

Fair  
Value 

Unrealized 
Gross 
Losses 

Fair  
Value 

Unrealized 
Gross Losses

Corporate debt 63,611 1,010 21,204 9,600 84,815 10,610
Sovereign debt  23,468  846  33,520  3,350  56,988  4,196
Total  87,079  1,856  54,724  12,950  141,803  14,806

December 31, 2014 
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer  Total 

  
Fair  

Value 
Unrealized 

Gross Losses
Fair  

Value 
Unrealized 

Gross Losses
Fair  

Value 
Unrealized 

Gross Losses
Corporate debt 87,077 2,513 13,334 561 100,411 3,074
Sovereign debt  101,789  1,601  77,199  2,932  178,988 4,533 
Total  188,866  4,114  90,533  3,493  279,399 7,607 

January 1, 2014 
Less than 12 months 12 months or longer  Total 

  
Fair  

Value 
Unrealized 

Gross Losses
Fair  

Value 
Unrealized 

Gross Losses
Fair  

Value 
Unrealized 

Gross Losses
Corporate debt 136,895 5,113 6,866 503 143,761 5,616
Sovereign debt  107,239  5,210  18,557  377  125,796  5,587
Total  244,134  10,323  25,423  880  269,557  11,203
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

The following table presents the realized gains and losses on sale of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income: 

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

Realized gain on sale of securities  469 1,891
Realized loss on sale of securities             (106)                  (20)
Net gain (loss) on sale of securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  363 1,871

Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income classified by issuer’s credit quality indicators are as 
follows 

Rating 
(1)

December 31 
2015 

December 31 
2014 

January 1 
2014

1-4 133,989 338,973 236,595
5-6 6,224 - 97,773
7 1,590 - -
8 - - -
9 - - -

10 - - -
Total 141,803 338,973 334,368

(1) Current ratings as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively.
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

The amortized cost and fair value of securities at fair value through other comprehensive income by contractual 
maturity as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 are shown in the following tables: 

December 31, 2015 

Amortized Cost  Fair Value 
Due within 1 year 21,068 20,212
After 1 year but within 5 years 79,689 69,625
After 5 years but within 10 years 55,852 51,966

156,609 141,803

December 31, 2014 

Amortized Cost  Fair Value 
Due within 1 year 85,496 85,579
After 1 year but within 5 years 139,547 135,662
After 5 years but within 10 years 121,392 117,732

346,435 338,973

January 1, 2014 

Amortized Cost  Fair Value 
Due within 1 year 25,970 26,257
After 1 year but within 5 years 177,810 176,622
After 5 years but within 10 years 140,639 131,489

344,419 334,368
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

The allowance for expected credit losses relating to securities at fair value through other comprehensive income is as 
follow: 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(collectively 
 assessed) 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 
financial 

assets (lifetime 
expected 

credit losses) Total 
Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of 
December 31, 2014 

                  
701                1,408                      -                        -   

               
2,109 

Transfer to lifetime expected   
  credit losses 

               
(5,507)                  5,507   -  -                       -   

Transfer to credit-impaired 
financial assets                      -                   (6,737)  -                  6,737                       -   

Transfer to 12-month 
expected credit losses  -                       -                         -                         -                         -   

Financial assets that have 
been derecognized during the 
year 

                 
(277)   -  -   -  

                 
(277) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as of 
December 31, 2014  

                 
(5,784)                 (1,230)   -                  6,737 

                
(277) 

New financial assets 
originated or purchased 

                
5,317   -   -   - 

                
5,317 

Write-offs  -   -   -   -                       -   
Changes in models/risk 
parameters  -   -   -   -                       -   

Foreign exchange and other 
movements  -   -   -   -                       -   

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of 
December 31, 2015 

                  
234                   178                      -                  6,737 

               
7,149 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.3 Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued) 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(collectively  

assessed) 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 
financial 

assets (lifetime 
expected 

credit losses) Total 

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of January 
1, 2014 

                  
841                   325  -  - 

               
1,166 

Transfer to lifetime expected 
credit losses 

               
(1,408)                  1,408   -   - 

                     
-   

Transfer to credit-impaired 
financial assets  -   -   -   - 

                     
-   

Transfer to 12-month 
expected credit losses 

                    
17                     (17)   -   -  

                     
-   

Financial assets that have 
been derecognized during 
the year 

                 
(443)                   (308)   -   - 

                 
(751) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as 
of January 1, 2014  

                 
(1,834)                  1,083   -   - 

                   
(751) 

New financial assets 
originated or purchased 

                
1,694   -   -   - 

                
1,694 

Write-offs  -   -   -   - 
                     

-   
Changes in models/risk 
parameters  -   -   -   - 

                     
-   

Foreign exchange and other 
movements  -   -   -  - 

                     
-   

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of 
December 31, 2014 

                  
701                1,408                      -                        -   

               
2,109 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.4 Securities at amortized cost 

The amortized cost, related unrealized gross gain (loss) and fair value of these securities by country risk and type of 
debt are as follows: 

  December 31, 2015 
    Unrealized   

Amortized 
Cost (1) Gross Gain  Gross Loss  Fair Value 

Corporate debt: 
  Brazil 1,484 - 383 1,101

  Costa Rica 5,000 - - 5,000

  Panama 20,008 45 - 20,053

26,492 45 383 26,154

Sovereign debt: 
  Brazil 21,903 - 3,260 18,643 

  Colombia 30,599 - 1,530 29,069 

  Mexico 20,871 - 1,684 19,187 

  Panama 8,876 4 - 8,880 

82,249 4 6,474 75,779
108,741 49 6,857 101,933

  December 31, 2014 
    Unrealized   

Amortized 
Cost (2) Gross Gain  Gross Loss  Fair Value 

Corporate debt: 
  Brazil 18,660 - 1,794 16,866
  Panama 23,351 35 - 23,386

42,011 35 1,794 40,252

Sovereign debt: 
  Colombia 13,003 40 - 13,043

13,003 40 - 13,043
55,014 75 1,794 53,295

(1) Amounts do not include allowance for expected credit losses of US$526. 
(2) Amounts do not include allowance for expected credit losses of US$276. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.4 Securities at amortized cost (continued) 

  January 1, 2014 
    Unrealized   

Amortized 
Cost (1)  Gross Gain  Gross Loss  Fair Value 

Corporate debt: 
  Costa Rica 2,000 - - 2,000
  Honduras 4,118 - - 4,118
  Panama 14,634 8 18 14,624

20,752 8 18 20,742

Sovereign debt: 
  Colombia 13,007 - 115 12,892

13,007 - 115 12,892
33,759 8 133 33,364

(1) Amounts does not include allowance for expected credit losses of US$189 

The amortized cost and fair value of securities at amortized cost by contractual maturity as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, and January 1, 2014 are shown in the following tables: 

December 31, 2015 
Amortized 

Cost  
Fair  

Value 
    

Due within 1 year 28,454 28,474
After 1 year but within 5 years 43,236 39,206
After 5 years but within 10 years 37,051 34,253

108,741 101,933
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.4 Securities at amortized cost (continued) 

December 31, 2014 
Amortized 

Cost  
Fair  

Value 
Due within 1 year 34,324 34,376
After 1 year but within 5 years 20,690 18,919

55,014 53,295

January 1, 2014 
Amortized 

Cost  
Fair  

Value 
Due within 1 year 18,701 18,709
After 1 year but within 5 years 15,058 14,925

33,759 33,634

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 securities at amortized cost with a carrying value of $56.3 
million, $13.0 million and $13.0 million, respectively,  were pledged to secure repurchase transactions accounted for 
as secured financings. 

Securities at amortized cost classified by issuer’s credit quality indicators are as follows:  

Rating (1)
December 31 

2015  
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
1-4 94,257 46,114 8,169
5-6 14,484 8,900 25,590
7 - - -
8 - - -
9 - - -
10 - - -

Total 108,741 55,014 33,759

(1) Current ratings as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively.  
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.4 Securities at amortized cost (continued) 

The allowance for expected credit losses relating to securities at amortized cost is as follow: 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit losses 
(collectively 
 assessed) 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 

financial assets 
(lifetime 

expected credit 
losses) Total 

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of December 
31, 2014 

                  
276                      -                        -                        -   

                  
276 

Transfer to lifetime expected 
credit losses 

                 
(178)                     178   -   - 

                     
-   

Transfer to credit-impaired 
financial assets  -   -   -   - 

                     
-   

Transfer to 12-month 
expected credit losses  -   -   -   - 

                     
-   

Financial assets that have 
been derecognized during the 
year 

                 
(207)   -   -   - 

                 
(207) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as of 
December 31, 2014  

                    
(385)                     178   -  -  

                   
(207) 

New financial assets 
originated or purchased 

                   
457   -   -   - 

                   
457 

Write-offs  -   -   -   - 
                     

-   
Changes in models/risk 
parameters  -   -   -  - 

                     
-   

Foreign exchange and other 
movements  -   -   -   - 

                     
-   

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of December 
31, 2015 

                  
348                   178                      -                        -   

                  
526 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.4 Securities at amortized cost (continued) 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(collectively  

assessed) 

Lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 

financial assets 
(lifetime 

expected credit 
losses) Total 

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of January 1, 
2014 189 - - - 189 
Transfer to lifetime expected 
credit losses -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer to credit-impaired 
financial assets -  -  -  -  - 

Transfer to 12-month 
expected credit losses -  -  -  -  - 

Financial assets that have 
been derecognized during the 
year (128)  -  -  -  (128) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as of 
January 1, 2014  (128)  -  -  -  (128) 

New financial assets 
originated or purchased 215  -  -  -  215 

Write-offs -  -    -  - 
Changes in models/risk 
parameters -  -  -  -  - 

Foreign exchange and other 
movements -  -  -  -  - 

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of December 
31, 2014 276 - - - 276 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.5 Recognition and derecognition of financial assets 

During the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Bank sold certain financial instruments measured at 
amortized cost. These sales were made on the basis of compliance with the Bank's strategy to optimize the loan 
portfolio. 

The amounts and gains arising from the derecognition of these financial instruments are presented in the following 
table.  These gains are presented within the line “gain on sale of loans” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost 

The following table set forth details of the Bank’s gross loan portfolio: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Corporations:
  Private 3,254,792 3,120,005 2,375,178
  State-owned 461,573 711,955 938,878
Banking and financial institutions: 
  Private 1,974,960 1,890,605 1,785,798
  State-owned 612,677 480,331 474,193
Middle-market companies: 
  Private 387,747 483,348 574,107
  Sovereign - - 144
Total 6,691,749 6,686,244  6,148,298

The composition of the gross loan portfolio by industry is as follows: 

  

Assignments and  
Participations          Gains 

    
For the year ended December 31, 2015 92,438 422
For the year ended December 31, 2014 515,552 2,169

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Banking and financial institutions 2,587,637 2,370,936 2,259,991
Industrial 1,142,385 1,325,091 936,290
Oil and petroleum derived products 828,355 1,013,324 1,170,684
Agricultural 1,140,124 1,132,330 924,251
Services 670,013 617,366 398,736
Mining 110,655 38,572 10,000
Sovereign - - 144
Others 212,580 188,625 448,202
Total 6,691,749 6,686,244  6,148,298
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

Loans are reported at their amortized cost considering the principal outstanding amounts net of unearned interest, 
deferred fees and allowance for expected credit losses. 

The amortization of net unearned interest and deferred fees are recognized as an adjustment to the related loan yield 
using the effective interest rate method. 

The unearned discount interest and deferred commission amounted to $9,304, $8,509 and $6,668 at December 31, 
2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively 

Loans classified by borrower’s credit quality indicators are as follows:  

December 31, 2014 

Corporations 
Banking and financial 

institutions 

Middle-
market 

companies  

Rating 
(1)

Private 
State-
owned Private 

State-
owned Private Sovereign Total 

1-4 2,666,140 563,822 1,594,961 232,429 345,492 - 5,402,844
5-6  445,939 148,133 295,644 247,902 136,947 1,274,565
7 4,801 - - - - - 4,801
8 - - - - 909 - 909
9 - - - - - - -
10 3,125 - - - - - 3,125

Total 3,120,005 711,955 1,890,605 480,331 483,348 - 6,686,244

1) Current ratings as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively. 

  

December 31, 2015 

  Corporations 
Banking and financial 

institutions 

Middle-
market 

companies  

Rating (1) Private 
State-
owned Private 

State-
owned Private Sovereign Total 

1-4 2,644,758 351,216 1,757,668 309,559 212,746 - 5,275,947
5-6  558,612 110,357 217,292 303,118 174,094 - 1,363,473
7 46,716 - - - - - 46,716
8 - - - - - - -
9 - - - - - - -
10 4,706 - - - 907 - 5,613

Total 3,254,792 461,573 1,974,960 612,677 387,747  - 6,691,749
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

January 1, 2014 

Corporations 
Banking and 

financial institutions 

Middle-
market 

companies  

Rating 
(1) 

Private 
State-
owned Private 

State-
owned Private Sovereign Total 

1-4 526,940 605,529 657,924 54,563 14,392 144 1,859,492
5-6  1,845,113 333,349 1,127,874 419,630 559,715 4,285,681
7 - - - - - - -
8 3,125 - - - - - 3,125
9 - - - - - - -
10 - - - - - - -

Total 2,375,178 938,878 1,785,798 474,193 574,107 144 6,148,298

1) Current ratings as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively. 

The remaining loan maturities are summarized as follows: 

December 31 
2015 

December 31 
2014 

January 1 
2014 

Current: 
  Up to 1 month 1,031,608 947,624 1,017,794
  From 1 month to 3 months 1,336,901 1,502,905 1,749,348
  From 3 months to 6 months          1,094,885 1,268,478 949,364
  From 6 months to 1 year          1,170,114 1,067,073 774,803
  From 1 year to 2 years          1,000,553 989,805 942,327
  From 2 years to 5 years              967,416 870,163 711,537
  More than 5 years                37,943 31,361 -

6,639,420 6,677,409 6,145,173

Delinquent - 4,801 -

Impaired 52,329 4,034 3,125
Total 6,691,749 6,686,244 6,148,298
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

The following table provides a breakdown of gross loans by country risk: 

  

  
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Country: 
   Argentina 142,437 184,882 189,828
  Belgium 12,629 - -
  Bermuda 19,600 - -
  Bolivia 19,911 10,000 -
  Brazil 1,605,497 1,971,776 1,708,592
  Chile 195,290 157,309 490,869
  Colombia 620,547 726,085 701,577
  Costa Rica 341,490 320,832 410,295
  Dominican Republic 384,353 243,038 190,589
  Ecuador 169,164 120,010 126,001
  El Salvador 68,465 115,830 123,076
  France 6,000 6,000 101,006
  Germany 97,000 100,000 -
  Guatemala 457,700 262,733 199,873
  Honduras 118,109 93,008 73,524
  Jamaica 16,520 15,512 60,784
  Mexico 788,893 868,045 517,278
  Netherlands - 10,455 14,867
  Nicaragua 16,820 7,856 7,823
  Panama 455,405 320,758 223,505
  Paraguay 116,348 132,479 102,244
  Peru 511,250 589,724 580,881
  Singapore 11,655 - -
  Switzerland 44,650 50,000 -
  Trinidad and Tobago 200,000 165,042 142,642
  United States of America 53,516 55,370 28,283
  Uruguay 218,500 159,500 154,761

Total 6,691,749 6,686,244 6,148,298
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

The fixed and floating interest rate distribution of the loan portfolio is as follows: 

  
December 31  

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 

Fixed interest rates 3,177,147 3,322,817 3,252,331
Floating interest rates 3,514,602 3,363,427 2,895,967

Total 6,691,749 6,686,244 6,148,298

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, 90%, 89%, and 92% respectively, of the loan portfolio at 
fixed interest rates has remaining maturities of less than 180 days. 

An analysis of credit- impaired balances as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 is detailed as follows: 

  December 31, 2015 2015 
  

Recorded 
investment

Unpaid 
principal 
balance

Related 
allowance 

Stage 3

Average 
principal 

loan 
balance 

Interest 
income 

recognized
With an allowance 
recorded: 
Private corporations  51,422 4,706 20,703 9,946 230 
Middle-market companies 907 907 448 7,472 49 
Total  52,329 5,613 21,151 17,418               279 

  December 31, 2014 2014 
  

Recorded 
investment

Unpaid 
principal 
balance

Related 
allowance 

Stage 3

Average 
principal 

loan 
balance 

Interest 
income 

recognized
With an allowance 
recorded: 
Private corporations  3,125 2,813 2,497 3,125 97 
Middle-market companies 909 40 157 339 91 
Total  4,034 2,853 2,654 3,464 188 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

  January 1, 2014 2014 
  

Recorded 
investment

Unpaid 
principal 
balance

Related 
allowance 

Stage 3

Average 
principal 

loan 
balance 

Interest 
income 

recognized
With an allowance 
recorded: 
Private corporations  3,125 3,125 1,005 9 51 
Total  3,125 3,125 1,005 9 51 

The following is a summary of information of interest amounts recognized on an effective interest basis on net 
carrying amount for those financial assets in Stage 3: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
Interest revenue calculated on the net carrying amount(net of credit 
allowance) 279 188

The following table presents an aging analysis of the loan portfolio: 

December 31, 2015 

91-120
 days 

121-
150 

 days 

151-
180 

 days 

Greater
than 
180 
days 

Total
Past 
due Delinquent Current 

Total 
Loans 

Corporations - - - 4,706 4,706 - 3,711,659 3,716,365
Banking and 
financial 
institutions - - - - - - 2,587,637 2,587,637
Middle-
market 
companies - - - 907 907 - 386,840 387,747
Sovereign  -  -  -  -  -  - - -
Total  -  -  - 5,613 5,613 - 6,686,136 6,691,749
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

December 31, 2014 

91-
120 

 days 

121-
150 

 days 

151-
180 

 days 

Greater
than 
180 
days 

Total
Past 
due Delinquent Current 

Total 
Loans 

Corporations - - - 3,125 3,125 4,801 3,824,034 3,831,960
Banking and 
financial 
institutions - - - - - - 2,370,936 2,370,936
Middle-market 
companies 909 - - - 909 - 482,439 483,348
Sovereign  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -
Total  909  -  -  3,125  4,034  4,801 6,677,409 6,686,244 

January 1, 2014 

91-
120 

 days 

121-
150 

 days 

151-
180 

 days 

Greater
than 
180 
days 

Total
Past 
due Delinquent Current 

Total 
Loans 

Corporations - - - - - 3,125 3,310,931 3,314,056
Banking and 
financial 
institutions - - - - - - 2,259,991 2,259,991
Middle-market 
companies - - - - - - 574,107 574,107
Sovereign - -  - -  -  - 144 144
Total - -  - - - 3,125 6,145,173 6,148,298

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 the Bank had credit transactions in the normal course of 
business with 16%, 15% and 20%, respectively, of its Class “A” and “B” stockholders.  All transactions were made 
based on arm’s-length terms and subject to prevailing commercial criteria and market rates and were subject to all of 
the Bank’s Corporate Governance and control procedures.  As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, 
approximately 9%, 8%, and 12%, respectively, of the outstanding loan portfolio was placed with the Bank’s Class 
“A” and “B” stockholders and their related parties.  As of December 31, 2015, the Bank was not directly or indirectly 
owned or controlled by another corporation or any foreign government, and no Class “A” or “B” shareholder was the 
registered owner of more than 3.5% of the total outstanding shares of the voting capital stock of the Bank. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

The allowances for expected credit losses related to loans at amortized cost at December 31, 2015 and 2014 as 
follows: 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit losses 
(collectively 

assessed) 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 
financial 

assets 
(lifetime 
expected 

credit losses) Total 

Allowance for expected credit 
losses  as of December 31, 2014         37,469         37,564                -             2,654         77,687 
Transfer to lifetime expected 
credit losses          (9,147)            9,147                 -                   -                    -   
Transfer to credit-impaired 
financial assets                 -           (24,186)                 -            24,186                  -   
Transfer to 12-month expected 
credit losses              101              (101)                 -                   -                    -   

Financial assets that have been 
derecognized during the year        (31,774)         (12,815)                 -                   -           (44,589) 
Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as of 
December 31, 2014  (40,820)         (27,955)                 -            24,186 

        
(44,589) 

New financial assets originated 
or purchased         62,565                  -                   -                   -            62,565 
Write-offs                 -                    -                   -            (5,689)           (5,689) 
Changes in models/risk 
parameters                 -                    -                   -                   -                    -   
Foreign exchange and other 
movements                 -                    -                   -                   -                    -   
Allowance for expected credit 
losses as of December 31, 2015         59,214           9,609                -           21,151         89,974 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.6 Loans – at amortized cost (continued) 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit losses 
(collectively 

assessed) 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 
financial 

assets 
(lifetime 
expected 

credit losses) Total 

Allowance for expected credit 
losses as of January 1, 2014         55,979         13,892                -             1,005         70,876 
Transfer to lifetime expected 
credit losses        (36,478)          36,478                 -                   -                    -   
Transfer to credit-impaired 
financial assets                 -             (1,649)                 -              1,649                  -   
Transfer to 12-month expected 
credit losses              263              (263)                 -                   -                    -   
Financial assets that have been 
derecognized during the year        (50,467)         (10,894)                 -                   -           (61,361) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as of 
January 1, 2014         (86,682)  23,672                 -              1,649 

          
(61,361) 

New financial assets originated 
or purchased         68,172                  -                   -                   -            68,172 

Write-offs                 -                    -                   -                   -                    -   
Changes in models/risk 
parameters                 -                    -                   -                   -                    -   
Foreign exchange and other 
movements                 -                    -                   -                   -                    -   

Allowance for expected credit 
losses as of December 31, 2014         37,469 37,564                -             2,654         77,687 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.7 Financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk 

In the normal course of business, to meet the financing needs of its customers, the Bank is party to financial 
instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk.  These financial instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of 
credit and market risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position.  Credit 
risk represents the possibility of loss resulting from the failure of a customer to perform in accordance with the terms 
of a contract.   

The Bank’s outstanding financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk are as follows: 

December 31 
2015 

December 31 
2014  

January 1  
2014 

Confirmed letters of credit 99,031 137,817 221,963
Stand-by letters of credit and guaranteed –   
 Commercial risk 158,599 89,752 137,285
Credit commitments 189,820 158,549 121,175
  Total 447,450  386,118  480,423

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 the remaining maturity profile of the Bank’s outstanding 
financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk is as follows: 

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk classified by issuer’s credit quality indicators are as follows: 

Rating 
(1)

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

January 1     
2014

1-4 276,860 256,717 51,175
5-6 170,590 129,401 429,248
7 - - -
8 - - -
9 - - -
10 - - -

Total 447,450 386,118 480,423

(1) Current ratings as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively. 

  

Maturities
December 31 

2015  
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Up to 1 year 424,687 292,720 353,721
From 1 to 2 years 22,185 41,269 93,175
From 2 to 5 years - 51,551 32,905
More than 5 years 578 578 622

447,450 386,118 480,423
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.7 Financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk (continued) 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 the breakdown of the Bank’s off-balance sheet exposure by 
country risk is as follows:  

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31  

2014 
January 1  

2014 
Country: 
  Argentina 10,145 - 295
  Bolivia 1,261 - 80
  Brazil 17,291 19,698 22,567
  Chile - 27,802 -
  Colombia 96,085 53,874 38,545
  Costa Rica - - 897
  Dominican Republic 4,527 14,806 108
  Ecuador 88,585 86,436 153,072
  El Salvador 145 25 25
  Guatemala - 37,988 43,548
  Honduras 876 412 412
  Jamaica - 415 338
  Mexico 46,994 64,324 20,969
  Netherlands - - 17,833
  Panama 136,022 20,675 96,943
  Paraguay 43 418 2
  Peru 19,018 16,225 41,063
  Singapore 25,000 - -
  Switzerland 1,000 1,000 1,000
  United Kingdom  70 -  70
  Uruguay 388 40,946 40,946
  Venezuela - 1,074 1,710
Total 447,450 386,118 480,423
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.7 Financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk (continued) 

Letters of credit and guarantees 

The Bank, on behalf of its clients base, advises and confirms letters of credit to facilitate foreign trade transactions.  
When confirming letters of credit, the Bank adds its own unqualified assurance that the issuing bank will pay and that 
if the issuing bank does not honor drafts drawn on the letter of credit, the Bank will.  The Bank provides stand-by 
letters of credit and guarantees, which are issued on behalf of institutional clients in connection with financing 
between its clients and third parties.  The Bank applies the same credit policies used in its lending process, and once 
issued the commitment is irrevocable and remains valid until its expiration.  Credit risk arises from the Bank's 
obligation to make payment in the event of a client’s contractual default to a third party.  Risks associated with stand-
by letters of credit and guarantees are included in the evaluation of the Bank’s overall credit risk. 

Credit commitments
Commitments to extend credit are binding legal agreements to lend to clients.  Commitments generally have fixed 
expiration dates or other termination clauses and require payment of a fee to the Bank.  As some commitments expire 
without being drawn down, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.7 Financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk (continued) 

The allowances for credit losses related to financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk at December 31, 
2015 and 2014 as follows: 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 
(collectively 

assessed) 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 
financial 

assets 
(lifetime 
expected 

credit losses) Total 

Allowance for expected 
credit losses  as of 
December 31, 2014           7,079           2,794                -                  -             9,873 
Transfer to lifetime 
expected credit losses                 -            (2,177)           2,177                -                   -   

Transfer to credit-
impaired financial assets                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Transfer to 12-month 
expected credit losses                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Financial assets that have 
been derecognized during 
the year          (6,908)             (284)                -                  -            (7,192) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as 
of December 31, 2014           (6,908)           (2,461)            2,177                 -             (7,192) 

New financial assets 
originated or purchased           2,743                 -                  -                  -             2,743 

Write-offs                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   
Changes in models/risk 
parameters                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Foreign exchange and 
other movements                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Allowance for expected 
credit losses as of 
December 31, 2015           2,914              333           2,177                -             5,424 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.7 Financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk (continued) 

12-month 
expected 

credit losses 

Lifetime 
expected 

credit losses 
(collectively 

assessed) 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 
(individually 

assessed) 

Credit-
impaired 
financial 

assets 
(lifetime 
expected 

credit losses) Total 

Allowance for expected credit 
losses as of  January 1, 2014           5,884              170                -                  -             6,054 
Transfer to lifetime expected 

credit losses          (2,794)           2,794                -                  -                   -   
Transfer to credit-impaired 

financial assets                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   
Transfer to 12-month expected 

credit losses                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Financial assets that have been 
derecognized during the year          (5,446)             (170)                -                  -            (5,616) 

Changes due to financial 
instruments recognized as of 
January 1,2014  

          
(8,240)            2,624                 -                   -   

          
(5,616) 

New financial assets originated 
or purchased           9,435                 -                  -                  -             9,435 

Write-offs                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   
Changes in models/risk 

parameters                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   
Foreign exchange and other 

movements                 -                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Allowance for expected credit 
losses as of December 31, 2014           7,079           2,794                -                  -             9,873 

The reserve for expected credit losses on off-balance sheet credit risk reflects the Bank’s Management estimate of 
expected credit losses on off-balance sheet credit risk items such as: confirmed letters of credit, stand-by letters of 
credit, guarantees and credit commitments. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, quantitative information on derivative financial instruments 
held for hedging purposes is as follows: 

December 31, 2015

Nominal 
Amount 

Carrying amount of the 
hedging instrument 

Line item 
in the 

statement 
of financial 

position 
where the 
hedging 

instrument 
is located 

Changes in 
fair value used 

for 
calculating 

hedge 
ineffectiveness Asset Liability

Fair value hedges:

Derivative 
financial 

instruments 
used for 

hedging – 
receivable 

or payable - 
at fair value 

  Interest rate swaps 886,631 2,549 1,444 647 
  Cross-currency interest 

rate swaps 214,067 322 23,710 14,731 
Cash flow hedges:
  Interest rate swaps 870,000 230 2,254                (258)
  Cross-currency interest 

rate swaps 75,889 374 395 215 
  Forward foreign exchange 247,869 3,925 2,058 1,867 
Net investment hedges:
  Forward foreign exchange 3,818 - 28 28 
Total 2,298,274 7,400 29,889 17,230 
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5. Financial instruments (continued) 

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued) 

December 31, 2014

Nominal 
Amount 

Carrying amount of the 
hedging instrument 

Line item 
in the 

statement 
of financial 

position 
where the 
hedging 

instrument 
is located 

Changes in 
fair value used 

for 
calculating 

hedge 
ineffectiveness Asset Liability

Fair value hedges:

Derivative 
financial 

instruments 
used for 

hedging – 
receivable 

or payable - 
at fair value 

  Interest rate swaps 167,865 17 1,285             (4,490)
  Cross-currency interest 

rate swaps 282,490 1,062 31,556            (26,443)
Cash flow hedges:
  Interest rate swaps 891,500 2,691 1,805 736 
  Cross-currency interest 

rate swaps 56,000 - 5,547           (11,939)
  Forward foreign exchange 126,058 8,554 - 7,962 
Net investment hedges:
  Forward foreign exchange 5,146 - 94                (434)
Total 1,529,059  12,324  40,287            (34,608)
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued)

January 1, 2014

Nominal 
Amount 

Carrying amount of the 
hedging instrument 

Line item 
in the 

statement 
of financial 

position 
where the 
hedging 

instrument 
is located 

Changes in 
fair value used 

for 
calculating 

hedge 
ineffectiveness Asset Liability

Fair value hedges:

Derivative 
financial 

instruments 
used for 

hedging – 
receivable 

or payable - 
at fair value 

  Interest rate swaps 494,558 4,625 1,403 1,502 
  Cross-currency interest 

rate swaps 269,488 2,784 6,835 (2,887)
Cash flow hedges:
  Interest rate swaps 453,000 393 242 151 
  Cross-currency interest 
rate swaps 126,308 6,391 - (942)
  Forward foreign exchange 88,130 684 92 423 
Net investment hedges: 
  Forward foreign exchange 5,810 340 - 356 
Total 1,437,294 15,217 8,572 (1,397)
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued)

The gains and losses resulting from activities of derivative financial instruments and hedging recognized in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss are presented below: 

  December 31, 2015 

  
Gain (loss) 

recognized in 
OCI 

(effective 
portion)

Classification of gain 
(loss) 

Gain (loss) 
reclassified from 

accumulated 
OCI to the 

consolidated 
statement of 
profit or loss 

Gain (loss) 
recognized on 

derivatives 
(ineffective 

portion)  
Derivatives – cash flow 
hedge 

Interest rate swaps 35
Gain (loss) on interest 
rate swap -               (229)

  Cross-currency interest 
rate swaps 5,367

Gain (loss) on foreign 
currency exchange - 84

   Interest income – loans - -
  Forward foreign 

exchange 3,511
Interest income – 
securities at FVOCI (694) -
Interest income – loans (1,821) -
Interest expense – 
borrowings and debt - -
Interest expenses – 
deposits  166 -
Gain (loss) on foreign 
currency exchange 12,539 -

Total 8,913 10,190 (145)

Derivatives – net 
investment hedge  
  Forward foreign 

exchange (901) - -
Total (901) - -
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued) 

  December 31, 2014 

  
Gain (loss) 

recognized in 
OCI 

(effective 
portion)

Classification of gain 
(loss) 

Gain (loss) 
reclassified from 

accumulated 
OCI to the 

consolidated 
statement of 
profit or loss 

Gain (loss) 
recognized on 

derivatives 
(ineffective 

portion)  
Derivatives – cash flow 
hedge 

  Interest rate swaps (1,947)
Gain (loss) on interest 
rate swap - (207)

  Cross-currency interest 
rate swaps (11,904)

Gain (loss) on foreign 
currency exchange - -

   Interest income – loans (4) -
  Forward foreign 

exchange 8,633
Interest income – 
securities at FVOCI (238) -
Interest income – loans (2,011) -
Interest expense – 
borrowings and debt - -
Interest expenses – 
deposits  - -
Gain (loss) on foreign 
currency exchange 3,011 -

Total (5,218) 758 (207)

Derivatives – net 
investment hedge  
  Forward foreign 

exchange 38 - -
Total 38 - -
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued) 

The Bank recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss the gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments 
and the gain (loss) of the hedged asset or liability related to qualifying fair value hedges, as follows: 

  December 31, 2015 

  
Classification in 

consolidated 
statement of profit or 

loss
Gain (loss) on 

derivatives 
Gain (loss) on 

hedge item Net gain (loss)  
Derivatives – fair value 
hedge 

  Interest rate swaps 
Interest income – 
securities at FVOCI (1,047) 1,514 467
Interest income – loans (376) 3,987 3,611

   
Interest expenses – 
borrowings and debt 6,268 (24,026) (17,758)
Derivative financial 
instruments and 
hedging  (1,841) 1,688 (153)

  Cross-currency interest 
rate swaps Interest income – loans (135) 348 213

Interest expenses – 
borrowings and debt 744 (3,785) (3,041)
Derivative financial 
instruments and 
hedging  (19,522) 20,550 1,028

Total (15,909) 276 (15,633)
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued) 

  December 31, 2014 

  
Classification in 

consolidated 
statement of profit or 

loss
Gain (loss) on 

derivatives 
Gain (loss) on 

hedge item Net gain (loss)  
Derivatives – fair value 
hedge 

  Interest rate swaps 
Interest income – 
securities at FVOCI (1,800) 2,345 545
Interest income – loans (361) 3,112 2,751

   
Interest expenses – 
borrowings and debt 3,737 (16,204) (12,467)
Derivative financial 
instruments and 
hedging  (994) 1,021 27

  Cross-currency interest 
rate swaps Interest income – loans (853) 1,695 842

Interest expenses – 
borrowings and debt 4,538 (10,031) (5,493)
Derivative financial 
instruments and 
hedging  (24,335) 24,434 99

Total (20,068) 6,372 (13,696)

For control purposes, derivative instruments are recorded at their nominal amount (“notional amount”) in 
memorandum accounts.  Interest rate swaps are made either in a single currency or cross currency for a prescribed 
period to exchange a series of interest rate flows, which involve fixed for floating interest payments, and vice versa.  
The Bank also engages in certain foreign exchange trades to serve customers’ transaction needs and to manage foreign 
currency risk.  All such positions are hedged with an offsetting contract for the same currency.  

The Bank manages and controls the risks on these foreign exchange trades by establishing counterparty credit limits 
by customer and by adopting policies that do not allow for open positions in the credit and investment portfolio.  The 
Bank also uses foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge the foreign exchange risk associated with the Bank’s 
equity investment in a non-U.S. dollar functional currency foreign subsidiary. Derivative and foreign exchange 
instruments negotiated by the Bank are executed mainly over-the-counter (OTC).  These contracts are executed 
between two counterparties that negotiate specific agreement terms, including notional amount, exercise price and 
maturity. 

The maximum length of time over which the Bank has hedged its exposure to the variability in future cash flows on 
forecasted transactions is 8.19 years. 
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.8 Derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes (continued) 

The Bank estimates that approximately $635 reported as losses in OCI as of December 31, 2015 related to forward 
foreign exchange contracts, are expected to be reclassified into interest income as an adjustment to yield of hedged 
loans during the twelve-month period ending December 31, 2016. 

Types of Derivatives and Foreign Exchange Instruments 

Interest rate swaps are contracts in which a series of interest rate flows in a single currency are exchanged over a 
prescribed period.  The Bank has designated a portion of these derivative instruments as fair value hedges and a 
portion as cash flow hedges.  Cross currency swaps are contracts that generally involve the exchange of both interest 
and principal amounts in two different currencies.  The Bank has designated a portion of these derivative instruments 
as fair value hedges and a portion as cash flow hedges.  Forward foreign exchange contracts represent an agreement to 
purchase or sell foreign currency at a future date at agreed-upon terms.  The Bank has designated these derivative 
instruments as cash flow hedges and net investment hedges. 

In addition to hedging derivative financial instruments, the Bank has derivative financial instruments held for trading 
purposes as disclosed in Note 5.1. 

5.9 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into derivative financial instrument transactions and securities sold 
under repurchase agreements under industry standards agreements. Depending on the collateral requirements stated in 
the contracts, the Bank and counterparties can receive or deliver collateral based on the fair value of the financial 
instruments transacted between parties. Collateral typically consists of cash deposits and securities.  The master 
netting agreements include clauses that, in the event of default, provide for close-out netting, which allows all 
positions with the defaulting counterparty to be terminated and net settled with a single payment amount. 

The International Swaps and Derivatives Association master agreement (“ISDA”) and similar master netting 
arrangements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the consolidated statement of financial position. This is because 
they create for the parties to the agreement a right of set-off of recognized amounts that is enforceable only following 
an event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Bank or the counterparties or following other predetermined 
events.   
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.9 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

The following tables summarize financial assets and liabilities that have been offset in the consolidated statement of 
financial position or are subject to master netting agreements:  

a) Derivative financial instruments – assets 

December 31, 2015 

  

Gross 
amounts 

assets 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount of 
assets presented 

 in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

Gross amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position 

  

Description 
Financial 

instruments

Cash 
collateral 
received 

Net 
Amount

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 7,400 - 7,400 - (690) 6,710

Total  7,400 - 7,400 - (690) 6,710

December 31, 2014 

Gross 
amounts 

assets 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount of 
assets presented

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Gross amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position 

Description 
Financial 

instruments 

Cash 
collateral 
received 

Net 
Amount

Derivative 
financial 
instruments  12,324  -  12,324  -  - 12,324

Total   12,324  -  12,324  -  - 12,324

January 1, 2014 

  

Gross 
amounts 

assets 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount of 
assets presented

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Gross amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position 

Description 
Financial 

instruments 

Cash 
collateral 
received 

Net 
Amount

Derivative 
financial 
instruments  15,217  -  15,217  - (1,050) 14,167

Total  15,217 -  15,217 - (1,050)  14,167
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5. Financial Instruments (continued)

5.9 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

The following table presents the reconciliation of assets that have been offset or are subject to master netting 
agreements to individual line items in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, and January 1, 2014: 

December 31, 2015 

Description 
Gross amounts 

of assets 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Net amount of 
assets presented 

in the consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Derivative financial instruments: 
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

receivable 7,400 - 7,400
Total derivative financial instruments 7,400 - 7,400

December 31, 2014 

Description 
Gross amounts 

of assets 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Net amount of 
assets presented 

in the consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Derivative financial instruments: 
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

receivable 12,324 - 12,324
Total derivative financial instruments 12,324 - 12,324

January 1, 2014 

Description 
Gross amounts 

of assets 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Net amount of 
assets presented 

in the consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Derivative financial instruments: 
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

receivable 15,217 - 15,217
Total derivative financial instruments 15,217 - 15,217
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5. Financial Instruments (continued)

5.9 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

b) Financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments – liabilities 

December 31, 2015 

  
Gross 

amounts 
of 

liabilities 

Gross 
amounts 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount 
of liabilities 
presented  

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Gross amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position  

Net 
Amount Description 

Financial 
instruments

Cash 
collateral 
pledged 

Securities sold under 
repurchase agreements 114,084 - 114,084 (111,620) (2,463) 1 

Financial liabilities at 
FVTPL  89 - 89 - - 89

Derivative financial 
instruments - hedging  29,889 - 29,889 - (26,899) 2,990

Total  144,062  - 144,062  (111,620)  (29,362) 3,080 

December 31, 2014 

  

Gross 
amounts 

of 
liabilities 

Gross 
amounts 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount 
of liabilities 
presented 

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Gross amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position 

Net 
Amount Description 

Financial 
instruments

Cash 
collateral 
pledged 

Securities sold under 
repurchase agreements 300,519 - 300,519 (294,054) (6,465) -

Financial liabilities at 
FVTPL 52 - 52 - - 52

Derivative financial 
instruments - hedging 40,287 - 40,287 - (29,183) 11,104

Total  340,858  - 340,858 (294,054)  (35,648)  11,156
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5. Financial Instruments (continued)

5.9 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

January 1, 2014 

  

Gross 
amounts 

of 
liabilities 

Gross 
amounts 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Net amount 
of liabilities 
presented 

in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial 
position 

Gross amounts not offset 
in the consolidated 

statement of financial 
position 

Net 
Amount Description 

Financial 
instruments

Cash 
collateral 
pledged 

Securities sold under 
repurchase agreements 286,162 - 286,162 (285,471) (691)  -

Financial liabilities at 
FVTPL 72 - 72 - - 72

Derivative financial 
instruments - hedging 8,572 - 8,572 - (5,340) 3,232

Total  294,806  - 294,806 (285,471)  (6,031)  3,304

The following table presents the reconciliation of liabilities that have been offset or are subject to master netting 
agreements to individual line items in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, and January 1, 2014: 

December 31, 2015 

Description 
Gross amounts 

of liabilities 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Net amount of 
liabilities presented
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position 

Securities sold under repurchase agreements 114,084 - 114,084
Derivative financial instruments:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 89 - 89
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable 29,889 - 29,889
Total derivative  financial instruments 29,978 - 29,978
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5. Financial Instruments (continued)

5.9 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

December 31, 2014 

Description 
Gross amounts 

of liabilities 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Net amount of 
liabilities presented
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position 

Securities sold under repurchase agreements 300,519 - 300,519
Derivative financial instruments:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 52 - 52
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable 40,287 - 40,287
Total derivative  financial instruments 40,339 - 40,339

  

January 1, 2014 

Description 
Gross amounts 

of liabilities 

Gross amounts 
offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 

Net amount of 
liabilities presented
in the consolidated 

statement of 
financial position 

Securities sold under repurchase agreements 286,162 - 286,162
Derivative financial instruments:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 72 - 72
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable 8,572 - 8,572
Total derivative  financial instruments 8,644 - 8,644
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6. Property and equipment 

A breakdown of cost, accumulated depreciation, additions and disposals for property and equipment as of December 
31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 

IT 
equipment

Furniture 
and  

fixtures 

                 
Leasehold 

improvement 
Other 

equipment Total 
Cost: 
Balance as of January 1, 2014 3,152 2,135 7,413 548 13,248
Additions 23 13 51 - 87
Disposals (39) (1) (6) (88) (134)
Balances as of December 31, 2014 3,136 2,147 7,458 460 13,201
Additions 368 30 179 38 615
Disposals (138) (175) (225) (41) (579)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 3,366 2,002 7,412 457 13,237

Accumulated depreciation: 
Balances as of January 1, 2014 1,906 1,005 1,637 268 4,816
Depreciation expense of the year 530 335 571 109 1,545
Disposals (39) (1) (6) (75) (121)
Balance as of December 31, 2014 2,397 1,339 2,202 302 6,240
Depreciation expense of the year 388 322 556 105 1,371
Disposals (114) (170) (222) (41) (547)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 2,671 1,491 2,536 366 7,064

Carrying amounts as of: 
December 31, 2015 695 511 4,876 91 6,173
December 31, 2014 739 808 5,256 158 6,961
January 1, 2014 1,246 1,130 5,776 280 8,432
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7. Intangible assets 

A breakdown of cost, accumulated amortization, additions, sales and disposals for intangible assets as of December 
31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows: 

   Software 
  

Costs: 
Balances as of January 1, 2014 10,955
Additions 83
Disposals (51)
Balances as of December 31, 2014 10,987
Additions -
Disposals (211)
Balances as of December 31, 2015 10,776

Accumulated amortization: 
Balances as of January 1, 2014 9,065
Disposals (44)
Amortization expense of the year 942
Balances as of December 31, 2014 9,963
Disposals (210)
Amortization expense of the year 596
Balances as of December 31, 2015 10,349

Carrying amounts as of:  
December 31, 2015 427
December 31, 2014 1,024
January 1, 2014 1,890

Expenses related to the amortization of intangible assets are presented as part of amortization expenses in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

8. Other assets 

Following is a summary of other assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and January 1, 2014: 

December 31 
2015 

December 31 
2014 

January 1 
2014 

Accounts receivable 6,428 4,281 1,514
Equity investment in a private fund (at cost) 530 530 530
IT projects under development   4,952 835 1
Other 3,884 2,410 1,446

15,794 8,056  3,491
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9. Deposits 

The remaining maturity profile of the Bank’s deposits is as follows: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Demand 243,839 84,175 63,047
Up to 1 month 1,492,175 1,512,868 1,617,059
From 1 month to 3 months 475,611 460,681 311,048
From 3 month to 6 months 319,995 276,970 207,182
From 6 month to 1 year 263,849 147,000 157,000
From 1 month to 2 year - 25,000 6,000

2,795,469 2,506,694  2,361,336

The following table presents additional information regarding the Bank’s deposits:  

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Aggregate amounts of time deposits of 
$100,000 or more 2,794,912 2,506,244 2,298,289
Aggregate amounts of deposits in the New 
York Agency 235,203 230,305 227,559

  

  December 31
      2015  2014 

Interest expense paid to deposits in the New York 
Agency 1,228 961

10. Securities sold under repurchase agreements 

The Bank’s financing transactions under repurchase agreements amounted to $114.1 million, $300.5 million, and 
$286.2 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively. 

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, interest expense related to financing transactions under 
repurchase agreements totaled $1,800, and $2,100, respectively, corresponding to interest expense generated by the 
financing contracts under repurchase agreements.  These expenses are included in the interest expense – short-term 
borrowings and debt line in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 
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11. Borrowings and debt 

11.1 Short-term borrowings and debt 

The breakdown of short-term (original maturity of less than one year) borrowings and debt, together with contractual 
interest rates, is as follows: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Short-term Borrowings:
At fixed interest rates 983,245 1,256,411 1,289,851
At floating interest rates 871,522 1,348,431 1,017,527
Total borrowings 1,854,767 2,604,842 2,307,378

Short-term Debt:
At fixed interest rates 525,590 77,695 287,987
At floating interest rates 50,000 10,000 110,000
Total debt 575,590 87,695 397,987
Total short-term borrowings and debt 2,430,357 2,692,537 2,705,365

Average outstanding balance during the year 2,266,864 2,191,253 2,048,110
Maximum balance at any month-end 2,856,507 2,692,537 2,705,365
Range of fixed interest rates on borrowing and 
debt in U.S. dollars  0.53% to 1.21% 0.64% to 1.20% 0.67% to 1.43%
Range of floating interest rates on borrowing and 
debt in U.S. dollars 0.67% to 1.24% 0.46% to 1.16% 0.79% to 1.47%
Range of fixed interest rates on borrowing in 
Mexican pesos 3.76% to 3.98% 3.58% to 3.60% 4.13% to 4.58%
Range of floating interest rate on borrowing in 
Mexican pesos 3.90% to 4.17% 3.69% 4.03% to 4.24%
Range of fixed interest rate on debt in Japanese 
yens 0.31% to 0.33% 0.75% 0.75%
Fixed interest rate on debt in Swiss francs - 0.55% 0.80%
Weighted average interest rate at end of the year 0.93% 0.81% 1.09%
Weighted average interest rate during the year 0.85% 0.93%  1.21%

The balances of short-term borrowings and debt by currency, is as follows: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Currency
US dollar 2,402,701 2,626,800 2,536,815 
Mexican peso 14,366 11,042 73,964 
Japanese yen 13,290 4,185 4,749 
Swiss franc - 50,510 89,837 
Total 2,430,357 2,692,537 2,705,365 
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11.    Borrowings and debt (continued) 

11.2 Long-term borrowings and debt   

Borrowings consist of long-term and syndicated loans obtained from international banks.  Debt instruments consist of 
public and private issuances under the Bank's Euro Medium Term Notes Program (“EMTN”) as well as public 
issuances in the Mexican market. The breakdown of borrowings and long-term debt (original maturity of more than 
one year), together with contractual interest rates gross of prepaid commission of $7,017, $5,649 and $5,042 as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, respectively, is as follows: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Long-term Borrowings:
At fixed interest rates with due dates from September 
2016 to October 2020 113,039 65,000 25,000
At floating interest rates with due dates from 
November 2016 to December 2020 695,837 578,956 506,346
Total borrowings 808,876 643,956 531,346

Long-term Debt:
At fixed interest rates with due dates from March 2016 
to March 2024 929,998 464,515 444,574
At floating interest rates with due dates from July 2016 
to January 2018 149,956 296,834 177,806
Total debt 1,079,954 761,349 622,380
Total long-term borrowings and debt outstanding 1,888,830 1,405,305 1,153,726

Average outstanding balance during the year 1,589,451 1,388,708 1,317,983

Maximum outstanding balance at any month – end 1,888,830 1,587,009 1,893,149
Range of fixed interest rates on borrowing and debt in 
U.S. dollars 1.01% to 3.75% 1.50% to 3.75% 1.50% to 3.75%
Range of floating interest rates on borrowing and debt 
in U.S. dollars 0.84% to 1.95% 0.72% to 1.76% 0.52% to 1.77%
Range of fixed interest rates on borrowing in Mexican 
pesos 4.30% to 5.95% - -
Range of floating interest rates on debt in Mexican 
pesos 3.93% to 5.45% 3.67% to 3.96% 4.44% to 5.29%
Range of fixed interest rate on debt in Japanese yens 0.50% to 0.81% - -

Range of fixed interest rate on debt in Euros 0.40% to 3.75% - 6.50%

Weighted average interest rate at the end of the year 2.62% 2.71% 3.06%

Weighted average interest rate during the year 2.65% 2.86% 3.08%

  



141

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

78

11. Borrowings and debt (continued) 

11.2 Long-term borrowings and debt (continued) 

The balances of long-term borrowings and debt by currency, is as follows: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Currency
US dollar 1,599,233 1,069,207  866,830
Mexican peso 153,332 271,833 242,916
Japanese yen 25,035 - 43,980
Euro 111,230 64,265 -
Total 1,888,830 1,405,305 1,153,726

The Bank's funding activities include: (i) EMTN, which may be used to issue notes for up to $2.3 billion, with 
maturities from 7 days up to a maximum of 30 years, at fixed or floating interest rates, or at discount, and in various 
currencies.  The notes are generally issued in bearer or registered form through one or more authorized financial 
institutions; (ii) Short-and Long-Term Notes “Certificados Bursatiles” Program (the “Mexico Program”) in the 
Mexican local market, registered with the Mexican National Registry of Securities maintained by the National 
Banking and Securities Commission in Mexico (“CNBV”, for its acronym in Spanish), for an authorized aggregate 
principal amount of 10 billion Mexican pesos with maturities from one day to 30 years.  

Some borrowing agreements include various events of default and covenants related to minimum capital adequacy 
ratios, incurrence of additional liens, and asset sales, as well as other customary covenants, representations and 
warranties.  As of December 31, 2015, the Bank was in compliance with all covenants. 

The future remaining maturities of long-term borrowings and debt outstanding as of December 31, 2015, are as 
follows: 

  Outstanding 
Due in
2016 209,187
2017 729,498
2018 502,732
2019 35,860
2020 354,733
2024 56,820

1,888,830
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12. Other liabilities 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Accruals and other accumulated expenses 9,676 10,787 9,177
Dividends payable 146 14,785 13,339
Accounts payable 11,096 4,260 2,471
Others 3,426 3,046 2,960

24,344 32,878  27,947

13. Earnings per share 

The following table presents a reconciliation of the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings 
per share (“EPS”) computations for the dates indicated:   

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

    

Profit for the year for both basic and diluted EPS  103,984 102,366

Basic earnings per share  2.67 2.65
Diluted earnings per share  2.66 2.63

Weighted average common shares outstanding - applicable to 
basic  38,925 38,693

Effect of dilutive securities:   

Stock options and restricted stock units plans  188 189
Adjusted weighted average common shares outstanding 
applicable to diluted EPS  39,113 38,882
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14. Capital and Reserves 

Common stock

 The Bank’s common stock is divided into four categories: 

1)“Class A”; shares may only be issued to Latin American Central Banks or banks in which the state or other 
government agency is the majority shareholder.  

2) “Class B”; shares may only be issued to banks or financial institutions. 
3) “Class E”; shares may be issued to any person whether a natural person or a legal entity. 
4) “Class F”; may only be issued to state entities and agencies of non-Latin American countries, including, among 

others, central banks and majority state-owned banks in those countries, and multilateral financial institutions 
either international or regional institutions.  

The holders of “Class B” shares have the right to convert or exchange their “Class B” shares, at any time, and 
without restriction, for “Class E” shares, at a rate of one-to-one.  

The following table provides detailed information on the Bank’s common stock activity per class for each of the 
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2015:  

(Share units) “Class A”      “Class B”    “Class E”        “Class F”        Total        

Authorized 40,000,000 40,000,000 100,000,000 100,000,000 280,000,000 
Outstanding at January 1, 2014 6,342,189 2,520,422 29,710,556 - 38,573,167
Conversions -      (20,208) 20,208  - -
Repurchase of common stock -      (21,164)          (2,110) -        (23,274) 
Restricted stock issued – directors - - 28,500 - 28,500
Exercised stock options - 
compensation plans - - 111,427 - 111,427
Restricted stock units – vested - - 87,519 - 87,519
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 6,342,189 2,479,050 29,956,100 - 38,777,339

Conversions -        (4,581) 4,581 -  -
Repurchase of common stock - - - -
Restricted stock issued – directors - - 57,000 - 57,000
Exercised stock options - 
compensation plans - - 70,358 - 70,358
Restricted stock units – vested - - 64,208 - 64,208
Outstanding at December 31, 2015  6,342,189 2,474,469 30,152,247  -  38,968,905
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14. Capital and Reserves (continued) 

The following table presents information regarding shares repurchased but not retired by the Bank and accordingly 
classified as treasury stock: 

“Class A” “Class B” “Class E” Total 

 Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount 
Outstanding at 
January 1, 2014 318,140 10,708 568,010 15,655 2,520,522 55,645 3,406,672 82,008
Repurchase of common 
stock - - 21,164 587 2,110 53 23,274 640
Restricted stock issued 
– directors - - - -   (28,500)     (629)   (28,500)     (629) 
Exercised stock options 
- compensation plans - - - - (111,427)   (2,460) (111,427)   (2,460)
Restricted stock units – 
vested - - - -   (87,519)   (1,932)  (87,519)   (1,932)
Outstanding at 
December 31, 2014 318,140 10,708 589,174 16,242 2,295,186 50,677 3,202,500 77,627

  
Repurchase of common 
stock - - - - - - - -
Restricted stock issued 
- directors - - - -   (57,000)   (1,259)   (57,000)   (1,259)
Exercised stock options 
- compensation plans - - - -   (70,358)   (1,553)   (70,358)   (1,553)
Restricted stock units - 
vested - - - -   (64,208)   (1,418)   (64,208)   (1,418)
Outstanding at 
December 31, 2015 318,140 10,708 589,174 16,242 2,103,620 46,447 3,010,934 73,397

Reserves 

The Banking Law in the Republic of Panama requires banks with general banking license to maintain a total 
capital adequacy index that shall not be lower than 8% of total assets and off-balance sheet irrevocable 
contingency transactions, weighted according to their risk; and primary capital equivalent that shall not be less 
than 4% of its assets and off-balance sheet irrevocable contingency transactions, weighted according to their risk.  
As of December 31, 2015, the Bank’s total capital adequacy ratio is 16.27% which is in compliance with the 
minimum capital adequacy ratios required by the Banking Law in the Republic of Panama. 

Restriction on retained earnings 

As of December 31, 2015, the amount stands at $38.7 million.  As of December 31, 2014, $7.9 million of retained 
earnings are restricted from dividend distribution for purposes of complying with local regulatory requirements.  
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14. Capital and Reserves (continued) 

Treasury shares

During the year ended at December 31, 2014, the Bank recorded at cost 23,274 common treasury shares for an 
amount of $640, acquired in 2014. 

Additional paid-in capital

As of December 31 2015 and 2014, the additional paid-in capital consists of additional cash contributions to the 
common capital paid by shareholders. 

15. Cash and stock-based compensation plans 

The Bank has established equity compensation plans under which it manages restricted stock, restricted stock units 
and stock purchase option plans to attract, retain and motivate directors and top employees and compensate them 
for their contributions to the growth and profitability of the Bank.  Vesting conditions for each of the Bank’s plans 
are only comprised of specified requisite service periods. 

A. 2008 Stock Incentive Plan – Directors and Executives 

In February 2008, the Board of Directors of the Bank approved an incentive plan for directors and executives 
allowing the Bank to grant restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock purchase options, and/or other similar 
compensation instruments.  The maximum aggregate number of shares which may be granted under this plan is 
three million “Class E” common shares.   The 2008 Stock Incentive Plan is administered by the Board of Directors 
which has the authority in its discretion to select the directors and executives to whom the awards may be granted; 
to determine whether and to what extent awards are granted, and to amend the terms of any outstanding award 
under this plan. 

Restricted stocks are issued at the grant date, but are withheld by the Bank until the vesting date.  Restricted stocks 
are entitled to receive dividends.  A restricted stock unit is a grant valued in terms of the Bank’s stock, but no stock 
is issued at the grant date.  Restricted stock units are not entitled to dividends.  The Bank issues and delivers 
common stock at the vesting date of the restricted stock units. 

During 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Board of Directors approved the grant of restricted stock to directors and stock 
options and restricted stock units to certain executives of the Bank, as follows: 

Restricted stock – Directors 
During the years 2015 and 2014 the Board of Directors granted 57,000 and 28,500, respectively, of “Class E” 
common shares.  The fair value of restricted stock granted was based on the stock closing price in the New York 
Stock Exchange of the “Class E” shares on April 16, 2015 and July 15, 2014.  The fair value of restricted stock 
granted totaled $1,925 in 2015 and $862 in 2014, of which $1,553 and $809 were charged against income during 
2015 and 2014, respectively.  The remaining cost pending amortization of $1,301 at December 31, 2015 will be 
amortized over 2.3 years. 
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15. Cash and stock-based compensation plans 

Restricted stock vest on the grant’s date anniversary, as follows: 

Year of Grant 
2015 35% in the first and second year, and 30% in the third year 
2014 35% in the first and second year, and 30% in the third year 
2013 35% in the first and second year, and 30% in the third year 

A summary of the restricted stock granted to Directors is presented below: 

Shares  

Weighted average 
grant date fair 

value 
Outstanding at January 1, 2014 84,862 20.10
Granted 28,500 30.25
Vested (35,026) 18.80
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 78,336 24.37
Granted 57,000 33.78
Vested (39,015) 22.69
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 96,321 30.62
Expected to vest 96,321

The fair value of vested stock during the years 2015 and 2014 was $885, and $659, respectively. 

Restricted Stock Units and Stock Purchase Options granted to certain Executives 

The Board of Directors approved the grant of stock purchase options and restricted stock units to certain executives of 
the Bank with a grant date fair value of $1.8 million in 2015 and $1.6 million in 2014.  In 2015, the distribution of the 
fair value in restricted stock units and stock purchase options was $1.3 million and $0.5 million respectively; $0.9 
million and $0.7 million in 2014, respectively.  

Restricted stock units: 

The fair value of the stock units was based on the “Class E” stock closing price in the New York Stock Exchange on 
the grants date.  These stock units vest 25% each year on the grant date’s anniversary. 

Compensation costs of the restricted stock units are amortized during the period of restriction.  Costs charged against 
income during 2015 and 2014 due to the amortization of these grants totaled $1,282 and $1,188 respectively.  The 
remaining compensation cost pending amortization of $985 in 2015 will be amortized over 3.1 years. 
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15.     Cash and stock-based compensation plans (continued) 

A summary of the status of the restricted stock units granted to certain executives is presented below: 

  

Shares  

Weighted 
average 

grand date 
fair value  

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual         

term  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

value 

Outstanding at January 1, 2014 242,749  17.13    
Granted 47,737  19.24    
Forfeited  (39,255)  17.25    
Vested  (87,519)  16.27    
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 163,712  18.18    
Granted  63,244  21.67    
Forfeited  -      
Vested  (64,208)  17.67    $850
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 162,748  19.74  2.00 years  $1,008
Expected to vest  161,982  19.74    $1,001

The fair value of vested stock during the years 2015 and 2014 is $1,135, and $1,424, respectively. 

Stock purchase options: 

The fair value of stock purchase options granted to certain Executives during 2015 and 2014 was estimated using a 
binomial option-pricing model, based on the following factors: 

  Measuring 
unit  2015  2014   

         
Weighted average fair value per 
option 

  
$ 1.95 - 2.06 2.11 – 2.33

Weighted average expected term, 
in years 

  
Years 5.5 5.5

Expected volatility  %  22% 22% - 24%
Risk-free rate  %  0.02 – 1.52 0.05 - 1.54 
Expected dividend  %  5.00% 5.00%

These options expire seven years after the grant date and are exercisable at a rate of 25% each year on the grant 
date’s anniversary. 

  



148

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

85

15. Cash and stock-based compensation plans (continued)

Related cost charged against income during 2015 and 2014 as a result of the amortization of these plans amounted to 
$454 and $409, respectively.  The remaining compensation cost pending amortization of $418 in 2015 will be 
amortized over a period of 3.12 years.   
                                       
A summary of stock options granted is presented below: 

  

Options  

Weighted 
average    
exercise 

price  

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual         

term  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

value 

Outstanding at January 1, 2014 187,745  14.90    
Granted 315,971  25.15    
Forfeited  (671)  18.57    
Exercised  (111,349)  13.18    
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 391,696  23.65    
Granted  233,418  29.25    
Forfeited  -  -    
Exercised  (70,358)  20.86    
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 554,756  26.36  5.37 years  $2,978
Exercisable  52,454  23.55  1.11 years  241
Expected to vest  501,631  26.65  5.45 years  $2,737

The intrinsic value of exercised options during the years 2015 and 2014 was $811 and $1,911, respectively.  During 
the years 2015 and 2014 the Bank received $1,467 and $1,470, respectively, from exercised options. 

B.  Other plans - Expatriate Top Executives Plan 

The Bank sponsors a defined contribution plan for its expatriate top executives based in Panama, which are not 
eligible to participate in the Panamanian social security system.  The Bank’s contributions are determined as a 
percentage of the annual salaries of top executives eligible for the plan, each contributing an additional amount 
withheld from their salary.  Contributions to this plan are managed by a fund manager through a trust.  The executives 
are entitled to the Bank’s contributions after completing at least three years of service in the Bank.  During the years 
2015 and 2014, the Bank charged to salaries expense $171 and $133, respectively, that correspond to the Bank’s 
contributions to this plan.  As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 the accumulated liability payable 
amounted to $246, $222 and $176, respectively. 
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16. Business segment information 

The Bank’s activities are managed and executed in two business segments: Commercial and Treasury. The business 
segment results are determined based on the Bank’s managerial accounting process as defined by IFRS 8 – Operating 
Segments, which assigns consolidated statement of financial positions, revenue and expense items to each business 
segment on a systematic basis. 

The Bank’s net interest income represents the main driver of profits; therefore, the Bank presents its interest-earning 
assets by business segment, to give an indication of the size of business generating net interest income.  Interest-
earning assets also generate gains and losses on sales, such as for financial instruments at fair value through OCI and 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are included in net other income, in the Treasury 
Segment.  The Bank also discloses its other assets and contingencies by business segment, to give an indication of the 
size of business that generates net fees and commissions, also included in net other income, in the Commercial 
Business Segment.  

The Commercial Business Segment incorporates all of the Bank’s financial intermediation and fees generated by the 
commercial portfolio.  The commercial portfolio includes book value of loans, acceptances and contingencies.  Profits 
from the Commercial Business Segment include net interest income from loans, fee income, impairment loss from 
expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost and off-balance sheet financial instruments, and allocated expenses.   

The Treasury Business Segment incorporates deposits in banks and all of the Bank’s financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss, financial instruments at fair value through OCI and securities at amortized cost.  Profits 
from the Treasury Business Segment include net interest income from deposits with banks, financial instruments at 
fair value through OCI and securities at amortized cost, derivative financial instruments foreign currency exchange, 
gain (loss) for financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss, gain (loss) for financial instrument at fair value 
through OCI, impairment loss for expected credit losses on investment securities, other income and allocated 
expenses. 
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16. Business segment information (continued)

The following table provides certain information regarding the Bank’s operations by segment: 

Year ended December 31 
2015 2014 

Commercial 

Interest income                  209,858               202,096 
Interest expense    (82,697)              (79,674) 
Net interest income                  127,161               122,422 
Net other income (2)                    21,492                 21,068 
Impairment loss from  expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost                 (12,800)              (10,601) 
Expenses                 (40,429)   (42,752) 
Profit for the year (3)                  95,424                 90,137 
Commercial assets and contingencies (end of year balances): 
Interest-earning assets (4 and 6)               6,682,445            6,677,735 
Other assets and contingencies (5)                  437,436               496,097 
Total interest-earning assets, other assets and contingencies             7,119,881           7,173,832 

Treasury 
Interest income                    10,454                 10,802 
Interest expense                     7,864                   8,112 
Net interest income                    18,318                 18,914 
Net other income (2)                     6,887                   5,206 
Impairment loss for expected credit losses on investment securities                   (5,290)                 (1,030) 
Expenses                 (11,355)             (10,860) 

Profit for the year (3)                    8,560                   12,230 

Treasury assets and contingencies (end of year balances): 
Interest-earning assets (6)

              1,603,395            1,231,800 
Total interest-earning assets, other assets and contingencies 1,603,395 1,231,800 

  

Combined business segment total 
Interest income                  220,312               212,898 
Interest expense                 (74,833)              (71,562) 
Net interest income                  145,479               141,336 
Net other income (2)                    28,379                 26,274 
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost              (12,800)              (10,601) 
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on investment securities                (5,290)                (1,030) 
Expenses                 (51,784)              (53,613) 
Profit for the year (3)             103,984             102,366 
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16. Business segment information (continued)

  Year ended December 31 

  2015 2014
Total assets and contingencies (end of year balances): 
Interest-earning assets (4 and 6)            8,285,840          7,909,535 
Other assets and contingencies (5)               437,436             496,097 
Total interest-earning assets, other assets and contingencies          8,723,276          8,405,632 

(1) The numbers set out in these tables have been rounded and accordingly may not total exactly.
(2) Net other income consist of other income including gains (loss) per financial instrument at FVTPL and FVOCI, derivative instruments and foreign currency 

exchange.  
(3) Profit for the year refers to net income excluding reversals of impairment loss(impairment gain) for expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost, loans at 

amortized cost and off-balance sheet financial instruments, and impairment of investment securities. 
(4) Includes loans at amortized cost, net of unearned interest and deferred fees. 
(5) Includes customers’ liabilities under acceptances, letters of credit and guarantees covering commercial and country risk, and credit commitments. 
(6) Includes cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits with banks, financial instruments at fair value through OCI and financial instruments at amortized 

cost and financial instruments to fair value to profit or loss. 

Year ended December 31 
2015 2014 

Reconciliation of total assets: 
Interest-earning assets – business segment 8,285,840 7,909,535
Allowance for expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost                (89,974)              (77,687)
Customers’ liabilities under acceptances                  15,100               114,018 
Intangibles                       427                   1,024 
Accrued interest receivable                 45,456                 48,177 
Property and equipment, net                    6,173                   6,961 
Derivative financial instruments used for  hedging - receivable 7,400 12,324
Other assets 15,794 8,056
Total assets  – consolidated financial statements 8,286,216 8,022,408
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17. Fair value of financial instruments 

The Bank determines the fair value of its financial instruments using the fair value hierarchy established in IFRS 13 - 
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure, which requires the Bank to maximize the use of observable inputs (those 
that reflect the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on 
market information obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity) and to minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs (those that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the 
circumstances) when measuring fair value. Fair value is used on a recurring basis to measure assets and liabilities in 
which fair value is the primary basis of accounting. Additionally, fair value is used on a non-recurring basis to 
evaluate assets and liabilities for impairment or for disclosure purposes.  Fair value is defined as the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  Depending on the nature of the asset or liability, the Bank uses some valuation techniques and 
assumptions when estimating fair value.  The Bank applied the following fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1 – Assets or liabilities for which an identical instrument is traded in an active market, such as publicly-traded 
instruments or futures contracts.  
Level 2 – Assets or liabilities valued based on observable market data for similar instruments, quoted prices in 
markets that are not active; or other observable inputs that can be corroborated by observable market data for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 
Level 3 – Assets or liabilities for which significant valuation assumptions are not readily observable in the market; 
instruments measured based on the best available information, which might include some internally-developed data, 
and considers risk premiums that a market participant would require. 

When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities that are required or permitted to be recorded 
at fair value, the Bank considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and considers 
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability. When possible, the Bank uses 
active and observable markets to price identical assets or liabilities. When identical assets and liabilities are not 
traded in active markets, the Bank uses observable market information  for similar assets and  liabilities.  However, 
certain assets and liabilities are not actively traded in observable markets and the Bank must use alternative valuation 
techniques to determine the fair value measurement. The frequency of transactions, the size of the bid-ask spread and 
the size of the investment are factors considered in determining the liquidity of markets and the relevance of 
observed prices in those markets. 

When there has been a significant decrease in the volume or level of activity for a financial asset or liability, the 
Bank uses the present value technique which considers market information to determine a representative fair value in 
usual market conditions. 

A description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis, including the general classification of such assets and liabilities under the fair value hierarchy is presented 
below: 

  



153

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

90

17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

Financial instruments at FVTPL and FVOCI 

Financial instruments at FVTPL are carried at fair value, which is based upon quoted prices when available, or if 
quoted market prices are not available, on discounted expected cash flows using market rates commensurate with the 
credit quality and maturity of the security. 

Financial instruments at FVOCI are carried at fair value, based on quoted market prices when available, or if quoted 
market prices are not available, based on discounted expected cash flows using market rates commensurate with the 
credit quality and maturity of the security.   

When quoted prices are available in an active market, financial instruments at FVOCI and financial instruments at 
FVTPL are classified in level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.  If quoted market prices are not available or they are 
available in markets that are not active, then fair values are estimated based upon quoted prices of similar 
instruments, or where these are not available, by using internal valuation techniques, principally discounted cash 
flows models.  Such securities are classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy 

Derivative financial instruments 

The valuation techniques and inputs depend on the type of derivative and the nature of the underlying instrument.  
Exchange-traded derivatives that are valued using quoted prices are classified within level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy.   

For those derivative contracts without quoted market prices, fair value is based on internal valuation techniques using 
inputs that are readily observable and that can be validated by information available in the market.  The principal 
technique used to value these instruments is the discounted cash flows model and the key inputs considered in this 
technique include interest rate yield curves and foreign exchange rates.  These derivatives are classified within level 
2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The fair value adjustments applied by the Bank to its derivative carrying values include credit valuation adjustments 
(“CVA”), which are applied to OTC derivative instruments, in which the base valuation generally discounts expected 
cash flows using the Overnight Index Swap (“OIS”) interest rate curves. Because not all counterparties have the 
same credit risk as that implied by the relevant OIS curve, a CVA is necessary to incorporate the market view of 
both, counterparty credit risk and the Bank’s own credit risk, in the valuation.  

Own-credit and counterparty CVA is determined using a fair value curve consistent with the Bank’s or counterparty 
credit rating. The CVA is designed to incorporate a market view of the credit risk inherent in the derivative portfolio. 
However, most of the Bank’s derivative instruments are negotiated bilateral contracts and are not commonly 
transferred to third parties. Derivative instruments are normally settled contractually, or if terminated early, are 
terminated at a value negotiated bilaterally between the counterparties. Therefore, the CVA (both counterparty and 
own-credit) may not be realized upon a settlement or termination in the normal course of business. In addition, all or 
a portion of the CVA may be reversed or otherwise adjusted in future periods in the event of changes in the credit 
risk of the Bank or its counterparties or due to the anticipated termination of the transactions. 

Transfer of financial assets 
Gains or losses on sale of loans depend in part on the carrying amount of the financial assets involved in the transfer, 
and its fair value at the date of transfer.  The fair value of instruments is determined based upon quoted market prices 
when available, or are based on the present value of future expected cash flows using information related to credit 
losses, prepayment speeds, forward yield curves, and discounted rates commensurate with the risk involved.
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17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

Financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis by caption on the consolidated statement of 
financial positions using the fair value hierarchy are described below: 

December 31, 2015 

 Level 1(a)  Level 2(b)  Level 3(c)  Total 
Assets         
Securities at fair value through OCI        
Corporate debt  76,091 8,724  -  84,815 
Sovereign debt  56,988 -  -  56,988 
Total securities at fair value through OCI  133,079 8, 724  -  141,803 
Financial instruments at FVTPL        
Investment funds  - 53,411  -  53,411 
Total financial instruments at FVTPL  - 53,411  -  53,411
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

receivable       
Interest rate swaps     - 2,779  -  2,779 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps  - 696  -  696 
Forward foreign exchange  - 3,925  -  3,925 
Total derivative financial instrument used for hedging – 

receivable  - 7,400  -  7,400 
Total financial assets at fair value  133,079 69,535  -  202,614 

      
Liabilities       
Financial instruments at FVTPL       
Interest rate swaps  - 15  -  15 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps  - -  -  - 
Forward foreign exchange  - 74  -  74 
Total financial instruments at FVTPL  - 89  -  89 
Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable       
Interest rate swaps  - 3,698  -  3,698 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps  - 24,105  -  24,105 
Forward foreign exchange  - 2,086  -  2,086 
Total derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable  - 29,889  -  29,889 
Total financial liabilities at fair value  - 29,978  -  29,978 

(a ) Level 1: Quoted market prices in an active market. 
(b)  Level 2: Internally developed models with significant observable market or quoted market prices in an inactive market. 
(c)  Level 3: Internally developed models with significant unobservable market information.
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17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

December 31, 2014 

Level 1(a) Level 2(b) Level 3(c)
  

Total 
Assets     
Securities at fair value through OCI     
   Corporate debt 119,095 -  -  119,095 
   Sovereign debt 219,878 -  -  219,878 
Total securities at fair value through OCI 338,973 -  -  338,973 

Financial instruments at FVTPL     
Investment funds - 57,574  -  57,574 
Total financial instruments at FVTPL - 57,574  -  57,574 
Derivative financial instruments used   for hedging - 

receivable     
Interest rate swaps   - 2,708  -  2,708 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 1,062  -  1,062 
Forward foreign exchange - 8,554  -  8,554 
Total derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

receivable - 12,324  -  12,324 
Total assets at fair value 338,973 69,898  -  408,871 

     
Liabilities      
Financial instruments at FVTPL      
Interest rate swaps - -  -  - 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 52  -  52 
Forward foreign exchange - -  -  - 
Total financial instruments at FVTPL - 52  -  52 
Derivative financial instruments
used for hedging – payable      
Interest rate swaps - 3,090  -  3,090 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 37,103  -  37,103 
Forward foreign exchange - 94  -  94 
Total derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable - 40,287  -  40,287 
Total liabilities at fair value - 40,339  -  40,339 

(a ) Level 1: Quoted market prices in an active market. 
(b)  Level 2: Internally developed models with significant observable market or quoted market prices in an inactive market. 
(c)  Level 3: Internally developed models with significant unobservable market information. 



156

Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S. A. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(Amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

93

17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

January 1, 2014 

Level 1(a) Level 2(b) Level 3(c)
  

Total 
Assets     
Securities at fair value through OCI     
   Corporate debt 178,168 -  -  178,168 
   Sovereign debt 156,200 -  -  156,200 
Total securities at fair value through OCI 334,368 -  -  334,368 

Financial instruments at FVTPL     
Investment funds - 68,762  -  68,762 
Total financial instruments at FVTPL - 68,762  -  68,762 
Derivative financial instruments used   for hedging - 

receivable     
  Interest rate swaps    - 5,018  -  5,018 
  Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 9,175  -  9,175 
  Forward foreign exchange - 1,024  -  1,024 
Total derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

receivable - 15,217  -  15,217 
Total assets at fair value 334,368 83,979  -  418,347 

    
Liabilities     
Financial instruments at FVTPL     
Interest rate swaps - 65  -  65 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 7  -  7 
Total financial instruments at FVTPL - 72  -  72 
Derivative financial instruments
used for hedging – payable      
Interest rate swaps - 1,645  -  1,645 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 6,835  -  6,835 
Forward foreign exchange - 92  -  92 
Total derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 

payable - 8,572  -  8,572 
Total liabilities at fair value - 8,644  -  8,644 

(a ) Level 1: Quoted market prices in an active market. 
(b)  Level 2: Internally developed models with significant observable market or quoted market prices in an inactive market. 
(c)  Level 3: Internally developed models with significant unobservable market information. 

The following information should not be interpreted as an estimate of the fair value of the Bank.  Fair value 
calculations are only provided for a limited portion of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities.  Due to a wide range 
of valuation techniques and the degree of subjectivity used in making the estimates, comparison of fair value 
information of the Bank and other companies may not be meaningful for comparative analysis.   

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Bank’s management in estimating the fair values of 
financial instruments whose fair value is not measured on a recurring basis: 
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17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

Financial instruments with carrying value that approximates fair value 

The carrying value of certain financial assets, including cash and due from banks, interest-bearing deposits in banks, 
customers’ liabilities under acceptances, accrued interest receivable and certain financial liabilities including 
customer’s demand and time deposits, securities sold under repurchase agreements, accrued interest payable, and 
acceptances outstanding, as a result of their short-term nature, are considered to approximate fair value. These 
instruments are classified in Level 2. 

Securities at amortized cost 

The fair value has been based upon current market quotations, where available.  If quoted market prices are not 
available, fair value has been estimated based upon quoted price of similar instruments, or where these are not 
available, on discounted expected cash flows using market rates commensurate with the credit quality and maturity 
of the security. These securities are classified in Levels 1 and 2. 

Loans at amortized cost 

The fair value of the loan portfolio, including impaired loans, is estimated by discounting future cash flows using the 
current rates at which loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the same remaining 
maturities, considering the contractual terms in effect as of December 31 of the relevant year.  These assets are 
classified in Level 2. 

Short and long-term borrowings and debt 

The fair value of short and long-term borrowings and debt is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on 
the current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements, taking into account the changes 
in the Bank’s credit margin. These liabilities are classified in Level 2. 

Commitments to extend credit, stand-by letters of credit, and financial guarantees written 

The fair value of commitments is estimated using the fees currently charged to enter into similar agreements, taking 
into account the remaining terms of the agreements and the present creditworthiness of the counterparties. For loan 
commitments, fair value also considers the difference between current levels of interest rates and the committed 
rates. The fair value of guarantees and letters of credit is based on fees currently charged for similar agreements 
which consider the counterparty risks; the fair value is calculated based on the present value of the premium to be 
received or a specific allowance for expected credit losses on off-balance sheet credit contingencies, whichever is 
greater.  These commitments are classified in Level 3. Fair value of these instruments is provided for disclosure 
purposes only. 
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17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

The following table provides information on the carrying value and estimated fair value of the Bank’s financial 
instruments that are not measured on a recurring basis: 

December 31, 2015 
 Carrying 

value 
 Fair 

 value Level 1(a) Level 2(b) Level 3(c)

Financial assets
Instruments with carrying value that

approximates fair value 1,360,522 1,360,522 - 1,360,522 -
Securities at amortized cost 108,215 101,726 76,673 25,053 -
Loans at amortized cost (1) 6,592,471 6,727,045 - 6,727,045 -

Financial liabilities
Instruments with carrying value that

approximates fair value 2,678,806 2,678,806 - 2,678,806 -
Short-term borrowings and debt 2,430,357 2,428,513 - 2,428,513 -
Long-term borrowings and debt 1,881,813 1,904,231 - 1,904,231 -
Commitments to extend credit, 

standby letters of credit, and 
financial guarantees written 10,638 11,962 - - 11,962

December 31, 2014 
 Carrying 

Value 
 Fair 

 value Level 1(a) Level 2(b) Level 3(c)

Financial assets
Instruments with carrying value that

approximates fair value 942,710 942,710 - 942,710 -
Securities at amortized cost 54,738 53,295 29,909 23,386 -
Loans at amortized cost, net (1) 6,600,048 6,820,731 - 6,820,731 -

Financial liabilities
Instruments with carrying value that

approximates fair value 2,936,086 2,936,166 - 2,936,166 -
Short-term borrowings and debt 2,692,537 2,692,344 - 2,692,344 -
Long-term borrowings and debt 1,399,656 1,424,579 - 1,424,579 -
Commitments to extend credit, 

standby letters of credit, and 
financial guarantees written 7,637 7,337 - - 7,337

(a ) Level 1: Quoted market prices in an active market. 
(b)  Level 2: Internally developed models with significant observable market or quoted market prices in an inactive market. 
(c)  Level 3: Internally developed models with significant unobservable market information.
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17. Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

January 1, 2014 
 Carrying 

Value 
 Fair 

 value Level 1(a) Level 2(b) Level 3(c)

Financial assets
Instruments with carrying value that

approximates fair value 881,624 881,624 - 881,624 -
Securities at amortized cost 33,570 33,634 17,010 16,624 -
Loans at amortized cost, net (1) 6,070,754 6,264,624 - 6,264,624 -

Financial liabilities
Instruments with carrying value that 

approximates fair value 2,662,412 2,662,609 - 2,662,609 -
Short-term borrowings and debt 2,705,365 2,711,936 - 2,711,936 -
Long-term borrowings and debt 1,148,684 1,180,877 - 1,180,877 -
Commitments to extend credit, 

standby letters of credit, and 
financial guarantees written 6,827 5,365 - - 5,365

(a ) Level 1: Quoted market prices in an active market. 
(b)  Level 2: Internally developed models with significant observable market or quoted market prices in an inactive market. 
(c)  Level 3: Internally developed models with significant unobservable market information.

(1)    The carrying value of loans is net of the allowance for expected credit losses of $89.9 million and unearned interest and 
deferred fees of $9.3 million for December 31, 2015; allowance for expected credit losses of $77.7 million and unearned 
interest and deferred fees of $8.5 million for December 31, 2014; and, allowance for expected credit losses of $70.9 million 
and unearned interest and deferred fees of $6.7 million for January 1, 2014. 
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18. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to 
financial instruments at FVOCI, derivative financial instruments, and foreign currency translation is as follows: 

Financial 
instruments 
at FVOCI 

Derivative 
financial 

instruments 

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments, 
net of hedges Total 

Balance as of January 1, 2014 (9,029) (671)  -  (9,700)
   

Net unrealized gain (loss) arising from the 
year 3,174 (1,813)  -  1,361
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) loss 
included in the profit of the year (1) (962) 1,464  (655)  (153)
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net - -  655  655
Other comprehensive income (loss) from the 
year 2,212 (349)  -  1,863
Balance as of December 31, 2014 (6,817) (1,020)  -  (7,837)
Net unrealized gain (loss) arising from the 
year (6,267) (4,942)  -  (11,209)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) loss 
included in the profit of the year (1) 4,153 4,212  (453)  7,912
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net - -  453  453
Other comprehensive income (loss) from the 
year (2,114) (730)  -  (2,843)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 (8,931) (1,750)  -  (10,681)

(1)   Reclassification adjustments include amounts recognized in profit of the year that had been part of other comprehensive income (loss) in 
this and previous years. 
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18. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (continued) 

The following table presents amounts reclassified from other comprehensive income to the profit of the year: 

December 31, 2015 

Details about accumulated other 
comprehensive income components 

Amount reclassified 
from accumulated 

other comprehensive 
income 

Affected line item in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss where net income is presented

Realized gains (losses) on financial 
instruments at FVOCI: 240 Interest income – financial instruments at FVOCI 

393 Net gain on sale of financial instruments at FVOCI 
(4,786) Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
(4,153)

Gains (losses) on derivative financial 
instruments: 
Forward foreign exchange (1,822) Interest income - loans 

- Interest expense - borrowings 
(2,390) Net gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange 
(4,212)

Interest rate swaps (229) Net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps 

Cross-currency interest rate swap 84 Net gain (loss) on cross-currency swaps 

December 31, 2014 

Details about accumulated other 
comprehensive income components 

Amount reclassified 
from accumulated 

other comprehensive 
income 

Affected line item in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss where net income is presented

Realized gains (losses) on financial 
instruments at FVOCI: 2 Interest income – financial instruments at FVOCI 

1,796 Net gain on sale of financial instruments at FVOCI 
(836) Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
962

Gains (losses) on derivative financial 
instruments: 
Forward foreign exchange (2,245) Interest income - loans 

- Interest expense - borrowings 
781 Net gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange 

(1,464)

Interest rate swaps (201) Net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps 

Cross-currency interest rate swap - Net gain (loss) on cross-currency swaps 
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18. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (continued) 

January 1, 2014 

Details about accumulated other 
comprehensive income 

components 

Amount reclassified 
from accumulated 

other comprehensive 
income 

Affected line item in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss where net income is presented

Realized gains (losses) on financial 
instruments at FVOCI: 2 Interest income – financial instruments at FVOCI 

1,152 Net gain on sale of financial instruments at FVOCI 
333 Derivative financial instruments and hedging 

1,487

Gains (losses) on derivative financial 
instruments: 
Forward foreign exchange (1,472) Interest income - loans 

31 Interest expense - borrowings 
(544) Net gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange 

(1,985)

Loss in foreign currency translation 
adjustment: (24) Net gain (loss) from discontinued operations 

Interest rate swaps (10) Net gain (loss) on interest rate swaps 

Cross-currency interest rate swap (4) Net gain (loss) on cross-currency swaps 

19. Related party transactions 

During the reporting year, total compensation paid to directors and the executives of Bladex as representatives of the 
Bank amounted to: 

  
December 31 

2015 
December 31 

2014 
Expenses:     
Compensation costs paid to directors   949   1,135
Compensation costs paid to executives                      4,601                 4,027 

20. Fees and commissions for banking services 

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

Commission Income – Loans & commitments 2,988 2,118
Commission Income  - Letters of credit 9,332 9,275
Commission Income - Arrangements 6,880 6,109
Total 19,200 17,502
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21.  Net gain or (loss) on financial instruments at FVTPL 

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

Net gain on financial liabilities at FVTPL 645  (393)
Net gain on investment funds 5,086 2,754

5,731 2,361

22. Salaries and other employee expenses 

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

Wages and salaries 15,500 16,044
Payroll taxes 2,264 2,491
Personnel benefits 8,613 9,855
Share–based payments  4,058 3,176
Total 30,435 31,566

23. Other expenses 

December 31 
2015  

December 31 
2014 

Advertising and marketing 829 712
Regulatory Fees 1,565 1,371
Rental - office and equipment 3,019 3,100
Administrative 7,469 6,912
Other 244 743
Total 13,126 12,838

24. Commitments and contingencies 

  Leasing arrangements 

Operating lease commitments – Bank as lessee 

The Bank has several operating sublease contracts as sub-lessor of property in New York and Panama. These 
contracts are cancellable subleases and extend up to seven years with renewal at maturity, by agreement between the 
parties. 

Future minimum lease payments under cancellable operating leases as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 
1, 2014 as follows: 

December 31    
2015 

December 31  
2014 

January 1 
2014 

Within 1 year               2,055              2,305  2,236
After 1 year but not more than 5 years 6,731 6,589  6,873
More than 5 years 14,128 14,128 15,798
Total      22,914      23,022  24,907
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24. Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

  Leasing arrangements (continued) 

Operating lease commitments – Bank as lessee (continued) 

Operating lease commitments result primarily from non-cancellable rental agreements for properties; the amounts in 
the above table are calculated based on current rental agreements. The total amount of expenses recognized in 
connection with such leases in 2015 and 2014 are $2,930 and $2,249, respectively. 

Operating leases – Bank as sub-lessor 

The Bank has several operating sublease contracts as sub-lessor of property in New York and Panama. These 
contracts are cancellable sublease and extend up to seven years with renewal at maturity, by agreement between the 
parties. 

Future minimum lease payments under cancellable operating leases as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 
1, 2014 as follows: 

December 31  
2015 

December 31  
2014 

January 1 
2014 

Within 1 year 455 662 158
After 1 year but not more than 5 years 822 1,277 1,732
More than 5 years - - 207
Total 1,277 1,939  2,097

Operating lease commitments result primarily from non-cancellable rental agreements for properties; the amounts in 
the above table are calculated based on current rental agreements. The total amount of income recognized in 
connection with such leases in 2015 and 2014 are $661 and $661, respectively.  

25. Litigation 

Bladex is not engaged in any litigation that is material to the Bank’s business or, to the best of the knowledge of the 
Bank’s management that is likely to have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of 
operations. 
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26. Risk management 

Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement 
and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls.  This process of risk management is critical to the Bank’s 
continuing profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or 
her responsibilities.  The Bank is exposed to market, credit, compliance and liquidity risk. It is also subject to country 
risk and various operating risks.  

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk 
management strategies and principles. The Board has appointed an Administration Committee which has the 
responsibility to monitor the overall risk process within the Bank. 

The Risk Committee has the overall responsibility for the development of the risk strategy and implementing 
principles, frameworks, policies and limits. The Risk Committee is responsible for managing risk decisions and 
monitoring risk levels and reports on a weekly basis to the Supervisory Board. 

The Risk Management Unit is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related procedures to ensure an 
independent control process is maintained. The unit works closely with the Risk Committee to ensure that procedures 
are compliant with the overall framework. 

The Risk Controlling Unit is responsible for monitoring compliance with risk principles, policies and limits across 
the Bank. This unit also ensures the complete capture of the risks in risk measurement and reporting systems. 
Exceptions are reported on a daily basis, where necessary, to the Risk Committee, and the relevant actions are taken 
to address exceptions and any areas of weakness. 

The Bank‘s Assets/Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and liabilities and 
the overall financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Bank. The 
Bank’s policy is that risk management processes throughout the Bank are audited annually by the Internal Audit 
function, which examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Bank’s compliance with the procedures. 
Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management, and reports its findings and 
recommendations to the Audit Committee. 

Risk measurement and reporting systems  

The Bank’s risks are measured using a method that reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in normal 
circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on statistical models. 
The models make use of probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted to reflect the economic 
environment. The Bank also runs worst-case scenarios that would arise in the event that extreme events which are 
unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

Risk measurement and reporting systems  (continued)

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect 
the business strategy and market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is willing to 
accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition, the Bank’s policy is to measure and monitor the 
overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risk types and activities.  
Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyze, control and identify 
risks on a timely basis. This information is presented and explained to the Board of Directors, the Risk Committee, 
and the head of each business division. The report includes aggregate credit exposure, credit metric forecasts, market 
risk sensitivities, stop losses, liquidity ratios and risk profile changes. On a monthly basis, detailed reporting of 
industry, customer and geographic risks takes place. Senior management assesses the appropriateness of the 
allowance for credit losses on a monthly basis. The Supervisory Board receives a comprehensive risk report once a 
quarter which is designed to provide all the necessary information to assess and conclude on the risks of the Bank. 
For all levels throughout the Bank, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure 
that all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up–to–date information. 

Risk mitigation 

As part of its overall risk management, the Bank uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures 
resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from 
forecast transactions. 

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, its risk profile is assessed before entering into hedge transactions, which are 
authorized by the appropriate level of seniority within the Bank. The effectiveness of hedges is assessed by the Risk 
Controlling Unit (based on economic considerations rather than the IFRS hedge accounting regulations). The 
effectiveness of all the hedge relationships is monitored by the Risk Controlling Unit quarterly. In situations of 
ineffectiveness, the Bank will enter into a new hedge relationship to mitigate risk on a continuous basis. 

Risk concentration 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the 
same geographical region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the 
relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical 
location. In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank’s policies and procedures include specific 
guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and 
managed accordingly. Selective hedging is used within the Bank to manage risk concentrations at both the 
relationship and industry levels. 

The Bank has exposure to the following risk from financial instruments: 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.1  Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties fail to discharge their 
contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is 
willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring 
exposures in relation to such limits. 

 The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established by the 
use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to 
regular revision. The credit quality review process aims to allow the Bank to assess the potential loss as a result of 
the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action. 

Individually assessed allowances 

The Bank determines the allowances appropriate for each individually significant loan or advance on an individual 
basis, taking into account any overdue payments of interests, credit rating downgrades, or infringement of the 
original terms of the contract. Items considered when determining allowance amounts include the sustainability of 
the counterparty’s business plan, its ability to improve performance if it is in a financial difficulty, projected receipts 
and the expected payout should bankruptcy ensue, the availability of other financial support, the realizable value of 
collateral and the timing of the expected cash flows. Allowances for losses are evaluated at each reporting date, 
unless unforeseen circumstances require more careful attention. 

Collectively assessed allowances 

Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances and for debt investments at amortized costs 
that are not individually significant and for individually significant loans and advances that have been assessed 
individually and found not to be impaired. 

 The Bank generally bases its analyses on historical experience and prospective information. However, when there are 
significant market developments, regional and/or global, the Bank would include macroeconomic factors within its 
assessments. These factors include, depending on the characteristics of the individual or collective assessment: 
unemployment rates, current levels of bad debt, changes in the law, changes in regulation, bankruptcy trends, and 
other consumer data. The Bank may use the aforementioned factors as appropriate to adjust the impairment 
allowances. 

Allowances are evaluated separately at each reporting date with each portfolio. The collective assessment is made for 
groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, in order to determine whether provision should be made due to 
incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence, but the effects of which are not yet evident in the individual 
loans assessments. The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as historical losses 
on the portfolio, levels of arrears, credit utilization, loan to collateral ratios and expected receipts and recoveries once 
impaired) or economic data (such as current economic conditions, unemployment levels and local or industry–specific 
problems). The approximate delay between the time a loss is likely to have been incurred and the time it will be 
identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance is also taken into consideration. Local 
management is responsible for deciding the length of this period. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by 
credit management to ensure alignment with the Bank’s overall policy. 

Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed in a similar manner as for loans.  
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.1  Credit risk (continued)  

Derivative financial instruments 

Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any time, limited to those with positive fair values, as 
recorded on the statement of financial position at fair value.  

With gross–settled derivatives, the Bank is also exposed to a settlement risk, being the risk that the Bank honors its 
obligation, but the counterparty fails to deliver the counter value.  

Credit–related commitments risks  

The Bank makes available to its customers guarantees that may require that the Bank makes payments on their behalf 
and enters into commitments to extend credit lines to secure their liquidity needs. Letters of credit and guarantees 
(including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a 
specific act, generally related to the import or export of goods. Such commitments expose the Bank to similar risks to 
loans and are mitigated by the same control processes and policies. 

Collateral and other credit enhancements 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines 
are in place covering the acceptability and valuation of each type of collateral. 

The main types of collateral obtained are, as follows:  

- For commercial lending, charges over real estate properties, inventory and trade receivables 

The Bank also obtains guarantees from parent companies for loans to their subsidiaries. Management monitors the 
market value of collateral and will request additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement. It is the 
Bank’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to reduce or repay the 
outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy repossessed properties for business use. 

The Bank also makes use of master netting agreements with counterparties with whom a significant volume of 
transactions are undertaken. Such arrangements provide for single net settlement of all financial instruments covered 
by the agreements in the event of default on any one contract. Master netting arrangements do not normally result in 
an offset of balance–sheet assets and liabilities unless certain conditions for offsetting. 

Although master netting arrangements may significantly reduce credit risk, it should be noted that: 
- Credit risk is eliminated only to the extent that amounts due to the same counterparty will be settled    

                 after the assets are realized 
- The extent to which overall credit risk is reduced may change substantially within a short period  

                 because the exposure is affected by each transaction subject to the arrangement. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 26.2   Liquidity risk 

Liquidity refers to the Bank’s ability to maintain adequate cash flows to fund operations and meet obligations and 
other commitments on a timely basis.  The Bank maintains its liquid assets mainly in demand deposits, overnight 
funds and time deposits with well-known international banks.  These liquid assets are adequate to cover 24-hour 
deposits from customers, which theoretically could be withdrawn on the same day.  As of December 31, 2015 and 
2014, and January 1, 2014, the Bank’s 24-hour deposits from customers (demand deposit accounts and call deposits) 
amounted to $244 million, $84 million, and $63 million, respectively; representing 9%, 3% and 3% of the Bank’s 
total deposits, for each year reported.  The liquidity requirement resulting from these maturities is satisfied by the 
Bank’s liquid assets, which as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014 were $1,267 million, $741 
million, and $831 million, respectively (representing 45%, 30% and 35% of total deposits, respectively) of which $50 
million, $20 million and $60 million corresponds to time deposits for each year reported. 

As established by the Bank’s liquidity policy, the Bank’s liquid assets are held in the form of interbank deposits with 
reputable international banks that have A1, P1, or F1 ratings from two of the major internationally – recognized rating 
agencies and are primarily located outside of the Region.  These banks must have a correspondent relationship with 
the Bank.  In addition, the Bank’s liquidity policy allows for investing in negotiable money market instruments, 
including Euro certificates of deposit, commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances and other liquid instruments with 
maturities of up to three years.  These instruments must be of investment grade quality A or better and must have a 
liquid secondary market. 

The Bank performs daily reviews, controls and periodic stress tests on its liquidity position, including the application 
of a series of limits to restrict its overall liquidity risk and to monitor the liquidity level according to the 
macroeconomic environment.  The Bank determines the level of liquid assets to be held on a daily basis, adopting a 
Liquidity Coverage Ratio methodology referencing the Basel Committee guidelines.  Additionally, specific limits 
have been established to control (1) cumulative maturity “gaps” between assets and liabilities, for each maturity 
classification presented in the Bank’s internal liquidity reports, and (2) concentrations of deposits taken from any 
client or economic group maturing in one day and total maximum deposits maturing in one day.   

The Bank follows a Contingent Liquidity Plan.  The plan contemplates the regular monitoring of several quantified 
internal and external reference benchmarks (such as deposit level, quality of assets, Emerging Markets Bonds Index 
Plus, cost of funds, LIBOR-OIS spread and market interest rates), which in cases of high volatility would trigger 
implementation of a series of precautionary measures to reinforce the Bank’s liquidity position.  In the Bank’s 
opinion, its liquidity position is adequate for the Bank’s present requirements.   

The following table shows the Bank’s liquid assets, by principal geographic area as of December 31 of each year, and 
as of January 1, 2014: 

December 31 January 1 
2015 2014 2014 

United States of America 1,215 719 769
Other O.E.C.D. 11 1 62
Multilateral 40 20 -
Other 1 1 -
Total 1,267 741 831
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.2   Liquidity risk (continued) 

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, liquidity amounted to $1,267 million, $741 million, and $831 million, 
respectively.  $1,213 million, or 96%, $616 million or 83%, $736 million or 89%, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and January 1, 2014, of liquid assets were deposited at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.  The remaining liquid 
assets consisted of short-term funds deposited with other banks. 

While the Bank’s liabilities generally mature over somewhat shorter periods than its assets, the associated liquidity 
risk is diminished by the short-term nature of the loan portfolio, as the Bank is engaged primarily in the financing of 
foreign trade.  As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014, the Bank’s short-term loan and investment 
securities portfolio (maturing within one year based on original contractual term) totaled $3,189 million, $3,638 
million, and $3,616 million, respectively.  As of December 31, 2015, it had an average original term to maturity of 
198 days and an average remaining term to maturity of 90 days. 

Medium-term assets (loans and investment securities maturing beyond one year based on original contractual term) 
totaled $3,753 million, $3,442 million and $2,900 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014.  
Of that amount, $228 million, $282 million, and $329 million corresponded to the Bank’s investment securities as of 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 2014.  The remaining $3,526 million, $3,127 million and $2,552 million 
in medium-term assets corresponded to the Bank’s loan portfolio as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and January 1, 
2014.  As of December 31, 2015, the medium-term assets had an average original term to maturity of three years and 
seven months, and an average remaining term to maturity of one year and seven months (618 days). 

The following table details the Banks’s assets and liabilities grouped by its remaining maturity with respect to the 
contractual maturity: 

December 31, 2015 

Description Up to 3  
   months      

3 to 6  
 months   

6 to 12  
 months   

1 to 5  
    year    

More 
than 5  

    year     
Without  
maturity       Total     

Assets               
 Cash and cash equivalent        1,299,966              -                   -                   -               -               -   1,299,966 
 Investment securities            22,749     13,619      12,953    113,613    87,609     52,886      303,429 
 Loans at amortized cost        2,390,914 1,094,889  1,188,864 1,973,526 43,556        -   6,691,749 
Unearned interest & deferred fees               (722)   (1,163)  (1,477)  (5,454)  (488)       -    (9,304)
Allowance for expected credit 
losses                  -         -                   -                   -         -   (89,974) (89,974)

 Other assets             54,873       18,889           4,024          5,061          733        6,770        90,350 
Total       3,767,780 1,126,234   1,204,364 2,086,746   131,410   (30,318) 8,286,216 

              
Liabilities               
Deposits in Banks        2,211,625      319,995  263,849                 -         -         -   2,795,469 
Other liabilities         1,487,458      862,141       471,232    1,622,937      74,475             573   4,518,816 

Total        3,699,083 1,182,136      735,081   1,622,937     74,475 573 7,314,285 
                
 Net position             68,697     (55,902)       469,283       463,809     56,935     (30,891)     971,931 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.2   Liquidity risk (continued) 

December 31, 2014 

Description Up to 3  
   months      

3 to 6  
 months   

6 to 12  
 months   

1 to 5  
    year    

More 
than 5  

    year     
Without  
maturity       Total     

Assets               
 Cash and cash equivalent        780,515               -                 -                 -               -                 -     780,515 
 Investment securities         36,033     47,996       35,876   155,516 117,732 58,132    451,285 
 Loans at amortized cost     2,450,529 1,268,478  1,067,074  1,859,968     40,195               -   6,686,244 

Unearned interest & deferred fees           (362)         (678)            (859)         (6,157)        (453)               -           (8,509)
Allowance for expected credit 
losses                -                 -                 -                 -              -     (77,687)     (77,687)
 Other assets        157,365         8,808           2,838         11,826          540        9,183      190,560 
Total    3,424,080 1,324,604 1,104,929 2,021,153 158,014 (10,372) 8,022,408 

Liabilities               
Deposits in Banks   2,057,724  276,970    147,000      25,000          -                -   2,506,694 
Other liabilities    1,864,589     693,271      829,557    1,108,293      78,373     30,592   4,604,675 
Total    3,922,313   970,241  976,557  1,133,293   78,373   30,592  7,111,369 

 Net position       498,233     354,363       128,372       887,860    79,641     40,966     911,039 

January 1, 2014 

Description Up to 3  
   months      

3 to 6  
 months   

6 to 12  
 months   

1 to 5  
    year    

More 
than 5  

    year     
Without  
maturity       Total     

Assets               
 Cash and cash equivalent         839,718                -                  -                  -                -                  -        839,718 
 Investment securities                 -          2,200         42,758       191,680   131,489      68,573      436,700 
 Loans at amortized cost      2,767,142     949,364      774,803   1,653,864       3,125                -    6,148,298 
Unearned interest & deferred fees             (877)         (810)            (503)       (4,478)                -                  -         (6,668) 
Allowance for expected credit 
losses                 -                  -                  -                  -               -      (70,876)

     
(70,876) 

 Other assets           32,974       9,174           7,065           7,505       1,977      12,241        70,936 
Total   3,638,957 959,928  824,123 1,848,571 136,591  9,938 7,418,108 

Liabilities               
Deposits in Banks     1,991,154   207,182    157,000        6,000              -                  -   2,361,336 
Other liabilities         1,394,588     918,785    1,045,723      820,454       5,591      12,629   4,197,770 
Total    3,385,742 1,125,967  1,202,723  826,454    5,591   12,629  6,559,106 
         
Net position           253,215   166,039    378,600    1,022,117   131,000          2,691     859,002 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.3 Market risk  

Market risk generally represents the risk that values of assets and liabilities or revenues will be adversely affected by 
changes in market conditions. Market risk is inherent in the financial instruments associated with many of the Bank’s 
operations and activities, including loans, deposits, investment and financial instruments at FVTPL, short- and long-
term borrowings and debt, derivatives and trading positions. Among many other market conditions that may shift 
from time to time are fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates, changes in the implied volatility of 
interest rates and changes in securities prices, due to changes in either market perception or actual credit quality of 
either the relevant issuer or its country of origin. Accordingly, depending on the instruments or activities impacted, 
market risks can have wide ranging, complex adverse effects on the Bank’s financial condition, results of operations, 
cash flows and business 

Interest rate risk 

The Bank endeavors to manage its assets and liabilities in order to reduce the potential adverse effects on the net 
interest income that could be produced by interest rate changes. The Bank’s interest rate risk is the exposure of 
earnings (current and potential) and capital to adverse changes in interest rates and is managed by attempting to 
match the term and repricing characteristics of the Bank’s interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. The Bank’s 
interest rate risk typically arises from the Bank’s liability sensitive short-term position, which means that the Bank’s 
interest-bearing liabilities tend to reprice more quickly than the Bank’s interest-earning assets. This is offset by the 
short-term nature of the Bank’s interest-earning assets, namely liquid assets and loan portfolio, and the fact that most 
of the assets and liabilities pricing is based on short-term market rates (LIBOR-based) with contractual re-pricing 
schedules for longer term transactions. As a result, there is a potential adverse impact on the Bank’s net interest 
income from interest rate increases in the very short term. The Bank’s policy with respect to interest rate risk 
provides that the Bank establishes limits with regards to: (1) changes in net interest income due to a potential impact, 
given certain movements in interest rates and (2) changes in the amount of available equity funds of the Bank, given 
a one basis point movement in interest rates. Most of the Bank’s assets and most of its liabilities are denominated in 
US American Dollars and hence the Bank does not incur a significant currency exchange risk. The currency 
exchange rate risk is mitigated by the use of derivatives, which, although perfectly covered economically, may 
generate a certain accounting volatility 

The following summary table presents a sensitivity analysis of the effect on the Bank’s results of operations derived 
from a reasonable variation in interest rates which its financial obligations are subject to, based on change in points. 

Change in 
interest rate 

Effect on 
 income  

December 31, 2015 +200 bps 18,723
-200 bps (3,480)

December 31, 2014 +200 bps 18,803
-200 bps (4,265)

This analysis is based on the prior year changes in interest rates and assesses the impact on income, with balances as 
of December 2015 and 2014. This sensitivity provides an idea of the changes in interest rates, taking as example the 
volatility of the interest rate of the previous year. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.3 Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

The table below summarizes the Bank's exposure based on the terms of repricing of interest rates on financial assets 
and liabilities. 

December 31, 2015 

Description 
Up to 3  

      months      
3 to 6 

     months      
6 to 12 

    months      1 to 5 year  
More than  

    5 year               Total        
Assets 
 Time deposit  50,000               -                    -                    -                   -   50,000 
 Securities and other 

financial assets  34,100 10,000 13,345 105,394 86,848 
            

249,687 
 Loans at amortized cost        4,532,150      1,760,730        288,031        111,049                    -          6,691,960 
 Total        4,616,250      1,770,730        301,376        216,443         86,848        6,991,647 

Liabilities 
 Deposits  1,967,929 319,995 263,849                  -                   -   2,551,773 
 Repurchase agreements  102,775 11,308               -                    -                   -   114,083 
 Borrowings, pledged 

deposits and debt        2,430,951         718,258        271,811       842,901         54,410        4,318,331 
 Total        4,501,655      1,049,561        535,660       842,901         54,410        6,984,187 
 Total interest rate sensibility          114,595         721,169        234,284       626,458         32,438               7,460 

December 31, 2014 

Description 
Up to 3  

      months      
3 to 6 

     months      
6 to 12 

    months      1 to 5 year  
More than  

    5 year               Total        
Assets 
 Time deposit  20,000                     -                    -                    -                   -                20,000 
 Securities and other 

financial assets  71,899         48,315 
             

7,823 
         

139,255 
        

112,248 
            

379,540 
 Loans at amortized cost         4,421,456       1,835,219        273,852        155,758                    -          6,686,285 
 Total         4,513,355       1,883,534        281,675        295,013       112,248        7,085,825 

Liabilities 
 Deposits                 8,000            15,000                  -                    -                   -                23,000 
 Repurchase agreements            295,814          4,706                  -                    -                   -             300,520 
 Borrowings, pledged 

deposits and debt          2,792,560          483,456        317,310        440,000          66,303         4,099,629 
 Total          3,096,374          503,162        317,310        440,000          66,303         4,423,149 
 Total interest rate sensibility         1,416,981      1,380,372        (35,635)      (144,987)          45,945         2,662,676 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.3 Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk (continued) 

January 1, 2014 

Description 
Up to 3  

      months      
3 to 6 

     months      
6 to 12 

    months      1 to 5 year  
More than  

    5 year               Total        
Assets 

 Time deposit               60,000                   -                    -                    -                   -                60,000 
 Securities and other financial 

assets               25,699 
              

2,200 
           

39,383 
         

163,050 
        

123,845 
            

354,177 
 Loans at amortized cost          4,437,513       1,348,702        319,652          35,796            6,650         6,148,313 
 Total          4,523,212       1,350,902        359,035        198,846        130,495         6,562,490 

            
Liabilities             
 Deposits              15,000                   -                    -                    -                   -               15,000 
 Repurchase agreements         266,947         19,215                  -                    -                   -           286,162 
 Borrowings, pledged deposits 

and debt         2,914,857          354,104        414,367        177,806                    -           3,861,134 
 Total         3,196,804          373,319        414,367        177,806                    -           4,162,296 
 Total interest rate sensibility          1,326,408          977,583        (55,332)          21,040        130,495         2,400,194 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in exchange rates 
of foreign currencies, and other financial variables, as well as the reaction of market participants to political and 
economic events. For purposes of accounting standards this risk does not come from financial instruments that are 
not monetary items, or for financial instruments denominated in the functional currency. Exposure to currency risk is 
low since the Bank’s has maximum exposure limits established by the Board. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.3 Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 

The following table details the maximum to foreign currency, where all assets and liabilities are presented based on 
their book value, except for derivatives, which are included within other assets and other liabilities based on its value 
nominal. 

December 31, 2015 
Brazilian 

Real 
expressed  
    in US$   

European 
Euro 

expressed 
   in US$    

Japanese 
Yen 

expressed  
   in US$    

Colombian 
Peso 

expressed 
   in US$    

Mexican 
Peso 

expressed  
   in US$     

Other 
currencies 
expressed 
  in US$(1)          Total      

Exchange rate 3.96 1.09 120.40 3175.18 17.34 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalent          405         6                5             50           887           150 1,503 
Investments and other financial assets       3,818 - - -         1,601 - 5,419 
Loans - - - -      136,896 - 136,896 
Other assets                 -     271,005       38,208                 -        28,831                  -     338,044 
Total        4,223    271,011       38,213              50      168,215           150    481,862 

Liabilities 
Borrowings and deposit placements       -    270,913   38,208              -   168,103 - 477,224 
Other liabilities         3,883                -                -                 -                   -                -        3,883 
Total         3,883   270,913     38,208                 -     168,103                -     481,107 

       
Net currency position            340            98                5            50            112            150            755 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.3 Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 

December 31, 2014 
Brazilian 

Real 
expressed  
    in US$   

European 
Euro 

expressed 
   in US$    

Japanese 
Yen 

expressed  
   in US$    

Colombian 
Peso 

expressed 
   in US$    

Mexican 
Peso 

expressed  
   in US$     

Other 
currencies 
expressed 
  in US$(1)            Total      

Exchange rate 2.66 1.21 119.49 2378.64 14.71 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalent        501           8           7          27        867       126      1,536 
Investments and other financial assets  5,269 - - -     5,336 -      10,605 
Loans - - - -   140,616 -   140,616 
Other assets                -       60,745         4,185                 -     160,764                  -     225,694 
Total        5,770       60,753         4,192              27     307,583           126     378,451 

Liabilities 
Borrowings and deposit placements           -     66,303    4,185           -   307,853 - 378,341 
Other liabilities        5,269                -                -                 -                   -                -         5,269 
Total        5,269      66,303        4,185                 -     307,853                -     383,610 

Net currency position            501     (5,550)                7             27          (270)            126      (5,159) 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.3 Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk (continued) 

January 1, 2014 
Brazilian 

Real 
expressed  
    in US$   

European 
Euro 

expressed 
   in US$    

Japanese 
Yen 

expressed  
   in US$    

Colombian 
Peso 

expressed 
   in US$    

Mexican 
Peso 

expressed  
   in US$     

Other 
currencies 
expressed 
  in US$ (1)         Total      

Exchange rate           2.36         1.38       105.28   1,930.00        13.09 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalent         533         141          6             35        543           65        1,323 
Investments and other financial assets      5,509 - - -                -   -        5,509 
Loans - - - -   220,880 -    220,880 
Other assets                -                -         4,749                 -        94,371                  -       99,120 
Total        6,042           141        4,755              35     315,794             65     326,832 

Liabilities 
Borrowings and deposit  placements          -           -     4,749            -   316,879 - 321,628 
Other liabilities        5,509                -                 -                 -                   -                -         5,509 
Total        5,509                -       4,749                 -    316,879               -     327,137 

Net currency position            533           141              6              35       (1,085)             65         (305) 

(1) It includes other currencies such as : Argentine pesos, Australian- dollar, Canadian dollar, Swiss franc, Peruvian soles and Remimbis. 

26.4 Operational Risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls 
fail to operate effectively, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or 
lead to financial loss. Bladex, like all financial institutions, is exposed to operational risks, including the risk of fraud 
by employees and outsiders, failure to obtain proper internal authorizations, failure to properly document 
transactions, equipment failures, and errors by employees, and any failure, interruption or breach in the security or 
operation of the Bank’s information technology systems could result in interruptions in such activities. Operational 
problems or errors may occur, and their occurrence may have a material adverse impact on the Bank’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.  The Bank cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, 
but it endeavors to manage these risks through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential 
risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff 
education and assessment processes, such as the use of internal audit. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

26.4 Operational Risk (continued) 

Capital management 

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management policy are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally 
imposed capital requirements and maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its 
business and to maximize shareholder value.   
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it according to changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Bank may adjust the 
amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No changes 
have been made to the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years. However, they are under constant 
review by the Board. 

           
December 31  

2015 
December 31  

2014 
January 1 

2014 
Tier 1 capital 1,050,778   1,008,122   870,528

Tier 2 capital     (10,680)     (7,837)   (9,700)
Total regulatory capital  1,040,098     1,000,285   860,828
          
          
Risk weighted assets 6,460,108   6,660,010 5,942,178
Tier 1 capital ratio 16.27%   15.14%   14.65%
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27. First-time adoption of IFRS 

For years up to and including the year ended 31 December 2014, the Bank prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with United States Generally Accepted Accounting Policies (US-GAAP).  These consolidated financial 
statements, for the year ended 31 December 2015, are the first the Bank has prepared in accordance with IFRS in 
adherence to a mandate of the SBP for fully licensed banks in Panama. Accordingly, the Bank has prepared financial 
statements which comply with IFRS applicable for years ending on or after 31 December 2015, together with the 
comparative period data as at and for the year ended 31 December 2014, as described in the summary of significant 
accounting policies. In preparing these financial statements, the Bank’s opening statement of financial position was 
prepared as at 1 January 2014, the bank date of transition to IFRS. This note explains the principal adjustments made 
by the Bank in restating its 2014 US-GAAP consolidated financial statements, including the statement of financial 
position as at 1 January 2014 and the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

27.1 Exemptions applied 

  Cumulative translation differences 

Bladex has elected the cumulative translation differences to be set to zero at the date of the transition for its 
subsidiaries, as a result of the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Consequently, the Bank is not required to 
identify the cumulative translation differences that occurred prior to their date of transition to IFRS.  

27.2 Estimates 

The estimates at 1 January 2014 and at 31 December, 2014 are consistent with those made for the same dates in 
accordance with US-GAAP (after adjustments to reflect any differences in accounting policies). 

The estimates used by the Bank to present these amounts in accordance with IFRS reflect conditions as at 1 January 
2014, the date of transition to IFRS and as of 31 December, 2014 
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USGAAP IFRS USGAAP IFRS
December 31,  December 31  January 1,   January 1 

2014 Adjustment Reclassification 2014 2014 Adjustment Reclassification 2014
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 780,515                -                        -                           780,515                  839,718                -                            -                                 839,718              
Financial Instruments:
  At fair value through profit or loss 57,574                 -                        -                           57,574                    118,661                (49,899)                      -                                 68,762                
  At fair value through OCI 338,973                -                        -                           338,973                  334,368                -                            -                                 334,368              
  Securities at amortized cost (a) 54,180                 (277)                      835                          54,738                    33,759                 (189)                           -                                 33,570                
  Loans at amortized cost (b) 6,686,244             -                        -                           6,686,244                6,148,298             -                            -                                 6,148,298            

  Allowance for expected credit losses 79,675                 1,988                     -                           77,687                    72,751                 1,875                         -                                 70,876                
  Unearned interest & deferred fees 8,509                   -                        -                           8,509                      6,668                   -                            -                                 6,668                  

  Loans at amortized cost, net 6,598,060             (1,988)                   -                           6,600,048                6,068,879             (1,875)                        -                                 6,070,754            

12,324                 -                        -                           12,324                    15,217                 -                            -                                 15,217                

Property and equipment, net 7,105                   -                        (144)                         6,961                      10,466                 -                            (2,034)                             8,432                  
Intangibles, net 1,024                   -                        -                           1,024                      -                      -                            1,890                              1,890                  

Other assets:
Customers' liabilities under acceptances 114,018                -                        -                           114,018                  1,128                   -                            -                                 1,128                  
Accrued interest receivable (c) 47,938                 239                       -                           48,177                    40,727                 51                              -                                 40,778                
Other assets 13,561                 -                        (5,505)                      8,056                      8,389                   -                            (4,898)                             3,491                  

Total of other assets 175,517                239                       (5,505)                      170,251                  50,244                 51                              (4,898)                             45,397                -                     -                       -                          -                     -                           -                                -                    
Total assets 8,025,272             1,950                     (4,814)                      8,022,408                7,471,312             (48,162)                      (5,042)                             7,418,108            

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing - Demand 394                      -                        -                           394                        663                      -                            -                                 663                    
Interest-bearing - Demand 83,781                 -                        -                           83,781                    62,384                 -                            -                                 62,384                
Time (d) 2,422,519             -                        -                           2,422,519                2,298,289             -                            -                                 2,298,289            

Total deposits 2,506,694             -                        -                           2,506,694                2,361,336             -                            -                                 2,361,336            

(d)
40,287                 -                        -                           40,287                    8,572                   -                            -                                 8,572                  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 52                       -                        -                           52                          72                       -                            -                                 72                      
Securities sold under repurchase agreement 300,519                -                        -                           300,519                  286,162                -                            -                                 286,162              
Short-term borrowings and debt 2,692,537             -                        -                           2,692,537                2,705,365             -                            -                                 2,705,365            
Long-term borrowings and debt (e) 1,405,519             (214)                      (5,649)                      1,399,656                1,153,871             (145)                           (5,042)                             1,148,684            

Other liabilities:
Acceptances outstanding 114,018                -                        -                           114,018                  1,128                   -                            -                                 1,128                  
Accrued interest payable 14,855                 -                        -                           14,855                    13,786                 -                            -                                 13,786                
Allowance for expected credit losses on off-balance sheet credit risk (f) 6,849                   3,024                     -                           9,873                      5,222                   832                            -                                 6,054                  
Other liabilities 32,878                 -                        -                           32,878                    27,947                 -                            -                                 27,947                
Total other liabilities 168,600                3,024                     -                           171,624                  48,083                 832                            -                                 48,915                
Total liabilities 7,114,208             2,810                     (5,649)                      7,111,369                6,563,461             687                            (5,042)                             6,559,106            

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock 279,980                -                        -                           279,980                  279,980                -                            -                                 279,980              
Treasury stock (77,627)                -                        -                           (77,627)                   (82,008)                -                            -                                 (82,008)               

(g) 117,339                2,305                     -                           119,644                  118,646                1,978                         -                                 120,624              
Capital reserves 95,210                 -                        -                           95,210                    95,210                 -                            -                                 95,210                
Retained earnings 510,046                (8,377)                   -                           501,669                  458,699                (3,803)                        -                                 454,896              
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (h) (13,885)                5,212                     835                          (7,837)                     (12,575)                2,875                         -                                 (9,700)                

911,063                (860)                      835                          911,039                  857,952                1,050                         -                                 859,002              
Non-controlling interest (i) -                      -                        -                           49,899                 (49,899)                      -                                 -                     
Total stockholders' equity 911,063                (860)                      835                          911,039                  907,851                (48,849)                      -                                 859,002              
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 8,025,272             1,950                     (4,814)                      8,022,408                7,471,312             (48,162)                      (5,042)                             7,418,108            

Ref.

At fair value -   Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 
receivable

At fair value – Derivative financial instruments used for hedging – 
payable

Additional paid-in capital in excess of assigned value of common stock

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the bank

27. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued) 

Application of IFRS 1 

A reconciliation of the consolidated statements of financial position for the year ended 2014 and as at January 1st, is 
as follows:  
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27. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued) 

Application of IFRS 1 (continued)y 

A reconciliation of the consolidated statements of profit or loss for the year ended 2014 is as follows:  
USGAAP IFRS

Ref 2014 Adjustments 2014

Interest income from financial instruments
Deposits 1,545                       -                   1,545                 
At fair value through profit or loss 20                            (20)                                         -   
At fair value through OCI 8,115                       -                   8,115                 
At amortized cost (c) 203,050                    188                  203,238             

Total interest income 212,730                    168                  212,898             
Interest expense:

Deposits 11,245                      -                   11,245               
Invesment funds                             37                    (37)                       -   
Short-term borrowings and debt 23,893                      -                   23,893               
Long-term borrowings and debt 36,424                      -                   36,424               

Total interest expense 71,599                      (37)                   71,562               

Net interest income 141,131                    205                  141,336             

Other income
Fees and commissions, net 17,502                      -                   17,502               
Derivate financial instruments and foreign currency exchange (d,e) 872                          (664)                 208                   
Gain per financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss (h) 3,016                       (655)                 2,361                 
Gain  per financial instrument at fair value through OCI 1,871                       -                   1,871                 
Gain on sale of loans at amortized cost 2,546                       -                   2,546                 
Other income, net (f) 1,744                       42                    1,786                 
Net other income 27,551                      (1,277)              26,274               

Total income 168,682                    (1,072)              167,610             

Expenses
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost (b) 6,895                      (113)                6,782                
Impairment loss from expected credit losses on investment securities (a) (7)                            1,037                1,030                 
Impairment (gain) loss from expected credit losses on off-balance sheet 
financial instruments

(f)
1,627                       2,192                

3,819                 

Salaries and other employee expenses (g) 31,339                      227                  31,566               
Depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements 2,487                       (942)                 1,545                 
Amortization of intangible assets -                          942                  942                   
Professional services 5,177                       -                   5,177                 
Maintenance and repairs 1,544                       -                   1,544                 
Expenses from investment funds 416                          (416)                 -                    
Other expenses (g) 12,739                      99                    12,838               

Profit for the year 106,465                    (4,098)              102,366             

Profit (loss) attributable to the redeemable noncontrolling interest (475)                         475                  -                    

Profit for the year  attributable to Bladex stockholders 106,940                    (4,573)              102,366             
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USGAAP IFRS
December 31 December 31

Ref. 2014 Ajustes 2014
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year $ 106,465                           (4,099)                        102,366                     
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash provided by 
operating activities:
Activities of derivative financial instruments and hedging                              33,338                                  - 33,338                       
Depreciation of equipment and leasehold improvements                                2,487                            (942) 1,545                         
Amortization of intangible assets                                        -                              942 942                            
Impairment loss from expected credit losses  (b)                                8,522                           3,116 11,638                       
Net gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through OCI                               (1,871)                                  - (1,871)                        
Compensation cost - share-based payment  (f)                                2,246                              327 2,573                         
Interest income  (c, h)                           (212,730)                            (168) (212,898)                    
Interest expense  (h)                              71,599                              (37) 71,562                       
Net decrease (increase) in operating assets:
Net decrease (increase) in pledged deposits                             (30,178)                                  - (30,178)                      
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  (d,e,h)                              10,877                              861 11,738                       
Net increase in loans at amortized cost                           (536,075) (536,075)                    
Other assets                               (5,191)                                  - (5,191)                        
Net increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Net increase in due to depositors                            145,358                                  - 145,358                     
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss                                    (20)                                  - (20)                             
Other liabilities                                3,646                                  - 3,646                         
Cash provided by operating activities

Interest received                            205,519                                  - 205,519                     
Interest paid                             (70,530)                                  -                       (70,530)

Net cash used in operating activities                           (266,538)                                  -                     (266,538)

Flujos de efectivo de las actividades de inversión:
Acquisition of equipment and leasehold improvements                                    (87)                                  - (87)                             
Acquisition of intangible assets                                    (83)                                  - (83)                             
Proceeds from disposal of equipment and leasehold improvements                                     13                                  -                                13 
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets                                       7                                  -                                  7 
Proceeds from the redemption of of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                              62,535                                  -                         62,535 
Proceeds from the sale of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                            223,219                                  -                       223,219 
Proceeds from maturities of financial instruments at amortized cost                              19,883                                  -                         19,883 
Purchases of financial instruments at fair value through OCI                           (287,770)                                  - (287,770)                    
Purchases of financial instruments at fair value at amortized cost                             (40,305)                                  - (40,305)                      
Net cash used in investing activities                             (22,588)                                  -                       (22,588)

Flujos de efectivo de las actividades de financiamiento:
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings and debt

and securities sold under repurchase agreements                                1,529                                  - 1,529                         
Proceeds from long-term borrowings and debt                            641,138                                  - 641,138                     
Repayments of long-term borrowings and debt                           (389,490)                                  - (389,490)                    
Dividends paid                             (54,262)                                  - (54,262)                      
Exercised stock options                                1,469                                  - 1,469                         
Repurchase of common stock                                  (640)                                  -                            (640)

Net cash provided by financing activities                            199,744                                  -                       199,744 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents                                       1 -                                 1                                

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                             (89,381)                                  -                       (89,381)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year                            830,686                                  -                       830,686 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $                            741,305                                  -                       741,305 

27. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued) 

Application of IFRS 1 (continued) 

A reconciliation of the consolidated statements cash flows for the year ended 2014 is as follows:  
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December 31 January 1
Ref 2014 2014

Transition adjustments recorded in additional paid-in-capital in excess of assigned value of 
common stock

Adjustment for recognition of share-based payment costs f) 2,305                   1,978                         

Transition adjustments recorded in retained earnings

Recognition of  interest revenue on credit-impaired financial instruments c) 239                      51                               

Adjustment of mark-to market as per fair value and cash flow hedge d) (1)                          131                            

Current translation adjustment –  exemption as per IFRS 1 g) (2,350)                  (1,695)                        
      
Adjustment for expected credit losses for loans at amortized cost b) (1,036)                  1,044                         

Adjustment for Impairment of investment securities a) (2,392)                  (1,355)                        

Foreign exchange of investments at FVOCI g) (532)                     -                             

Adjustment for recognition of share-based payment costs f) (2,305)                  (1,978)                        

Effect of transition to IFRS on retained earnings (8,377)                  (3,803)                        

Transition adjustments recorded in other comprehensive income:

Adjustment for hedge ineffectiveness g) 215                      14                               

Current translation adjustment –  exemption as per IFRS 1 g) 2,350                   1,695                         

Adjustment for impairment of investment securities a) 2,115                   1,166                         

Foreign exchange of investments at FVOCI g) 532                      -                             

Effect of transition to IFRS on other comprehensive income 5,212                   2,875                         

Transition adjustments recorded in other equity component:

 Deconsolidation of the investment fund h) -                       (49,899)                     

Total effect on equity (860)                     (48,849)                     

27. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued) 

Application of IFRS 1 (continued) 

     The total effect on retained earnings and equity is further analyzed as follows: 
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27. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued)

Application of IFRS 1 (continued) 

Explanations of the notes to the reconciliations are the following: 

a) Adjustment for impairment loss on securities at FVOCI and amortized cost in accordance with IFRS 9. 
- Under IFRS 9, financial assets classified as at FVOCI and financial assets classified as at amortized cost are 

subject to the same single impairment model, which measures expected credit losses as either 12-month 
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses. 

b) Adjustment for expected credit losses for loans at amortized cost 
- The calculation of the reserve for expected credit losses on loans at amortized cost are adjusted to reflect the 

requirements under IFRS 9, which establishes the expected credit losses to be measured as either 12-month 
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses. 

c) Recognition of  interest revenue on credit-impaired financial instruments 
- When assessing significant increases in credit risk, under Stage 3 (where a credit event has occurred) interest 

revenue is calculated on the amortized cost; in other words, the gross carrying amount after deducting the 
impairment allowance.   

  
d) Adjustment of  mark-to-market as per  fair value and cash flow hedge 

- As part of the ineffectiveness test carried out for all its derivatives, some adjustments were recorded to  the 
mark-to-market of the underlying. 

e) Adjustment for expected credit losses for off-balance sheet financial instruments 
- The calculation of the reserve for expected credit losses on off-balance sheet financial instruments are 

adjusted to reflect the requirements under IFRS 9, which requires the expected credit losses to be measured as 
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses. 

f)  Adjustment for recognition of share-based payment costs based on the  accelerated  attribution  
      method. 

- In the case of graded vesting, the Bank must recognize compensation expense on an accelerated basis. 
Previously under USGAAP, for awards containing only service conditions, the Bank had made the accounting 
policy election to recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis, whereas the award was valued as a 
single award with an average expected life. 
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27. First-time adoption of IFRS (continued)

Application of IFRS 1 (continued) 

g)  Adjustment for hedge ineffectiveness – cash flow hedge / Current translation adjustment –  
      exemption as per IFRS 1/Foreign exchange of investments at fair value through OCI (continued) 

 Adjustment for hedge ineffectiveness – cash flow hedge 
- Under USGAAP, the Bank used the short-cut method for its interest rate swaps and the critical-term match for 

the rest of its derivatives.  As per IFRS, ineffectiveness should be measured for all its derivatives.

 Current translation adjustment –   exemption as per IFRS 1 
- The Bank deemed the cumulative translation differences for foreign operations at the date of transition to be 

zero.  After the date of transition, translation differences arising on translation of foreign operations are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and included in a separate translation reserve within equity.

 Foreign exchange of investments at fair value through OCI 
- Under USGAAP, the foreign exchange on investments available for sale was recorded in other 

comprehensive income.  As per IFRS, the foreign exchange of these investments, which falls under the 
category of investments at fair value through OCI, should be recorded in profit or loss. 

h) Deconsolidation of the investment fund  
- As a result of the evaluation of control, as per IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”, according to 

which the existing rights do not give the Bank the ability to direct the relevant activities of the fund nor 
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its return, the Bank has determined that there is no 
control over the investment fund at the date of transition.  

Reclassification corresponds to the segregation of intangibles from property, plant and equipment, and the 
presentation of debt issuance costs together with the liabilities. 

28. Subsequent Events 

Bladex announced a quarterly cash dividend of $0.385 per share corresponding to the fourth quarter of 2015. The cash 
dividend was approved by the Board of Directors and is payable on February 23, 2016 to the Bank’s stockholders as 
of the February 10, 2016 record date. In accordance with IAS 10 - “Events after the date of the consolidated 
statements of financial position”, if an entity declares dividends after such date, it cannot recognize the amount of 
these dividends as a liability in the year-end consolidated financial statements.   
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